
 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Cabinet 
 

Agenda 
 

 

MONDAY 
12 OCTOBER 2020 
6.30 pm 
 
 
 
THIS MEETING WILL 
BE HELD 
REMOTELY  
It will be streamed via 
YouTube on: 
https://youtu.be/ZSCh
_vFWUMs 
 

Membership 
 
Councillor Stephen Cowan, Leader of the Council 
Councillor Sue Fennimore, Deputy Leader 
Councillor Larry Culhane, Cabinet Member for Children and Education 
Councillor Andrew Jones, Cabinet Member for the Economy  
Councillor Wesley Harcourt, Cabinet Member for the Environment  
Councillor Max Schmid, Cabinet Member for Finance and Commercial 
Services  
Councillor Ben Coleman, Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social 
Care 
Councillor Lisa Homan, Cabinet Member for Housing 
Councillor Adam Connell, Cabinet Member for Public Services Reform 
Councillor Sue Macmillan, Cabinet Member for Strategy 
 

Date Issued 
02 October 2020 

If you require further information relating to this agenda please contact: 
Katia Neale, Committee Coordinator, tel: 07776 672 956 or email: 
katia.neale@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Reports on the open Cabinet agenda are available on the Council’s 
website: www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy 
 

 
 

 
 
PLEASE NOTE that any member of the press and public may listen-in to proceedings at this 
‘virtual’ meeting via the weblink.  Members of the press and public may tweet, blog etc. during the 
live broadcast as they would be able to during a regular Committee meeting at the Town Hall.  It 
is important, however, that Councillors can discuss and take decisions without disruption, so the 
only participants in this virtual meeting will be the Councillors concerned, the officers advising the 
Committee and registered speakers who have submitted a valid deputation or petition in advance. 

 
 

https://youtu.be/ZSCh_vFWUMs
https://youtu.be/ZSCh_vFWUMs
mailto:katia.neale@lbhf.gov.uk
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy


 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DEPUTATIONS 

Members of the public may submit a request for a deputation to the Cabinet on item 
numbers 4-7 on this agenda using the Council’s Deputation Request Form. The completed 
Form, to be sent to Kayode Adewumi at the above address, must be signed by at least ten 
registered electors of the Borough and will be subject to the Council’s procedures on the 
receipt of deputations. Deadline for receipt of deputation requests: Wednesday 7 
October 2020. 

COUNCILLORS’ CALL-IN TO SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

A decision list regarding items on this agenda will be published by Tuesday 13 October 
2020.  Items on the agenda may be called in to the relevant Accountability Committee. 
 
The deadline for receipt of call-in requests is: Friday 16 October 2020 at 3.00pm. 
Decisions not called in by this date will then be deemed approved and may be 
implemented. 
 
A confirmed decision list will be published after 3:00pm on Friday 16 October 2020 at 
3.00pm. 

 

 
 



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Cabinet 
Agenda 

 
12 October 2020 

 
 
Item  

 
Pages 

1.   MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 7 SEPTEMBER 
2020  

5 - 10 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

3.   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Standards 
Committee. 
 

 

4.   CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITOR & BUDGET VARIATIONS, 
2020/21 (FIRST QUARTER)  

11 - 35 

5.   RESIDENT EXPERIENCE AND ACCESS PROGRAMME (REAP) - 
PROPOSED MANDATE TO MOVE TO THE DELIVERY PHASE OF 
THE PROGRAMME  

 

36 - 135 



 

6.   APPROVE PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE COUNCIL'S HOUSING 
SCHEME OF ALLOCATIONS  

136 - 163 

7.   FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS  164 - 182 

8.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS   

 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - ACCESS TO INFORMATION 

  

Proposed resolution: 

  
Under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, that the 
public and press be excluded from the meeting during the consideration 
of the following items of business, on the grounds that they contain the 
likely disclosure of exempt information, as defined in paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the said Act, and that the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption currently outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information.        

 

 



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

.  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Cabinet 
Minutes 

 

Monday 7 September 2020 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Councillor Stephen Cowan, Leader of the Council 
Councillor Sue Fennimore, Deputy Leader 
Councillor Ben Coleman, Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care 
Councillor Adam Connell, Cabinet Member for Public Services Reform 
Councillor Larry Culhane, Cabinet Member for Children and Education 
Councillor Wesley Harcourt, Cabinet Member for the Environment 
Councillor Andrew Jones, Cabinet Member for the Economy 
Councillor Lisa Homan, Cabinet Member for Housing 
Councillor Max Schmid, Cabinet Member for Finance and Commercial Services 
 

 
INTRODUCTION 
 
The Leader stated that since the last Cabinet meeting, almost two months ago, 
there had been a number of issues, which he wanted to report publicly at this 
meeting. 
 
Covid-19 
 
Firstly, he thanked the NHS, council officers and all partners for working 
together to deal with Covid-19, which was an unprecedented crisis, and risen to 
the challenge in an extremely effective and admirable way. He was particularly 
grateful to the thousands of residents who took part in H&F CAN. 
 
The Leader added that there was still some time until a successful vaccine 
could be implemented. Therefore, there was a risk of a second wave of the 
pandemic, as seen happening in other countries. Currently there was a peek of 
Covid-19 cases in this borough, increased by issues beyond the Council’s 
control.  
 
The Home Office, on the last Bank Holiday Monday, moved a large number of 
people into hotels in this borough to self-isolate after being in contact with 
people with the virus. Since then, the Council found out from Public Health 
England that 9 of these people had now tested positive for Covid-19 and they 
were waiting for test results for a further 10 cases. 
 
The Council had conducted a telephone survey to examine the likely cause of 
the increase in positive Covid-19 cases in the borough and found out that the 
majority of them were people under 30s. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
The Leader concluded that a second wave would be imminent if people did not 
take the suitable precautions. He encouraged everyone entering a public 
confined space to wear a mask and always keep the 2 metres distance. In 
addition, he urged anyone  with symptoms to immediately get tested. These 
were the only way to contain the spread of the virus and avoid a second wave. 
 
Councillor Colman, Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care, 
reiterated that the Council had been calling people who had recently tested 
positive in the borough to try to find out the reason for the sudden increase. 
They discovered that 70% of the new cases had contracted the virus while on 
holiday and the majority at a party either on holiday or over here. There was a 
real misunderstanding amongst young people of the rules and number of 
people that could congregate. The Council also wanted to encourage business 
to be responsible and to enforce social distancing and the use of masks. 
Without these precautions there would be a second wave. 
 
Hammersmith Bridge 
 
The Leader stated that since this Administration came into office in 2014 they 
had instructed officials to hire engineers to do a comprehensive structural 
review of the bridge, which had not been carried out before. Engineers started 
working on it in 2015 and found that every component was riddled with 
corrosion, including critical parts of the suspension structure. Engineers brought 
in the latest ultra-sound technology and last year found micro-fractures in the 
cast iron pedestals that held the suspension chains in place, which could 
potentially shatter, and the bridge could collapse into the ricer. Therefore, the 
bridge was closed to all motor vehicle traffic last year. 
 
Since then the bridge continued to deteriorate and there was the need for 
significant capital investment to make the it safe. A heat wave would cause the 
structure to expand and cold weather to contract, and the Council had been 
trying to monitor and control the temperature of the bridge to minimise this 
effect. However, despite this measure, on 13 August, following a heat wave, 
there was a sudden increase on size of the micro-fraction, which risked the 
collapse of the bridge into the river; the bridge was immediately closed to 
pedestrians and all river traffic. This caused a huge problem for people living in 
both sides of the river. 
 
The Council was working with Port of London Authority, Richmond Council and 
TfL in seeking alternative options, such as new bus routes and ferry transport. 
 
To make the bridge safe to allow to open to river traffic it would cost £46 million. 
To fully restore the bridge would cost £141 million. A temporary bridge would 
cost £27.3 million; however, the Council did not have this sum, especially after 
the Covid-19 pandemic and 10 years of austerity.  
 
The Leader added that Hammersmith Bridge was owned by Hammersmith and 
Fulham, but it was also a crucial part of the transport network in London, 
therefore it was unreasonable to expect the residents of the borough and the 
local business to pay for the whole cost themselves.  
 

Page 6



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

The Leader informed that the Council was looking at different ways to fund the 
bridge, but the most effective and speedy way to resolve this issue would be to 
have a government fund scheme. The Leader had written to the Prime Minister, 
Boris Johnson to inform and he had taken a personal interest on the issue; 
there had been some constructive and positive engagement recently. The 
Leader was also grateful for the involvement and support received from local 
MPs on this matter. 
 
The Leader concluded that there was no other option but to close the bridge 
and he was very sympathetic to the disruption that this had cause to residents 
on both sides of the river. The bridge was still at risk now and it needed 
constant monitoring and maintenance. On the previous week he had authorised 
the installation of a temperature control system to reduce any further extensions 
of the micro-fractures and support efforts on stabilisation of the bridge. 
 
Councillor Harcourt, Cabinet Member for the Environment, added that the key 
priority was the safety of the general public. He also fully appreciated the 
disruption caused to residents in both sides of the river and beyond, as this was 
part of a national infrastructure, in addition to a national iconic structure, 
therefore it really needed government intervention. The design work for the 
repair had already been done and the Council was now looking for funding, 
while trying to maintain and stabilise the bridge and looking for alternative ways 
of transport to alleviate the problem of crossing the river. 
 
Councillor Fennimore, Deputy Leader, thanked officers for their huge amount of 
work in trying to rectify as quickly as possible this matter and their support to 
residents. She added that the strategic cross-party working, coming together to 
solve the issues faced by residents, had been extremely welcome. 
 
 

1. MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 6 JULY 2020  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 6 July 2020 be 
confirmed and signed as an accurate record of the proceedings, and that the 
outstanding actions be noted. 
 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Sue Macmillan. 
 
 

3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

4. CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITOR & BUDGET VARIATIONS, 2019/20 
(OUTTURN)  
 
Councillor Schmid, Cabinet Member for Finance and Commercial Services, 
introduced the report and stated that the key areas of capital spend during the 
year included the reacquisition of the former Gibbs Green school and Farm 
Lane sites as part of the termination of the Earl’s Court Conditional Land Sale 
Agreement. This was not only a victory to the residents, whose homes were 
now safe, but it was also financially critical as the costs could have bankrupted 
the Council. 
 
The Council also acquired 145/155 King Street, one of the main buildings 
residents used to interact with the Council and would not need to pay rent 
anymore. In addition, there was a large spend on significant build of genuinely 
affordable homes.  
 
The Leader put the recommendations to the vote. 
 
 
AGREED UNANIMOUSLY BY CABINET: 
 
1. To approve the budget variations to the capital programme as 

summarised in Table 1 and detailed in Appendix 2. 
 
2. To note the capital outturn for the year. 
 
 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

5. 2019/20 GENERAL FUND REVENUE OUTTURN REPORT  
 
Councillor Schmid introduced the report and stated that the overspend had 
been less than the projected overspent reported in monitoring reports during 
the year, and praised officers for this reduction in spend, despite of the financial 
impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic at the end of the financial year. The 
overspend had been largely driven by the demand led in Children’s Services.   
 
The Leader put the recommendations to the vote. 
 
 
 

Page 8



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
AGREED UNANIMOUSLY BY CABINET: 
 
1. To note the provisional General Fund overspend of £6.885m. The 

overspend will be charged against corporate earmarked reserves.  

2. To note the provisional Housing Revenue Account underspend of £1.545m. 

3. To note the in-year Dedicated Schools grant overspend of £5.5m and 

increase in the cumulative offsetting earmarked reserve to £19.1m. 

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

6. 2020/21 CORPORATE REVENUE MONITOR -  MONTH 2 (MAY 2020)  
 
Councillor Schmid introduced the report which reflected two key areas of 
budget pressures; one was related to Covid-19 and had a much larger 
overspend.  
 
The Government, at the early stages of the pandemic, had appealed to all 
Councils to spend whatever necessary as they would be fully compensated by 
the Government. Unfortunately, that was not the case and their latest 
announcement was that there would be no compensation on the first £5 million 
of lost income and beyond that only 75% of lost income would be compensated. 
This was not a loss any Local Government could afford, especially after 10 
years of austerity and cuts. 
 
Councillor Schmid thanked the finance team for producing the three finance 
papers on this agenda. He specially thanked Emily Hill, who took over from 
Hitesh Jolapara as Director of Finance in the middle of the pandemic and was 
doing a fantastic job steering the Council through this very difficult time. 
 
The Leader stated that it had been 10 years since David Cameron and Nick 
Clegg had introduced austerity in Local Government and he could not stress 
enough the financial pressure this had caused in council budgets across the 
country to continue to provide services. He thanked Councillor Schmid, the 
financial team and the whole senior leadership team for cutting spends while 
ensuring services were delivered efficiently.  
 

Page 9



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

The Leader added that if the Government changes to planning regulations went 
ahead, it would damage the ability for councils to have any infra structure 
funding to mitigate issues caused by new schemes and that would be another 
tremendous hit to all councils. 
 
The Leader put the recommendations to the vote. 
 
 
AGREED UNANIMOUSLY BY CABINET: 
 
1. To note General Fund forecast overspend as of May of £18.807m and 

requirement for urgent further action to significantly reduce the forecast 

overspend. 

2. To note the Housing Revenue underspend of £0.181m. 

3. To note the in-year Dedicated Schools Grant overspend of £2.179m. 

4. To approve General Fund virements of £1.960m as detailed in appendix 9. 

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

7. FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS  
 
The Key Decision List was noted. 
 
 

8. ANY OTHER BUSINESS  
 
The Leader concluded the meeting wishing everyone health and wellbeing. 
 

 
Meeting started: 6.30 pm 
Meeting ended: 7.09 pm 

 
 

Chair   

 
 
 

Page 10



 

 
 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
Report to: Cabinet 
 
Date:  12/10/2020 
 
Subject: CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITOR & BUDGET VARIATIONS, 

2020/21 (FIRST QUARTER) 
 
Report of: Councillor Max Schmid, Cabinet Member for Finance and Commercial   

Services 
 
Responsible Director: Emily Hill, Director of Finance  
 

 
SUMMARY 
 
This report provides a financial update on the council’s capital programme and 
requests approval for budget variations to the capital programme.  
 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS  

 
1. To approve the proposed budget variations to the capital programme totalling 

£36.4m (summarised in Table 1 and detailed in Appendix 2). 
 

2. To note the potential risks regarding the Housing Capital Programme, as 
summarised in paragraphs 26, 27 and 28. 
 

3. To delegate the allocation of the HRA Asset Management and Compliance 
Programme unallocated budget to the Strategic Director of the Economy, in 
consultation with the Director of Finance. 

 
Wards Affected: All  
 

 
H&F Priorities 
 
The capital programme contains schemes and projects which are directly linked to 
the Council’s Business Plan 2018-22 and which deliver across the Council’s priorities.  
 

Our Priorities Summary of how this report aligns to the H&F Priorities  

 Being 
ruthlessly 
financially 
efficient 

All capital investment decisions are required to be underpinned by a 
robust business plan that sets out any expected financial return 
alongside the broader outcomes including economic and social 
benefits.  
 
This report provides detailed analysis of the Council’s capital 
programme financial position and highlights any potential risks and 
their impact on the Council’s resources. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



 

 
Financial Impact 
 
1. This report is wholly of a financial nature.  The headline movements are:  

 a net increase in the 4-year capital programme of £0.5m to £521.8m. 

 a net decrease in forecast 2020-21 expenditure of £36.4m (24.9% of the 
approved budget) largely due to the rephasing of expenditure to future years. 
The variations are detailed in Appendix 2. 

 
2. Covid-19 is impacting on the previously approved capital programme:  

 expected grant funding allocations of £2.1m from Transport for London (TfL) are 
no longer assumed due to the impact of Covid-19 on TfL. TfL are expected to 
run a revised bidding process. 

 a switch in funding of £0.246m for column replacement works from parking 
income to borrowing. This is due to the adverse impact of Covid-19 on parking 
revenue income 

 a number of schemes have experienced delays due to social distancing 
restrictions.  

 The pandemic, and the potential for an economic downturn, may affect the 
expected costs, market and viability of schemes. This will be kept under review 
and mitigating actions will be considered as necessary. 

 
3. Headline General Fund (GF) borrowing is forecast to increase by £69.9m over the 

next four years to support capital investment. This would result in an estimated 
additional revenue budget outgoing of £3.37m per annum by 2024-25. General 
Fund capital receipts can reduce future borrowing and/or protect use of reserves. 
The council’s property transformation strategy is reviewing all its assets in a 
systematic way as part of asset management best practice. As part of this review 
surplus assets may be identified for sale that can support the capital programme.  
 

4. The Housing Revenue Account 2020-21 borrowing requirement (CFR) is forecast 
to increase by £22.1m to £237.9m. By the end of 2023-24 the HRA CFR is 
forecast to be £278.5m as detailed in paragraph 20 of the report. 

 

 
Legal Implications  
There are no direct legal implications in relation to this report. Legal advice will be 
sought for each Procurement within the programme and will comply with the 
Council’s Contract Standing Orders and the Public Contract Regulations. 
 

 
Contact Officer(s): 
 
Name: Andrew Lord 
Position: Head of Strategic Planning and Monitoring 
Telephone: 020 8753 2531 
Email: Andrew.lord@lbhf.gov.uk 
Verified by Emily Hill, Director of Finance 
 
Name: Adesuwa Omoregie 
Position: Head of Law 
Telephone: 0208 753 2297 

Page 12

mailto:Andrew.lord@lbhf.gov.uk


 

Email: Adesuwa.omoregie@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
 

The following documents disclose important facts on which the report is based and have 
been relied upon in preparing the report: 

 Capital Programme 2020-24 (published February 2020) 
 

 
CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2020-21 – Q1 OVERVIEW 
 

1. The Council’s capital programme as at the end of Quarter 1 is summarised in 
Table 1. Budgeted expenditure on the four-year programme has increased, 
since the start of the year, by £0.5m to £521.8m.  

 
Table 1 – LBHF Capital Programme 2020-24 with proposed 2020-21 Q1 variations: 

 
 
2. Forecast 2020-21 spend is £36.4m lower than last reported (2019-20 capital 

outturn). The main adjustments are for the reprofiling of budgets to future years, 
alignment of budgets with grant funding and new budgets approved in the last 

2020/21 

Revised 

Budget as @ 

2019/20 

Outturn

Slippages 

from/(to) 

future years 

Addition/

(Reduction)
Transfers

Total 

Variations 

Revised 

Budget 

2020/21 

(Q1)

Future years 

indicative 

budget

Total Budget 

(All years)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Children's Services 8,143 (200) (3,852)             - (4,052)        4,091         4,676           8,767 

Social Care 2,011                  - 1,318             - 1,318        3,329                -           3,329 

Environment Department 14,151 (4,469) (1,242)             - (5,711)        8,440       33,867          42,307 

Finance            9,068                  -                 - (6,656) (6,656)        2,412                -           2,412 

General Fund Schemes under the 

Economy Department

         31,580 (15,014) 8,346      6,656 (12)      31,568     230,411        261,979 

Sub-total (General Fund) 64,953         (19,683)      4,570                    - (15,113)        49,840     268,954        318,794 

Economy Department-HRA Programme 81,220 (18,919) (2,383)             - (21,302)      59,918     143,107        203,025 

Sub-total Economy Department (HRA) 81,220 (18,919) (2,383)                   - (21,302)      59,918     143,107        203,025 

 Total Expenditure 146,173 (38,602) 2,187             - (36,415)    109,758     412,061        521,819 

CAPITAL FINANCING

Specific/External Financing:

Government/Public Body Grants 7,704 (200) (2,534)             - (2,734)        4,970         4,676           9,646 

Grants and Contributions from Private 

Developers (includes S106/CIL)

14,981 (2,009) (753) 17 (2,745)      12,236       45,959          58,195 

Capital Grants/Contributions from Non-

departmental public bodies

1,068                  - 308             - 308        1,376                -           1,376 

Capital Grants and Contributions from GLA 

Bodies

8,746 (4,200) (1,765) (17) (5,982)        2,764       28,704          31,468 

Leaseholder Contributions (Housing)            2,891                  -                 -             -               -        2,891       10,573          13,464 

Sub-total - Specific Financing 35,390 (6,409) (4,744)             - (11,153)      24,237       89,912        114,149 

Mainstream Financing (Internal):

Capital Receipts - General Fund            2,412                  -                 -             -               -        2,412         3,456           5,868 

Capital Receipts - HRA 11,469 (1,629) (62) (703) (2,394)        9,075       20,992          30,067 

Major Repairs Reserve (MRR) 23,802                  -                 -             -               -      23,802       51,605          75,407 

Earmarked Reserves (Revenue) 1,084                  - 77 (246) (169)           915              45              960 

Sub-total - Mainstream Funding 38,767 (1,629) 15 (949) (2,563)      36,204       76,098        112,302 

Borrowing-General Fund 33,046 (13,137) 6,356 246 (6,535)      26,511     205,446        231,957 

Borrowing -HRA 38,970 (17,427) 560 703 (16,164)      22,806       40,605          63,411 

 Total Capital Financing 146,173 (38,602) 2,187             - (36,415)    109,758 412,061 521,819

Analysis of Movements (Revised budget to Q1)

Page 13



 

quarter. Full details are included in Appendix 2, the most significant changes 
being: 

 budget reprofiling to future years for HRA Asset Management and 
Compliance Programme (£18.1m), Education City (£8.4m), Safer Cycling 
Paths (£4.2m), Corporate Planned Maintenance Programme (£1.6m) 

 inclusion of the budget for the Watermeadow development joint venture 
exit (£3.5m) as agreed by Cabinet in May 2020.   

 budget reductions for Stanhope Joint Venture Edith Summerskill scheme 
(£3.5m), Schools Organisational Strategy (£2.6m) and transport schemes 
following uncertainty around TfL funding (£2.1m). 

 
3. The 2020-21 capital programme includes a budget envelope of £50m, to 

provide operational flexibility, for taking forward major projects. Use of this 
budget is subject to relevant Member approval, agreement of funding sources 
and sign-off of an appropriate business case. Expenditure above the £50m 
envelope will require approval by Full Council. This remaining budget is not 
included in the current capital programme and the Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR) forecast but will be added should its use be approved. 

 
GENERAL FUND – MAINSTREAM PROGRAMME AND CAPITAL RECEIPTS 
 

4. The General Fund (GF) mainstream programme cuts across the departments 
and represents schemes which are funded from Council resources (capital 
receipts or borrowing). It is the area of the programme where the Council has 
the greatest discretion. The mainstream programme is summarised in Table 2. 

 
Table 2 – LBHF GF Mainstream Capital Programme 2020-24 with proposed 2020-21 Q1 variations: 

 
 

5. The 2020-21 Q1 mainstream programme has decreased by £1.97m in 
comparison to revised 2020-21 budget approved at 2019-20 outturn. This is 
mainly due to budget reprofiling of Education City (£3.8m), Corporate Planned 

2020/21 

Revised 

Budget as 

@ 2019/20 

Outturn

Variations 

(Q1)

Revised 

Budget 

2020/21 

(Q1)

Indicative 

Budget 

2021/22

Indicative 

Budget 

2022/23

Indicative 

Budget 

2023/24

Total 

Budget 

(All years)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 Approved Expenditure 

Ad Hoc Schemes:

Social Care Capital projects [ASC]            129             -              129               -               -               -            129 

Invest to Save-Flexible Use of Capital Receipts         2,412             -           2,412               -               -               -         2,412 

Capital Investment in Street Lighting [ENV]         1,100         (269)            831          269               -               -         1,100 

WMC JV Exit Costs [ECD]                 -        3,491         3,491               -               -               -         3,491 

Carnwath Road  [ECD]         1,870             -           1,870               -               -               -         1,870 

Hammersmith Town Hall Refurbishment* [ECD]            750             -              750          550               -               -         1,300 

Hammersmith Town Hall Fit Out* [ECD]                 -             -                  -       9,343          638               -         9,981 

Schools Regeneration Programme  [ECD]         1,914             -           1,914               -               -               -         1,914 

Education City regeneration [ECD]         4,262       (3,833)            429       9,985      10,751      12,791       33,956 

Acquisition of Cinema Site [ECD]              72             -                72               -               -               -              72 

Farm Lane/Mund Street [ECD]                 -               -                -       2,004               -               -         2,004 

Rolling Programmes:

Planned Maintenance/DDA Programme [ECD]         6,656 (1,600)         5,056       4,000       2,400       2,400       13,856 

Electric Vehicles [ENV]                 -               -                -          549               -               -            549 

Footways and Carriageways [ENV]         2,397               -         2,397       2,030       2,030       2,030         8,487 

Column Replacement [ENV]            100           246            346          346          346          346         1,384 

Parks Programme [ENV]            218               -            218               -               -               -            218 

 Total Mainstream Programmes 21,880 (1,965)       19,915      29,076      16,165      17,567       82,723 

 Financing 

Capital Receipts         2,412             -           2,412               -       3,456               -         5,868 

Increase/(Decrease) in  Borrrowing        19,468 (1,965)       17,503 29,076 12,709 17,567       76,855 

 Total Financing 21,880 (1,965)       19,915      29,076      16,165      17,567       82,723 

Page 14



 

Maintenance Programme (£1.6m) and Street Lighting (£0.3m) to future years 
and new budget for Watermeadow development JV exit costs (£3.5m) approved 
in May 2020.   

 
6. Parking revenues are forecast to significantly reduce due to Covid-19. The 

approved capital programme included funding of £0.246m for column 
replacement works from parking income. Due to the shortfall in forecast parking 
income it is proposed that this expenditure be funded by borrowing. This will 
result in increase of CFR of £0.984m and revenue costs of borrowing of £0.06m 
over next four years. The mainstream capital programme presented in Table 2 
and CFR figures presented in paragraph 9 and appendix 5 have been adjusted 
to reflect this change.  

 
7. The mainstream programme presented in Table 2 does not include self-

financing schemes (where the net General Fund revenue borrowing costs are 
nil).  Appendix 5 details the self-financing schemes and their borrowing 
requirement. 

 
8. A key financial focus of the capital monitoring report is the potential impact of 

capital expenditure on future borrowing and its revenue affordability. The 
Council’s underlying need to borrow for a capital purpose is measured through 
the CFR. The current forecast for the General Fund Headline CFR (excluding 
the self-financing schemes set out in Appendix 5) is £130.51m at the end of 
2020-21. An-in year increase of £16.43m.  

 
9. The amendments to the General Fund (GF) capital programme have affected 

the Council’s forecast headline capital debt (CFR) as follows: 
 

 Last forecast              
(2020/21 opening 

budget) 

Current forecast    
(2020/21 Q1) 

General Fund CFR £m £m 

2019/20 Closing CFR* (actual) 114.08 114.08 

2020/21 Closing CFR * 132.00 130.51 

2023/24 Closing CFR * 174.92 183.98 

 
10. The underlying need to borrow is forecast to increase by £69.9m over the next 

four years to support capital programme. By 2024-25 this will increase annual 
revenue borrowing costs by an estimated £3.37m1 This will need to be allowed 
for within future budget planning and the medium-term financial strategy 
process.  

 
11. The borrowing requirement includes £12.8m regarding the Civic Campus 

programme and Hammersmith Town Hall refurbishment. The overall scheme 
also   includes planned funding of £33.7m from the Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL). The borrowing forecast is sensitive to the timing and amount of CIL 
receipts. 

 

                                            
1
 Cost of borrowing is calculated at estimated 3% interest rate and 3% minimum revenue provision. The actual 

cost will depend on the timing of the borrowing, the exact interest rates at which the Council borrows and the 
minimum revenue provision calculation.  

Page 15



 

12. At the end of 2019-20, £0.144m of deferred disposal costs were accrued in 
respect of the anticipated capital receipts. Should sale not proceed, these costs 
must be written back to revenue. 

 
13. The General Fund capital programme includes budgets for several regeneration 

schemes that are at an early stage. These include £4.5m for Farm Lane and 
Mund Street developments, £1.9m for Schools Regeneration and £3.5m for 
Watermeadow Joint Venture exit costs. Should these schemes not fully 
progress there is a risk that some, or all, of the expenditure may need to be 
written off to revenue. In line with the arrangements agreed in the Building 
Homes and Communities Strategy, the Development Board is providing a 
gateway and governance process for these schemes before commitment of 
funds. 

 
14. The schools’ capital programme contributions have been reviewed and £2.6m of 

Basic Needs grant for Schools’ Organisation Strategy and £1.2m of Schools 
Condition Allocation grant for schools’ planned maintenance programme have 
been freed up. These grants will be held on the balance sheet pending the 
agreement of a detailed spending plan for 2020-21 and future years.  

 
15. Due to the impact of Covid-19, previously anticipated TfL annual funding for 

various transport schemes has not been confirmed for 2020-21. Instead, the 
Council is expected to put forward a bid for new funding in September 2020. As 
a result of this, £2.2m of TfL funded capital schemes have been removed from 
the capital programme. New schemes will be added to the programme once the 
funding is confirmed. In addition, the Council are working with TfL to seek 
government funding for the significant required capital works to reopen 
Hammersmith Bridge.  

 
16. The General Fund capital programme includes capital receipts of £2.4m carried 

forward to 2020-21. These will support invest to save expenditure and IT 
investment in order to protect use of the Council’s reserves. Separate reports 
have identified concerns regarding the medium-term adequacy of the Council’s 
reserves and future financial resilience which are exacerbated by the financial 
pressures as a result of the Council’s Covid-19 response and loss of revenues. 
The identification of additional receipts will protect reserves by enabling, the 
flexible use of capital receipts to fund invest to save costs and potential 
capitalisation of other relevant costs in line with proper accounting or statutory 
practice. The use of capital receipts to fund new capital expenditure will also 
reduce the Council’s need to borrow and therefore reduce the revenue costs of 
that borrowing. New borrowing comes at an annual revenue cost of £60,000 per 
annum per £1m.  

 
17. There are currently no forecast capital receipts in 2020-21. However, the 

Council’s Property Transformation Strategy is systematically reviewing all 
assets as part of asset management best practice. As part of this programme 
surplus assets may be identified that cannot be re-purposed for other uses and 
that could be sold for a capital receipt to support the capital programme. Any 
decisions on asset disposals will be the subject of a future report.  

 
 
 
 

Page 16



 

 
 
HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME OVERVIEW 

 
 

18. Housing Capital expenditure for 2020-21 is forecast at £59.9m and for the four-
year programme to 2023-24 spend is expected to be £203m. The expenditure 
and funding analysis of the Housing Programme is summarised in Table 3 
below. 

     
Table 3 – Housing Capital Programme 2020-24 with proposed 2020-21 Q1 variations 

 
 

19. Within the Housing Capital Programme there has been a net budget decrease 
of £21.3 mainly due to reduction and reprofiling of Stanhope Joint Venture 
(£4.8m) and reprofiling of Asset Management and Compliance Programme 
(£18.1m) to future years. Detailed analysis of the budget variances is presented 
in Appendix 2. The risks associated with funding the future years’ Housing 
Capital Programme are summarised in paragraphs 26-28. 

 
20. The HRA CFR is shown in Table 4 below: 

 
Table 4 – HRA CFR at Q1 2020-21 (including future years forecast): 

      
 

21. The Housing Revenue Account 2020-21 CFR has increased by £22.1m in 
comparison to 2019-20. This is mainly due to 2019-20 budgets being reprofiled 
to 2020-21.  The HRA CFR is forecast to increase to £278.47m by the end of 
2023-24.  

 
22. The impact of an increase in HRA CFR on HRA revenue budgets is assessed in 

the HRA Business Plan and the Financial Plan for Council Homes (HRA 
Financial Strategy) 2020-21 which was approved by the Cabinet in February 
2020. The total borrowing costs affecting HRA revenue budgets will be affirmed 
once the factors such as interest rates and potential capitalisation of borrowing 
costs have been confirmed.  

 

2020/21 

Revised 

Budget as 

@ 2019/20 

Outturn

Slippages 

from/(to) 

future years 

Additions/

(Reductions)

Transfers Total 

Variations 

(Q1)

Revised 

Budget 

2020/21 

(Q1)

Indicative 

2021/22

Budget

Indicative 

2022/23

Budget

Indicative 

2023/24

Budget

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 Approved Expenditure 

HRA Asset Management and Compliance 

Programme

61,313 (18,098) -               -           (18,098)      43,215 52,572 30,917 27,175

Building Homes and Communities 

Strategy 

3,475 549 -               -           549        4,024 1,528 -            -            

Other HRA Capital Schemes 16,432 (1,370) (2,383) -           (3,753)      12,679 8,229 14,030 8,656         

 Total Housing Programme       81,220 (18,919) (2,383)              -   (21,302)      59,918       62,329       44,947        35,831 

 Available and Approved Resource 

Capital Receipts - Unrestricted 5,221 -            -               -           -                 5,221 3,281 3,010 3,031         

Capital Receipts - RTB (141) 6,248 (1,629) (62) (703)         (2,394)        3,854 2,913 4,687 2,892         

Major Repairs Reserve (MRR) 23,802 -            -               -           -               23,802 16,990 17,257 17,358

Contributions Developers (S106) 4,088 137 (3,500) -           (3,363)           725        5,403         9,343          5,764 

Contributions from leaseholders 2,891 -            -               -           -                 2,891 5,380 3,791 1,402

Capital Grants/Contributions from Non-

departmental public bodies

-           -            619              -           619           619 -           -            -            

Borrowing 38,970      (17,427)      560              703          (16,164)      22,806 28,362 6,859 5,384

Total Funding 81,220 (18,919) (2,383)              -   (21,302)      59,918 62,329 44,947 35,831

HRA CFR Forecast 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£m £m £m £m £m

Closing Forecast HRA CFR 215.76 237.86 266.22 273.08 278.47

Closing Forecast HRA CFR        215.76       237.86       266.22       273.08       278.47 

Page 17



 

23. The HRA CFR presented in Table 4 does not include the proposed 
appropriation of Education City Affordable Housing units from General Fund on 
completion of the scheme (currently forecast for 2024/25). Once the 
appropriation is completed, the HRA CFR is expected to increase by £28.3m.  

 
24. On 1 July 2019 Cabinet approved the Council’s new Asset Management and  

Compliance Programme which has a focus on health and safety works. 2020-21 
forecast spend at Q1 includes £12.2m of expenditure related to Health & Safety, 
of which £8.2m is on specific fire safety capital works as detailed in table 5 
below.  

 
Table 5 – Compliance and Health and Safety spend 2020-21 

 
 
 

HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME RISKS  
 

25. The following risks associated with funding of future years’ expenditure have 
been    identified within the Housing Capital programme: 

 
26. S106 Funding: The proposed programme for 2020/21 – 2023/24 relies on 

£25m of S106 receipts for affordable housing, of which £17m has been received 
to date with the remainder dependent on the associated developments 
proceeding in a timely manner. The impact of Covid-19 on the progress of 
developments and related developer contributions is being monitored jointly with 
Finance and Planning and mitigating actions will be considered if necessary, 
such as substituting other funding in the Housing programme. 

 

27. Right to buy funding: Right to Buy (RTB) one for one receipts need to be 
repaid with interest to Central Government where affordable housing schemes 
do not proceed to programme.  These receipts are ringfenced to the provision of 
affordable housing within three years of receipt and the Council’s agreement 
with the GLA, allows a further three years to use the receipts. As at 1 April 
2020, the GLA held £23.9m of Hammersmith & Fulham RTB receipts from the 
last two financial years. This is the equivalent of £80m2 of capital expenditure 
delivered by the Council (or Housing Associations if grant funded by Council) 
over the next two financial years. The existing approved Housing Development 
schemes and the pipeline of yet to be approved schemes3 is sufficient to make 

                                            
2
 Under current MHCLG regulations, 1-4-1 receipts can fund only 30% of the total expenditure, with remaining 

70% being funded from mixture of non-housing receipts, S106 and borrowing. Local Government is currently 
lobbying MHCLG for further flexibility with regards to use of these receipts in the light of the Covid-19 pandemic. 
3
 The housing development pipeline was present to Cabinet on 3 March 2020 in the report “Financial Plan for 

Council Homes”. 

APPROVED SCHEMES

Total 

Approved 

Budget                    

£'000

Total Spend 

Forecast        

£'000

Approved 

Budget        

2020-21      

£'000

2020-21 

Forecast at 

Q1           

£'000

2020-21        

Forecast     

Variance          

£'000

2020-21 Actual 

Spend             

as at Q1       

£'000

Fire Safety Compliance Programme 22,119 24,425 13,131 7,367 (5,764)                  185

Fire Safety Complex Schemes 26,429 26,816 6,040 890 (5,150)                  519

Safety Works - Electrical 13,256 13,452 3,582 2,908 (674)                     86

Safety Works - Other 3,853 6,077 1,282 1,016 (266)                     140

Total 65,657 70,770 24,035 12,181 (11,854)                 930

HRA Capital Programme: Health & Safety budget and forecast as at Quarter 1  2020-21 

Page 18



 

use of these receipts if delivered on time. The Council can request for an 
extension to the three years where an approved programme is in place. 

 
28. Building Safety and Fire Safety Bills: The Building Safety and Fire Safety 

Bills are currently going through Parliamentary process. These will significantly 
impact on the Council, particularly in its role as landlord. Whilst the Council has 
already approved its current Asset Management and Compliance Programme, 
which is included in the Capital Programme, it is likely that there will be 
additional safety requirements and further, potentially significant capital 
requirements, that will need to be considered. As a result, the current 
programme needs to be reviewed. Work is being undertaken to assess the cost 
of expected additional work and update the programme. Further updates and 
details will be reported to Cabinet in due course and as the bills make their way 
into law.  

 
REASONS FOR DECISION 
 

29. This report seeks revisions to the Capital Programme which require the 
approval of Cabinet in accordance with the Council’s financial regulations. 

 
EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS  
 

30. There are no direct equalities implications in relation to this report. This paper is 
concerned entirely with financial management issues and, as such, the 
recommendations relating to an increase in capital allocations, will not impact 
directly on any group with protected characteristics, under the terms of the 
Equality Act 2010. 

 
31. Implications verified by: Fawad Bhatti, Policy & Strategy Officer, Tel: 07500 

103617. 
 

 IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 

32. The Council’s Capital Programme represents significant expenditure within the 
Borough and consequently, where supplies are sourced locally, may impact 
either positively or negatively on local contractors and sub-contractors.  Where 
capital expenditure increases, or is brought forward, this may have a beneficial 
impact on local businesses; conversely, where expenditure decreases, or is 
slipped, there may be an adverse impact on local businesses. 

 
33. Projects contained in the capital programme are approved on individual basis 

and the business implications for each of them are considered in more detail in 
their specific reports. 

 
34. Implications completed by: Nicki Burgess, Business and Enterprise Manager, 

Economic Development, Tel:07796610094. 
 

 
 RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

35. In the initial stages of any development, major capital projects will have 
significant uncertainties. For example, these may relate to the planning process, 
the views and interest of residents and stakeholders who must be consulted, 

Page 19



 

ground conditions, or the costs of rectifying or demolishing existing buildings 
(e.g. the cost of asbestos removal). Construction companies and developers 
contracting with the Council which experience financial instability may also pose 
a significant risk. They may not be able to raise sufficient finance to cash flow 
operations, any potential insolvency process could lead to a costly process of 
changing suppliers without any guarantee of remaining within overall budget, 
the Council could suffer direct financial loss and any defects or other issues 
may not be resolvable as anticipated. To mitigate the Council carefully 
considers the financial robustness of any contractor and requests appropriate 
financial standing assurance and support wherever possible. 

 
36. Large scale capital projects can operate in environments which are complex, 

turbulent, and continually evolving. Effective risk identification and control within 
such a dynamic environment is more than just populating a project risk register 
or appointing a project risk officer. Amplifying the known risks so that they are 
not hidden or ignored, demystifying the complex risks into their more 
manageable sum of parts and anticipating the slow emerging risks which can 
escalate rapidly are all necessary components of good capital programme risk 
management. 

 
37. The report identifies a number of risks which may impact on the future funding 

of the Housing Capital Programme. It is important that strong corporate and 
directorate oversight and monitoring of these risks is maintained and 
appropriate ongoing assurances provided to councillors on the management of 
these risks. 

 
38. The impact to councils of the Grenfell Tower fire is yet to be fully established. It 

is certain that many councils are/ will be undertaking property reviews to 
determine the levels of improvements required to ensure fire safety 
arrangements within their buildings meet both the expectations of the residents 
and that they comply with building regulations and other statutory duties. The 
H&F Fire Safety Plus Programme is an excellent scheme that provides 
residents with assurance on safety. The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 
2005 places specific duties placed on the Council as the Responsible Person 
for its buildings to assess the risk from fire and put in measures to control those 
risks.  

 
39. The Dame Judith Hackitt independent review of fire safety, following the 

Grenfell tragedy, recognises that High Rise Residential Buildings (10 Storeys 
and above) are a special risk where layers of fire protection must be put in place 
so as to reduce the risk to as low as reasonably possible, however reducing the 
risk for all residential accommodation is fundamental. This process is on-going 
and must be continually reviewed at least annually. 

 
40. All works must comply with the Construction (Design and Management) 

Regulations. The Council must appoint a Principal Designer and Principal 
Contractor with the necessary and demonstrable expertise and competence. 

  
41. Proposals set out in this report seek to comply with the Council’s legal duties. 

 
42. Implications completed by: David Hughes, Director of Audit, Risk and Insurance, 

Tel: 020 7361 2389. 
 

Page 20



 

 VAT IMPLICATIONS 
 

43. The Council needs to carefully consider its VAT partial exemption calculation 
and the risk of breaching the partial exemption threshold.  Capital projects 
represent the bulk of this risk.  A breach would likely cost the Council between 
£2-£3m per year whilst in breach. The Council remained below the threshold in 
2018/19 however there remains a risk of breaching the threshold in future years 
if the position is not carefully managed on an ongoing basis, particularly in light 
of potentially significant capital schemes in the future. Finance are working 
closely with departments to ensure that partial exemption risks are considered 
as part of significant capital projects. Further detail on the Council’s partial 
exemption is included in Appendix 4. 

 
44. Implications verified by: Chris Harris, Chief Accountant, Corporate Finance, Tel: 

020 8753 6440. 
 
 

LIST OF APPENDICES: 

Appendix 1 – Detailed capital budget, spend and variation analysis by department 

Appendix 2 – Analysis of budget variations 

Appendix 3 – Capital receipts forecast 

Appendix 4 – VAT partial exemption 

Appendix 5 – Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) and Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) 

Appendix 5 – Housing Compliance and Health and Safety Programme

Page 21



 

Appendix 1 – Detailed capital budget, spend and variation analysis by department  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Children's Services 

2020/21

Original 

Budget

2020/21 

Revised 

Budget as 

@ 2019/20 

Outturn

Slippages 

from/(to) 

future 

years 

Additions/

(Reductions)

Transfers Total 

Transfers/

Virements

Revised 

Budget 

2020/21 

(Q1)

2021/22

 Budget

2022/23

 Budget

2023/24

 Budget

Total Budget 

(All years)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 Scheme Expenditure Summary 

Schools Organisational Strategy 4,734 4,888              - (2,618)              -              (2,618)           2,270              -            -            - 2,270

Schools Window Replacement Project 400 897              -                   -              -                     -                897              -            -            - 897

School Maintenance Programme         2,238         2,358 (200) (1,234)              -              (1,434)              924      1,800     1,800     1,076 5,600

Total Expenditure         7,372         8,143         (200)          (3,852)            -                (4,052)           4,091      1,800     1,800     1,076           8,767 

 Capital Financing Summary 

Specific/External or Other Financing

Capital Grants from Central Government 5,401 6,122 (200) (3,852)              -              (4,052)           2,070      1,800     1,800     1,076 6,746

Grants and Contributions from Private 

Developers (includes S106)

        1,971         2,021              -                   -              -                     -             2,021              -            -            - 2,021

Sub-total - Specific or Other Financing         7,372         8,143         (200)          (3,852)              -              (4,052)           4,091      1,800     1,800     1,076           8,767 

 Total Capital Financing         7,372         8,143         (200)          (3,852)            -                (4,052) 4,091      1,800     1,800     1,076 8,767

Analysis of Movements (Revised budget to Q1)

Indicative Future Years 

Analysis

Current Year Programme

P
age 22



 

Appendix 1 – Detailed capital budget, spend and variation analysis by department/cont. 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Social Care Services

2020/21

Original 

Budget

2020/21 

Revised 

Budget as 

@ 2019/20 

Outturn

Slippages 

from/(to) 

future 

years 

Additions/

(Reductions)

Transfers Total 

Transfers/

Virements

Revised 

Budget 

2020/21 

(Q1)

2021/22

 Budget

2022/23

 Budget

2023/24

 Budget

Total Budget 

(All years)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 Scheme Expenditure Summary 

Extra Care New Build project (Adults' Personal 

Social Services Grant)

            957           957                 -                   -               - -                       957              -              -              - 957

Disabled Facilities Grant                 -           378                 -               807               - 807                   1,185              -              -              - 1,185

Transforming Care (Winterbourne Grant)             300           300                 -                   -               - -                       300              -              -              - 300

Social Care Capital Projects 300 376                 - 511               - 511                      887              -              -              - 887

Total Expenditure          1,557         2,011                 - 1,318               - 1,318                 3,329              -              -              -            3,329 

;

 Capital Financing Summary 

Specific/External or Other Financing

Capital Grants from Central Government 1,128 1,582                 - 1,318               - 1,318                 2,900              -              -              - 2,900

Capital Grants/Contributions from Non-

departmental public bodies

            300           300                 -                   -               - -                       300              -              -              - 300

Sub-total - Specific or Other Financing          1,428         1,882                 - 1,318               - 1,318                 3,200              -              -              -            3,200 

Borrowing             129           129                 -                   -               -                  -           129              -              -              - 129

 Total Capital Financing 1,557 2,011                 - 1,318               - 1,318        3,329              -              -              -            3,329 

Analysis of Movements (Revised budget to Q1)

Current Year Programme Indicative Future Years 

Analysis

P
age 23



 

Appendix 1 – Detailed capital budget, spend and variation analysis by department/cont. 

 

 

Environment Department

2020/21

Original 

Budget

2020/21 

Revised 

Budget as 

@ 2019/20 

Outturn

Slippage

s 

from/(to) 

future 

years 

Additions/

(Reductions)

Transfers Total 

Transfers/

Virements

Revised 

Budget 

2020/21 

(Q1)

2021/22

 Budget

2022/23

 Budget

2023/24

 Budget

Total Budget 

(All years)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 Scheme Expenditure Summary 

Footways and Carriageways 2,030 2,397              -                    -              - -                       2,397 2,030 2,030 2,030 8,487

Transport For London Schemes 2,157 2,699              - (2,192) (184) (2,376)                      323 2,157 2,157 2,157 6,794

Safer Cycle Pathway (TFL funded)                 - 4,200 (4,200)                    -         167 (4,033)                      167 19,265             -             - 19,432

Hammersmith Bridge Strengthening (TFL 

Funded)

                - 157              -               298              - 298                          455             -             -             - 455

Controlled Parking Zones 275 288              - (175) (175)                        113             -             -             - 113

Column Replacement 346 346              -                    - (23) (23)                          323 346 346 346 1,361

LED Lighting Replacement Programme                 -                 -              -                    -           23                  23              23             -             -             - 23

Other Highways Capital Schemes                 - 1,240              - 28           17 45         1,285             -             -             - 1,285

Counters Creek (Thames Water funded)                 -                 -              -               167              - 167            167             -             -             - 167

Bloemfontein Road (Thames Water/Suds)                 - 550              - (200)              - (200)            350             -             -             - 350

Capital Investment in Street Lighting         1,100         1,100 (269)                    -              - (269)            831         269             -             - 1,100

Parks Capital Rolling Programme            164 157              -                    -              -                    -            157             -             -             - 157

Other Parks Capital Schemes            330 60              - 243              - 243            303             -             -             - 303

Shepherds Bush Common Improvements            431                 -              -                    -              -                    -                 -             -             -             -                   - 

Fulham Football Club -Bishops Park            660                 -              -                    -              -                    -                 -             -             -             -                   - 

Containers (Recycling/Food)                 -                 -              - 199              - 199            199             -             -             -               199 

Electric Vehicles                 -              -               182              -                182            182         594             -             - 776

Other (Delivery, RFID, Charge Points)              -               208              -                208            208 208

Leisure Centre Capital Investment 957              -                    -              -                    -            957             -        140             - 1,097

Total Expenditure 7,493 14,151 (4,469) (1,242)              - (5,711)         8,440    24,661     4,673     4,533          42,307 

 Capital Financing Summary 

Specific/External or Other Financing

Grants and Contributions from Private 

Developers (includes S106)

        1,585 2,217              - 247 17 264         2,481             -        140             - 2,621

Capital Grants/Contributions from Non-

departmental public bodies

                -                 -              -               308              - 308            308             -             -             - 308

Capital Grants and Contributions from GLA 

Bodies

2,157 7,036 (4,200) (1,874) (17) (6,091)            945 21,422 2,157 2,157 26,681

Sub-total - Specific or Other Financing 3,742 9,253 (4,200) (1,319)              - (5,519)         3,734    21,422     2,297     2,157          29,610 

Mainstream Financing (Internal Council 

Resource)

Capital Receipts                 -                 -              -                    -              -                    -                 -             - 1,056             - 1,056

General Fund Revenue Account (revenue 

funding)

521                 -              -                    -              -                    -                 -             -             -             -                   - 

Use of Reserves                 - 1,084              - 77 (246) (169)            915           45             -             - 960

 Sub-total - Mainstream Funding            521         1,084              - 77 -       246 (169)            915           45     1,056             -            2,016 

Borrowing 3,230 3,814 (269)                    -         246 (23)         3,791 3,194 1,320 2,376 10,681

 Total Capital Financing 7,493 14,151 (4,469) (1,242)              - (5,711)         8,440    24,661     4,673     4,533          42,307 

Analysis of Movements (Revised budget to Q1)

Current Year Programme Indicative Future Years 

Analysis

P
age 24



 

 
Appendix 1 – Detailed capital budget, spend and variation analysis by department/cont. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Finance Department

2020/21

Original 

Budget

2020/21 

Revised 

Budget as 

@ 2019/20 

Outturn

Slippages 

from/(to) 

future 

years 

Additions/

(Reductions)

Transfers Total 

Transfers/

Virements

Revised 

Budget 

2020/21 

(Q1)

2021/22

 Budget

2022/23

 Budget

2023/24

 Budget

Total Budget 

(All years)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 Scheme Expenditure Summary 

Invest to Save - Flexible Use of Capital 

Receipts 

       2,036         2,412               -                     -              -                -         2,412            -            -            -          2,412 

Planned Maintenance/DDA Programme        6,373         6,656               -                     - (6,656)         (6,656)            -              -            -            -                  - 

Total Expenditure        8,409 9,068               -                     - (6,656) (6,656) 2,412            -            -            -          2,412 

 Capital Financing Summary 

Mainstream Financing (Internal Council 

Resource)

Capital Receipts        2,036         2,412               -                     -              -                -         2,412            -            -            -          2,412 

 Sub-total - Mainstream Funding        2,036         2,412               -                     -              -                -         2,412            -            -            -          2,412 

Borrowing        6,373         6,656               -                     - (6,656)         (6,656)            -              -            -            -                  - 

 Total Capital Financing 8,409 9,068               -                     - (6,656) (6,656) 2,412            -            -            -          2,412 

Analysis of Movements (Revised budget to Q1)

Indicative Future Years 

Analysis

Current Year Programme

P
age 25



 

Appendix 1 – Detailed capital budget, spend and variation analysis by department/cont. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Economy Department General Fund 

Managed Schemes

2020/21

Original 

Budget

2020/21 

Revised 

Budget as 

@ 2019/20 

Outturn

Slippages 

from/(to) 

future 

years 

Additions/

(Reductions)

Transfers Total 

Transfers/

Virements

Revised 

Budget 

2020/21 

(Q1)

2021/22

 Budget

2022/23 

 Budget

2023/24 

 Budget

Total Budget 

(All years)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 Scheme Expenditure Summary 

Civic Campus

Acquisition of Land at 207 King St                 -              72                 -                    -               -               -               72              -              -             -                72 

Hammersmith Town Hall Refurbishment *         6,966         7,405                 -                    -               -               -          7,405     20,549       3,164             -          31,118 

HTH Refurbishment -Fit Out                 -                 - (861)                861               -               -                 -       9,343          638             -            9,981 

Acquisition of commercial units                 -                 -                 -                    -               -               -                 -              -     63,000             -          63,000 

Equity Loan (Civic Campus)                 -                 -                 -                    -        8,997         8,997        8,997     30,000     25,000             -          63,997 

JV Partnership Loan        15,000         8,997                 -                    - (8,997)        (8,997)               -              -              -             -                   - 

Subtotal Civic Campus 21,966 16,474 (861)                861               -               -        16,474 59,892 91,802             -        168,168 

Building Homes and Communities Strategy (GF sites)

Education City/Ark Swift redevelopment        10,658         5,462 (3,833)                    -               -        (3,833)        1,629       9,985     13,335    14,353          39,302 

Education City Loan              75         4,582 (4,570)                    -               -        (4,570)             12           13     11,682    16,399          28,106 

Schools Regeneration Programme         2,029         1,914                 -                    -               -               -          1,914              -              -             -            1,914 

Farm Lane                 -                 - (1,131)             1,270               -            139           139       1,131              -             -            1,270 

Mund Street                 -                 - (3,019)             3,234               -            215           215       3,019              -             -            3,234 

Subtotal Building Homes and Communities 

Strategy (GF sites)

12,762 11,958 (12,553) 4,504               -        (8,049)        3,909 14,148 25,017 30,752          73,826 

Other GF Capital Schemes managed by the Economy

Sands End Community Centre 116 768                 -                    -               -               -             768              -              -             -              768 

Planned Maintenance/DDA Programme                 -                 - (1,600)                    -        6,656         5,056        5,056       4,000       2,400      2,400          13,856 

Carwath Road         1,870         1,870                 -                    -               -               -          1,870              -              -             -            1,870 

Nourish Project (Good Growth Fund)                 -            510                 - (510)               -           (510)               -              -              -             -                   - 

WMC JV Exit Costs                 -                 -                 - 3,491               -         3,491        3,491              -              -             -            3,491 

Subtotal Other GF Capital Schemes managed by 

the Economy

1,986 3,148 (1,600) 2,981        6,656         8,037      11,185 4,000     2,400      2,400             19,985 

Total Expenditure 36,714 31,580 (15,014) 8,346        6,656 (12) 31,568 78,040 119,219 33,152 261,979

Analysis of Movements (Revised budget to Q1)

Current Year Programme Indicative Future Years 

Analysis

P
age 26



 

 
Appendix 1 – Detailed capital budget, spend and variation analysis by department/cont. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Economy Department General Fund 

Managed Schemes

2020/21

Original 

Budget

2020/21 

Revised 

Budget as 

@ 2019/20 

Outturn

Slippages 

from/(to) 

future 

years 

Additions/

(Reductions)

Transfers Total 

Transfers/

Virements

Revised 

Budget 

2020/21 

(Q1)

2021/22

 Budget

2022/23 

 Budget

2023/24 

 Budget

Total Budget 

(All years)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Analysis of Movements (Revised budget to Q1)

Current Year Programme Indicative Future Years 

Analysis

 Capital Financing Summary 

Specific/External or Other Financing

Grants and Contributions from Private Developers 

(includes S106)

58                 - (2,146)             2,500               -            354           354       2,146              -             -            2,500 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)         6,966         6,655                 -                    -               -               -          6,655     20,000       3,163             -          29,818 

Capital Grants/Contributions from Non-departmental 

public bodies

             58            768                 -                    -               -               -             768              -              -             -              768 

Capital Grants and Contributions from GLA Bodies         1,200         1,710                 - (510)               -           (510)        1,200              -       2,084         884            4,168 

Sub-total - Specific or Other Financing         8,282         9,133        (2,146)             1,990             -             (156)        8,977     22,146       5,247         884          37,254 

Mainstream Financing (Internal Council Resource)

Capital Receipts (HRA)                 -                 -                 -                    -               -               -                 -              -          500         678            1,178 

Capital Receipts (GF)                 -                 -                 -                    -               -                 -              -       2,400             -            2,400 

 Sub-total - Mainstream Funding               -                 -                 -                    -               -                 -                 -              -       2,900         678            3,578 

Borrowing (Borrowing-GF)        28,432        22,447      (12,868) 6,356        6,656            144      22,591     55,894   111,072    31,590        221,147 

 Total Capital Financing        36,714        31,580      (15,014)             8,346        6,656             (12)      31,568     78,040   119,219    33,152        261,979 

P
age 27



 

Appendix 1 – Detailed capital budget, spend and variation analysis by department/cont. 
 

 

Economy Department- HRA Capital 

Programme

2020/21

Original 

Budget

2020/21 

Revised 

Budget as 

@ 2019/20 

Outturn

Slippages 

from/(to) 

future 

years 

Additions/

(Reductions)

Transfers Total 

Transfers/

Virements

Revised 

Budget 

2020/21 

(Q1)

2021/22

 Budget

2022/23

 Budget

2023/24

 Budget

Total Budget 

(All years)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 Scheme Expenditure Summary 

HRA Asset Management and Compliance Programme

Pre Agreed Works       22,814       22,164 (6,980)                   -        1,034 (5,946)        16,218   13,874      1,050            - 31,142

Fire Safety Compliance Programme       13,431       13,131 (5,864)                   -           100 (5,764)          7,367   12,444      2,589     2,025 24,425

Fire Safety Complex Schemes         6,014         6,040 (1,550)                   - (3,600) (5,150)            890     3,090      8,611   14,225 26,816

Pre Agreed Lift Scheme         2,644         3,076 (3,293)                   -        3,600 307          3,383     3,491      1,810            - 8,684

Pre Agreed Boiler Scheme         2,768         2,775 (1,380)                   -               -        (1,380)          1,395     1,400      1,400     1,903 6,098

Safety Works - Electrical         3,922         3,582 (674)                   -               - (674)          2,908     6,175      4,369            - 13,452

Safety Works         1,175         1,282 (266)                   -               -           (266)          1,016     2,475      2,586            - 6,077

Void Works           240           498 (233)                   -        2,000         1,767          2,265     2,473      2,000     1,000 7,738

Neighbourhood, parking & garage improvements         1,163         1,196 367                   -           232            599          1,795        869         188        188 3,040

Surveying and fees         1,500         1,500 (279)                   - (1,221)        (1,500)                 -            -             -     2,952 2,952

Capitalised salaries         2,805         2,805 (91)                   -               -             (91)          2,714     2,952      2,918            - 8,584

Capitalised repairs         3,264         3,264                 -                   -               -               -            3,264     3,329      3,396            - 9,989

Unallocated budget - Priority schemes to be confirmed                -                -         2,145                   - (2,145)               -                   -            -             -     4,882 4,882

Subtotal HRA Asset Management and Compliance 

Programme

61,740 61,313 (18,098)                   -               - (18,098)        43,215 52,572 30,917 27,175 153,879

Building Homes and Communities Strategy (HRA sites)

Homes & Communities Strategy         1,361         1,484 (628)                   -               -           (628)            856        628             -            - 1,484

White City Estate Regeneration         1,728           758 2,077                   -               -         2,077          2,835            -             -            - 2,835

Old Laundry Yard           920         1,233 (900)                   -               -           (900)            333        900             -            - 1,233

Subtotal Building Homes and Communities Strategy 

(HRA sites)

4,009 3,475 549                   -               - 549          4,024 1,528             -            - 5,552

Other HRA Capital Schemes 

Housing Development Project 2,405 2,666                 -                   -               -               -            2,666         50             -            - 2,716

Stanhope Joint Venture 6,777 5,429 (1,304) (3,500)               - (4,804)            625     8,113    14,030     8,656 31,424

Affordable Housing Delivery Framework 1,751 2,333                 - (62)               - (62)          2,271            -             -            - 2,271

Property Acquisition for Affordable Housing                -         1,513                 -                   -               -               -            1,513            -             -            - 1,513

Hartopp & Lannoy 3,200         4,491 (66)                   -               -             (66)          4,425         66             -            - 4,491

Nourish Project (Good Growth Fund)                -                -                 -            1,179         1,179          1,179            -             -            - 1,179

Subtotal Other HRA Capital Schemes  14,133 16,432 (1,370) (2,383)               - (3,753)        12,679 8,229 14,030 8,656 43,594

Total Expenditure 79,882 81,220 (18,919) (2,383)               - (21,302) 59,918 62,329 44,947 35,831 203,025

Analysis of Movements (Revised budget to Q1)

Indicative Future Years 

Analysis

Current Year Programme

P
age 28



 

 
 
Appendix 1 – Detailed capital budget, spend and variation analysis by department/cont. 
 
 

 
 

Economy Department- HRA Capital 

Programme

2020/21

Original 

Budget

2020/21 

Revised 

Budget as 

@ 2019/20 

Outturn

Slippages 

from/(to) 

future 

years 

Additions/

(Reductions)

Transfers Total 

Transfers/

Virements

Revised 

Budget 

2020/21 

(Q1)

2021/22

 Budget

2022/23

 Budget

2023/24

 Budget

Total Budget 

(All years)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Analysis of Movements (Revised budget to Q1)

Indicative Future Years 

Analysis

Current Year Programme

 Capital Financing Summary 

Specific/External or Other Financing

Contributions from leaseholders 2,891 2,891                 -                   -               -               -            2,891 5,380 3,791     1,402 13,464

Grants and Contributions from Private Developers 

(includes S106)

        5,017 4,088 137 (3,500)               - (3,363)            725     5,403      9,343     5,764 21,235

Capital Grants and Contributions from GLA Bodies                -                -                 - 619               - 619            619            -             -            - 619

Sub-total - Specific or Other Financing 7,908 6,979 137 (2,881)               - (2,744)          4,235   10,783    13,134     7,166        35,318 

Mainstream Financing (Internal Council Resource)

Capital Receipts (HRA) 10,623 11,469 (1,629) (62) (703) (2,394)          9,075 6,194 7,697     5,923 28,889

Major Repairs Reserve (MRR) / Major Repairs Allowance 24,249 23,802               -          23,802 16,990 17,257 17,358 75,407

 Sub-total - Mainstream Funding 34,872 35,271 (1,629) (62) (703) (2,394)        32,877 23,184 24,954 23,281      104,296 

Borrowing(HRA)       37,102       38,970 (17,427)               560 703 (16,164)        22,806   28,362      6,859     5,384 63,411

 Total Capital Financing 79,882 81,220 (18,919) (2,383)               - (21,302)        59,918   62,329    44,947   35,831      203,025 

P
age 29



 

 
Appendix 2 – Analysis of budget variations 
  

Variation by department Amount 
£000 

Children’s Services  

Schools Organisational Strategy - budget reduction for the following schemes due to 
programme review: 

 Bentworth School - Ark transfer works £0.573m 

 Pope John School - £0.323m 

 St Stephens - £0.2m 

 William Morris - £0.4m 

 Phoenix - £1.1m 

 Burlington Danes Academy - £0.022m 

(2,618) 

Schools Maintenance Programme - budget reduction (£1.234m) and reprofiling to 
future years (£0.2m) to reflect forecast 

(1,434) 

Total Children’s Services variations (4,052) 

Environment Department  

Transport Schemes funded from TfL – budget reduction until confirmation of funding 
received for 2020/21  

(2,192) 

Hammersmith Bride strengthening - additional budget to reflect funding received   298 

Street Lighting - budget reprofiled to future years due to project delays (269) 

Safer Cycle Pathway (TFL funded) - budget reprofiled to future years due to scheme 
delays  

(4,200) 

Controlled Parking Zones - budget reduction to reflect revenue element of spending  (175) 

Thames Water/ SUDS funded transport schemes - reduction in budget to reflect the 
funding received  

(5) 

Other Parks - new approved budget  243 

Recycling and electric vehicle charging – new approved budgets February 2020 589 

Total Environment Department variations (5,711) 

Finance Department  

Corporate Maintenance programme budget transfer to Economy Department (6,656) 

Total Finance Department variations (6,656) 

Social Care   

Additional budget to reflect new Disabled Facilities grant allocation  1,318 

Total Social Care variations 1,318 

General Fund schemes under Economy Department  

Corporate Maintenance programme budget transfer to from Finance Department 6,656 

Corporate Maintenance programme budget reprofiled to future years  (1,600) 

Nourish Project (Good Growth Fund) - budget transferred to HRA  (510) 

Mund Street and Farm Lane developments - new budget of £4.5m approved July 
2020 of which £4.15m profiled to future years  

354 

Watermeadow Joint Venture exit cost – additional budget approved May 2020 3,491 

Education City redevelopment – budget reprofiled to future years due to delays in 
commencement of the project 

(8,403) 

Total General Fund schemes under Economy Department variations (12) 

Economy Department (HRA) Schemes  

Asset Management and Compliance Programme – budget reprofiling to future years 
to reflect updated spending profile for the number of schemes, as detailed in 
appendix 2. The majority of capital works programmed for a 2020/21 start will now 
start in the new calendar year due to the delays as a result of Covid-19. 

(18,098) 

Hartopp & Lannoy development - demolition budget profiled to future years due to 
Covid-19 delays 

(66) 

Nourish Project (Good Growth Fund) - additional budget approved £0.669m and 1,179 

Page 30



 

Variation by department Amount 
£000 

£0.51m budget transfer from General Fund 

White City Estate Regeneration - budget brought forward from 2021/22 as RIBA 3 
stage expected to commence in 2020/21  

2,077 

Old Laundry Yard Redevelopment – budget reprofiled to future years due to delays 
in the project. RIBA 3 not expected until 2021/22. 

(900) 

Stanhope Joint Venture – £1.3m budget for Edith Summerskill development 
reprofiled to future years as start on site moved from August 2020 to April 2021 due 
to judicial review and Covid-19. £3.5m reduction in development budget for 
reallocation of funding to other affordable housing projects approved in July 2020.  

(4,804) 

Homes & Communities Strategy - budget reprofiled to future years due to delays  (628) 

Affordable Housing Delivery Framework – reduction in budget to reflect actual spend (62) 

Total Economy Department (HRA) variations (21,302) 

Total 2020-21 Q1 variations (36,415) 
 

 

 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 31



 

Appendix 3 – General Fund forecast capital receipts  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Financial Year Previous 

Forecast               

£'000s

Movement/

Slippage                                                            

£'000s

Forecast as at 

Q1 2020-21     

£'000s

2020/21

Brought forward receipts from 2019/20        2,412                2,412 

Forecast capital receipts for the year              -                   -                        -   

Total 2020/21        2,412                 -                  2,412 

2021/22

Forecast capital receipts for the year              -                   -                        -   

Total 2021/22              -                   -                        -   

2022/23

Forecast capital receipts for the year        3,600                 -                  3,600 

Cost of Sales (4%)          (144)                 -                    (144)

Total 2022/23        3,456                 -                  3,456 

2023/24

Forecast capital receipts for the year              -                        -   

Total 2023/24              -                   -                        -   

Total All Years        5,868                 -                  5,868 

Page 32



 

 
Appendix 4 – VAT Partial Exemption 

Partial exemption overview  

In general, businesses cannot recover the VAT incurred on purchases made in 
connection with VAT exempt activities, for example, capital expenditure on properties 
which are let or leased are exempt from VAT. However, under Section 33 of the VAT 
Act 1994, local authorities are able to recover this VAT so long as it forms “an 
insignificant proportion” of the total VAT incurred (input tax) in any year, taken to be 
5% or less. Crucially, the de minimis limit is not an allowance, if the 5% threshold is 
exceeded then all the exempt input tax is lost, not just the excess. The cost to the 
Council of a breach would be in excess of £2m.  

LBHF Partial Exemption  

The Council’s input tax forecast for 2019/20 (across all expenditure) was £38m. This 
results in a partial exemption threshold for the Council of £1.9m (being 5% of £38m). 
The overall input tax incurred by the Council is projected to fall in the medium term 
due to factors such as the return of some of the previously outsourced services in-
house. A reduction in the overall input tax incurred will, in turn, reduce the Council’s 
partial exemption threshold.  

When calculating the exempt input tax annually, the Council considers its revenue 
and capital activities separately. Revenue activities are more constant, their 
contribution to exempt input tax is projected to remain at £2m (the impact on the 
threshold being the VAT incurred on this amount, i.e. £0.4m). Exempt input tax 
relating to capital activities is more volatile and each project must be considered and 
judged individually. The Council has a number of capital projects, both in train and in 
the pipeline, which could have significant partial exemption implications and finance 
officers are working closely with colleagues working on these projects to ensure that 
these risks are identified and mitigated where possible.  

Land and lease transactions can give rise to exempt supply. Capital projects involving 
these usually give rise to exempt input tax, although wherever possible the Council 
uses its VAT policy (see section 3) to mitigate this.  

VAT Policy  

The following policy is in place to manage the partial exemption position:  

 In all cases of new or reprofiled projects, the VAT team should be consulted in 
advance.  

 Projects should be 'opted-to-tax' where this option is available and is of no 
financial disadvantage to the Council.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33



 

 
 
Appendix 5 - Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) and Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP)  
 

1. The Capital Finance Requirement (CFR) measures the Council’s long-term 
indebtedness. The Table 1 below shows the Council’s forecast total GF CFR 
for the period 2020/21-2023/24: 

 
Table 1 - Forecast General Fund CFR 2020/21-2023/24 (Quarter 1) 
 

 

 

 
 

2. The current forecast for the General Fund Headline CFR is £130.51m at the 
end of 2020-21 and £183.98m by the end of 2023-24. The increase in GF 
Headline CFR puts additional pressures on revenue budgets.  

 
3. The Headline CFR figures exclude: 

 £5.6m Schools Windows Replacement Programme 

 equity loan of £70m to the Civic Campus programme 

 £28.58m loan to the Education City Development project and 

 £63m investment in acquisition of Civic Campus commercial units  
 
Whilst these will impact on the Council’s CFR, it is assumed that all Minimum 
Revenue Payment (MRP) and interest costs will be fully reimbursed through 
grant contributions, the charging of a state-aid compliant interest rate, 
commercial income or reduction in revenue costs (e.g. lease rental payments).   
 

4. CFR movements related to these schemes are presented under “Self- 
Financing Schemes and Loans” heading in the Table 1. CFR for these 
schemes is forecast to increase by £8.78m to £20.62m in 2020-21 and to 
£139.81m by the end of 2023-24. Table 2 details the CFR movements 
regarding these schemes: 

 
 
 
 

GENERAL FUND CFR ANALYSIS 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

HEADLINE CFR EXCLUDING SELF 

FINANCING SCHEMES AND LOANS

£m £m £m £m £m

Opening Capital Finance 

Requirement (CFR)

         70.85       114.08       130.51       158.11       168.61 

Revenue Repayment of Debt (MRP)           (0.32)          (1.07)          (1.47)          (2.21) (2.20)         

Mainstream Programme 

(Surplus)/Shortfall

         43.55         17.50         29.08         12.71 17.57        

Closing Capital Finance 

Requirement (CFR) 

       114.08       130.51       158.11       168.61       183.98 

SELF FINANCING SCHEMES AND 

LOANS 

£m £m £m £m £m

Opening Capital Finance 

Requirement (CFR)

           7.32         11.84         20.62         50.41       149.87 

Equity loan repayment                -                 -                 -                 -          (25.00)

Revenue Repayment of Debt (MRP)           (1.48)          (0.23)          (0.22)          (0.22)          (1.47)

 In Year Borrowing            6.00           9.01         30.01         99.68         16.40 

Closing Capital Finance 

Requirement (CFR)

         11.84         20.62         50.41       149.87       139.81 

Finance leases/PFI/ Deferred costs of 

disposal

           9.19           8.49           7.79           7.09           6.39 

Total Closing CFR        135.11       159.62       216.31       325.58       330.18 

Page 34



 

 
Table 2- Self -financing schemes and loans CFR movements 2020/21-2023/24 
 

 
 
5. The report regarding the expected investment in Civic Centre commercial 

units is also proposing one-off equity loan payment of £25m towards Civic 
Campus redevelopment scheme, currently forecast to be issued in 2022/23. 
The issue of the equity loan will result in an increase in GF CFR by the same 
amount.  However, this loan is expected to be repaid in the following financial 
year and therefore it will not have any impact on the MRP. Repayment of the 
loan will result in a decrease in GF CFR in 2023/24 by £25m.  

 
6. As the development site for Education City scheme is currently General Fund 

land, it is assumed that the total development costs will be charged to General 
Fund until the site completion. This will result in an increase in GF CFR.  On 
completion, costs and debt associated with HRA element of the 
redevelopment (affordable housing units) will be appropriated to HRA. The 
appropriation will result in decrease in GF CFR and increase in HRA CFR by 
the same amount. Forecast expenditure for HRA affordable housing units is 
currently £28.3m. As any interest charges will be capitalised and MRP will not 
be charged until year after the completion, there will be no direct impact on 
general fund revenue budgets in respect to HRA costs. However, should the 
scheme be cancelled before the completion of HRA affordable homes, there 
is a risk that risks and costs associated with the termination could impact GF 
revenue budgets.   

 
7. Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) is the minimum amount which a Council 

must charge to its revenue budget each year, to set aside a provision for 
repaying external borrowing (loans). This is an annual revenue expense in a 
Council's budget. The MRP will, over time, reduce the CFR. 

 
8. The statutory guidance issued by the Secretary of State (Ministry for Housing, 

Communities and Local Government) details the ways how MRP should be 
charged on various items of capital expenditure. MRP charges presented in 
the Table 1 follow this guidance and assume the following: 

 MRP charges are deferred for development projects until year after their 
completion. The rate charged is based on the estimated life of an asset 
(50 years for new developments).  

 MRP on rolling capital programmes and smaller scale ad hoc schemes 
is charged year after the expenditure incurs. The rate used is based on 
weighted average life of an assets (currently 3.01%). 

2020/21 

Revised 

Budget as 

@ 2019/20 

Outturn

Variations 

(Q1)

Revised 

Budget 

2020/21 

(Q1)

Indicative 

Budget 

2021/22

Indicative 

Budget 

2022/23

Indicative 

Budget 

2023/24

Total 

Budget 

(All years)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 Approved Expenditure 

Ad Hoc Schemes:

JV loan - HTH         8,997       (8,997)                -               -               -               -                - 

Acquisition of commercial units (Civic Campus)                 -             -                  -               -      63,000               -       63,000 

Equity Loan (Civic Campus)                 -        8,997         8,997      30,000      25,000               -       63,997 

JV loan -Education City         4,582       (4,570)              12            13      11,682      16,399       28,106 

 Total Mainstream Programmes 13,579 (4,570)         9,009      30,013      99,682      16,399     155,103 

 Financing 

Increase/(Decrease) in  Borrrowing        13,579       (4,570)         9,009 30,013 99,682 16,399     155,103 

 Total Financing 13,579 (4,570)         9,009      30,013      99,682      16,399     155,103 

Page 35



 
 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
Report to: Cabinet  
 
Date: 12/10/2020 
 
Subject:  Resident Experience and Access Programme (REAP) – proposed 

mandate to move to the delivery phase of the programme 
 
Report of: Councillor Adam Connell, Cabinet Member for Public Services Reform 

and Councillor Max Schmid, Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Commercial Services 

 
Responsible Director: Sharon Lea, Strategic Director for the Environment 
 
Report author: Nicola Ellis, Assistant Director, Residents’ Service 
 
 

 
Summary  
 
The Council’s Resident Experience and Access Programme (REAP) is its flagship 
initiative for driving transformation, improved access, reliability and quality across all 
front-line services. Digital development, consolidating services and building 
community solutions for residents and families with the greatest needs are at the 
heart of the programme. This is an invest to save programme and is critical for the 
Council’s commitment to continue to be the best value Council in the country. The 
programme is now in an excellent position to deliver the biggest single saving to front 
line service delivery costs that is available to the Council over the next medium term. 
 
The programme will resolve the relatively low level of digital access that residents of 
the borough currently experience, ensuring that there is digital inclusion and choice.  
It is also learning from the Council’s success in delivering services and support 
through the Covid-19 pandemic and is using this experience as an accelerator for 
transformation and delivery of a range of local priorities including tackling isolation. 
 
Arrangements to co-produce delivery of the programme have been put into place 
and this will be led by a dedicated resident implementation group.  Now that a 
significant level of preparatory work has been undertaken, residents can 
meaningfully lead the process.  The programme will run up to April 2023 with 
delivery front loaded. 
 

 
Recommendations 
 
That Cabinet:  
 

1. Approves the detailed business case and delivery plan attached in 
Appendix 1 for the Resident Experience and Access programme to move 

Page 36

Agenda Item 5



 
 

from the planning to the delivery stage and complete all further design work 
required. 

 
2. Approves the core associated principles that underpin the intended future 

operating model of service delivery that will be rigorously pursued on a 
corporate basis and through co-production with a representative range of 
residents.     

 
3. Approves in principle investment of up to £3.6m plus £0.4m contingency 

from one-off council reserves (up to £4.0m in total), delegating the draw-
down of the reserve in line with the programme tranches, to the Director of 
Finance and the Senior Responsible Officer for the programme, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Commercial Services 
and the Cabinet Member for Public Services Reform. 

 
4. Notes the risk management arrangements put in place for this programme 

to provide reassurance for the effective use of the programme’s resources 
and successful delivery of significantly improved services for all its 
customers at a lower ongoing cost.   

 

 
Wards Affected: ALL 
 

 
 
H&F Priorities 
 

Our Priorities Summary of how this report aligns to the H&F 
Priorities  

Building shared 
prosperity 

A central aim of the programme is to provide high quality 
services that are accessible to all. The scope of the 
Resident Experience and Access Programme is wide 
ranging and incorporates key services that are vital to 
delivering shared prosperity including benefits, housing 
advice, adult education and employment services. 
Relevant support will be provided to residents that are 
vulnerable and/or excluded from shared prosperity   

Creating a 
compassionate council 
 

The first phase of delivery for the programme focuses on 
universal services to all residents, as well as some 
specialist support services such as Accessible Transport 
and Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support. The 
second phase will focus on more complex services that 
reflect specific needs. Demonstrating compassion in 
terms of both a caring approach and effective practical 
support to those residents that need it the most cuts 
across the whole programme.    

Doing things with 
residents, not to them 
 

The programme is in the process of establishing a 
dedicated residents’ implementation group that will 
ensure it is in the business of co-produced change. The 
group will be aligned to the work of all the Council’s 

Page 37



 
 

resident’s commissions and wider system for resident 
engagement and involvement. Assuring accessibility of 
digital services, continued choice around telephone and 
face to face channels and the development of the 
‘compassionate council’ service offer will be led by this 
group.  In particular the programme is committed to 
ensuring that as a result of the change that is delivered 
council services are easier, not harder, for disabled 
residents to access.   

Being ruthlessly 
financially efficient 
 

This programme is about applying ruthless financial 
efficiency to systems and processes and developing a 
joined-up system for demonstrating compassion in all our 
contacts with residents, businesses and visitors. The 
business case for the programme sets out a clear more 
for less plan and substantial savings. This plan has been 
validated by a deep and specialist level of analysis and 
modelling.  

Taking pride in H&F 
 

Environment services including street cleansing, 
community safety and public realm management that are 
key to this priority are at the forefront of this programme.   

Rising to the challenge 
of the climate and 
ecological emergency 

This programme will contribute to a significant reduction 
in printing and use of paper by the Council due to moving 
from paper permits and forms to a fully digitalised 
process. The programme will seek to incorporate 
addressing the climate emergency where possible into 
every stage of the programme. 

 
 
Financial Impact  
 
The detailed business case and delivery plan for the programme is attached as 
Appendix 1. An overview of the current position on planned costs and benefits is 
summarised in table 1 below.  
 
An overview business case for the entire programme was completed in June 2019.  
Since then benefits (cashable and non-cashable savings) relating to the main aspect 
of the first phase of the programme (Tranche 1A) have been analysed in detail and 
validated by services.  This tranche covers the main environment services; council 
tax, business rates, benefits, parking, permits, cleaner greener and accessible 
transport services.   Forensic analysis and validation of the savings from the 
remainder of phase one and phase two of the programme (Tranches T1B, 2 and 3) 
has yet to be undertaken - this is scheduled for completion by the end of October 
2020. As such savings figures for these tranches currently reflect a pipeline 
opportunity as opposed to a firm and detailed plan.   The phased approach to 
running detailed design work and delivery in tandem and continually reviewing the 
business case is necessary given the breadth and scale of this sort of programme.   
 
Investment costs for delivering the programme are based on estimates from the 
externally appointed consultant and intelligence they have supporting delivery of 
similar programmes of work in other local authorities.  These costs are subject to 

Page 38



 
 

further validation by services (particularly digital services) as part of the delivery 
phase of the programme.  Savings levels have been set to provide a high level of 
assurance for delivery and any opportunity to extend them further will be taken.  
 
One-off council reserves investment of £3.352m is required to deliver an estimated 
cumulative net saving of £9.281m by the end of 2024/25. This incorporates an 
annual reoccurring saving of £3.414m from April 2022 (subject to validation of all 
costs and the second phase savings). Investment costs will be capitalised where 
possible (e.g. IT costs), in order to keep revenue costs to a minimum and thereby 
minimise the call on one-off council reserves.  
 
The recent Covid-19 response experience is impacting positively on the scope and 
speed of the programme in two main ways.  Firstly, as an accelerator for channel 
shift and use of corporately delivered telephone and face to face services and 
secondly, developing local Community Action Network for the provision of practical 
support at the local neighbourhood level.  The Council’s Recovery Programme is 
supporting the development of the second phase of the programme through a cross 
council working group and a high-level service prospect is set out in Appendix 3.  
 
Table 1: Overview Summary of the Programme’s Financial Costs and Benefits  

 
 
One-off redundancy costs are not included in the indicative figures set out above. 
Officers will work to minimise redundancy costs through the effective management of 
agency staff and redeployment of permanent staff into new roles.  
 
Budgetary savings of £0.740m that relate to this programme are already included in 
the council’s base budget for environment services, relating to commitments made in 
prior years where savings have been delayed (resulting in an existing ongoing 
budget pressure).  Addressing the current overspend/budget pressure will be the first 
call on the new ongoing savings identified for Tranche 1A.  Existing committed 
savings relating to Tranches 2 and 3 will be considered as part of the savings 
validation of those Tranches. New programme savings (over and above those 
already included in the council’s savings plans) will be factored into the council’s 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 5 Yr Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Savings - Tranche 1A (validated) * 238 940 1,492 1,684 1,684 6,039

Savings - Tranche 1B, 2 & 3 

(not yet validated)
97 1,372 2,364 2,364 2,364 8,560

Total ongoing savings 336 2,311 3,856 4,048 4,048 14,598

Ongoing costs** (not yet validated) 198 442 442 442 442 1,965

Estimated net ongoing savings 138 1,870 3,414 3,606 3,606 12,633

One-off Investment*** (not yet validated) 1,526 1,067 516 243 0 3,352

Ongoing savings net of one-off investment (1,388) 803 2,898 3,363 3,606 9,281

Cumulative savings/(cost) (1,388) (585) 2,313 5,675 9,281

*These figures include approximately £131k of non-cashable savings (costs avoided from bringing services back in-house)
**Net increase in annual IT costs (£0.115m) and new annual staffing costs (£0.327m). Ongoing IT costs assumed to start in Year 2. Year 1 

costs are part year costs.
***Programme Resources (£1.427m), Specialist advice and interim support (£0.295m), Technology (£1.325m), 10% Contingency (£0.304m)

Page 39



 
 

base budget as part of the annual medium-term financial strategy process. The 
validation of Tranches 2 and 3 will also confirm the level of Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA) savings and a corresponding HRA contribution to the required 
investment. 
 
The business case has been informed by benchmarking with local authorities that 
have successfully delivered programmes of this nature and associated specialist 
expertise of consultancy firm 31Ten who have supported development of the plan.  
The Council is building its capability to undertake this sort of work and most of the 
design work for phase two will be delivered in house. However, a procurement 
exercise is underway to provide for further consultancy support to ensure that the 
programme stays on track and where specialist expertise is needed e.g. getting the 
very best deal on new contracts for IT system development.     
 
Lead member accountability for the programme is being jointly provided by the 
cabinet leads for Finance and Public Service Reform.   
 
 
Legal Implications 
 
There are no legal implications for this report which seeks Member approval for the 
business case and delivery plan and the investment of £3.352m from one-off council 
reserves which is required to deliver the project.  
 
Contact Officers: 
Name: Nicola Ellis  
Position: Assistant Director, Residents’ Service 
Telephone: 07776673095 

Email: nicola.ellis@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Name: Sukvinder Kalsi 
Position: Head of Finance – the environment 
Telephone: 0208 753 2203 
Email: sukvinder.kalsi@lbhf.gov.uk 
Telephone: 020 8753 3145  
Verified by Emily Hill, Director of Finance 
 
Name: Janette Mullins 
Position: Chief Solicitor (Litigation and Social Care) 
Telephone: 020 8753 2744 
Email: Janette.mullins@lbhf.gov.uk  
 

 
Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
None. 
 
 
DETAILED ANALYSIS 
 
Background  

Page 40

mailto:nicola.ellis@lbhf.gov.uk
mailto:sukvinder.kalsi@lbhf.gov.uk
mailto:Janette.mullins@lbhf.gov.uk


 
 

 
1. Detailed planning work to set out a clear business case and delivery plan for 

the transformation of residents’ services across the Council took place during 
2019.  An associated governance and delivery structure for a Resident 
Experience and Access programme was established in June 2019 to assure 
the quality and viability of this plan and oversee successful delivery.  The 
programme is currently being led by the Environment Directorate with a joint 
management arrangement with Finance and the full involvement of all service 
Departments.  This reflects phase one of the programme that is focused on 
delivery of the digital infrastructure and corporate customer services needed 
for the programme and transforming the universal and transactional services 
provided by this Directorate.  Phase two of the programme is being led by 
Social Care and Public Health as the focus is on residents and families that 
need targeted support.  The design work undertaken represents an 
unprecedented level of collaborative work across the Council.   
 

2. At every stage, co-production will be used to make sure that the new 
arrangements for residents’ access make it easier for all residents to interact 
with the council and get help and support. There are three main programme 
deliverables: 

 the biggest programme of digital development for front line service 
delivery the Council has ever embarked on 

 the bringing together and improvement of telephone and face to face 
customer services 

 the development of associated policies and our operating model for 
how our services will work together more closely to more effectively 
and efficiently meet needs in the future – including the Council’s key 
priority to demonstrate compassion to residents and families in need 

 
3. The programme is now ready to move to its delivery phase. It has completed 

detailed work to remodel service delivery for the main aspect of phase one 
and plans to complete design work for phase two by the end of October 2020.  
The programme has set a target for digital delivery from its current low base 
level of 32% to 60% by April 2023 in line with best performing Council’s.  

 
Proposals and Analysis of Options  
 
4. The main proposal for consideration is the approval to move to the delivery 

stage of this large-scale transformation programme and the associated 
required one-off investment of £3.352m. 

 
5. There is only one alternative option.  That is to deliver the much slower and 

smaller scale level of digital service development and improved customer 
services that would be achieved through a business as usual and a siloed 
service approach.  This option has been rejected for the following reasons: 

 Hammersmith and Fulham would continue to offer a relatively poor 
level of digital service delivery in terms of the range, depth and 
accessibility of what is on offer on-line.  The business as usual 

Page 41



 
 

approach would not be able to secure the vital enabling IT 
infrastructure that is required nor the rapid service by service 
development that is needed.   

 We will not be able to meet our residents’ expectations in respect of 
customer experience. Our residents expect to be able to access all our 
services digitally at any time and from any device. 

 The Council will not be able to demonstrate financial efficiency in 
delivery across the wide range of front-line services within the scope of 
the programme. It will not achieve the largest scale saving to its 
revenue budget that is available to the Council over the next medium 
term.     

 There will be a siloed and piecemeal approach to service development 
that will not provide the assurance, consistency and joined up 
management that is needed around co-produced change, effective, 
safe and equitable channel shift management and a corporate 
approach and standard that is needed to develop the Council’s contact 
centre function and front door service offer.   

 Both short and longer-term business requirements must be managed 
within the wider context of a clear and detailed programme of this kind 
if they are to be designed and scaled correctly, including the return of 
contracted corporate contact service in house from November 2020 
and delivery of the range and level of front door services operating from 
the new Civic Campus in the longer term.   

 There is a need to evolve and better join up our ‘compassionate 
Council’ service offer which is working towards achieving shared 
prosperity for all residents, particularly assisting those most excluded 
from it.  It is this aspect of the programme that will be unique to 
Hammersmith and Fulham.   

 A reduced scale and pace of delivery will compromise business 
continuity through digital access that can be delivered to cope with a 
major event or crisis, including the risk of a further pandemic related 
lockdown.     

 
Context  
 
6. Annually, the Council has over 1.7m interactions with its residents and 

businesses, many of whom receive multiple services. Residents are keen to 
interact with the Council in a modern, joined up and streamlined way.  Most 
now expect access online, wherever and whenever suits them, as the norm 
and this is also key to the further delivery of efficiency savings over the 
medium term. 
 

7. In June 2019, a review of the way residents access and engage with all 
services that the Council provides was completed.  The review considered all 
channels: digital; telephone; mail; and face-to-face.  It concluded that there is 
very limited consistency in the way resident contact is managed across the 

Page 42



 
 

Council and IT arrangements supporting resident access are complex and 
fragmented with costs high compared to other authorities.  
 

8. For example, there are multiple contact centres which deliver different levels 
of service and experience to residents. The digital offer is limited with many 
services relying on downloadable PDFs and emails to process service 
requests or paper and/or physical infrastructure. Residents and managers of 
services are unable to track requests digitally. There is an over reliance on 
non-digital channels for chasing and processing evidence leading to delays 
and inefficiency.  
 

9. This review also set out an overview business case for the programme and 
the Council’s Strategic Leadership Team mandated continued work to validate 
the business case with a further level of analysis and re-design work for the 
first and biggest tranche of service development that incorporates the biggest 
of residents’ services provided by the environment department.  
 

10. The Council’s Resident Experience and Access Programme was formed at 
this time to provide the required governance and leadership to oversee this 
work.  As a result, a summary of the detailed business and delivery plan that 
has been completed is attached in Appendix 1.    

 
Aims and vision of the programme 
 

11. The Resident Experience and Access Programme sets out a vision that not 
only improves access but also improves experience for residents, businesses, 
partners, staff and Councillors whilst also delivering substantial financial 
efficiencies.  

 
12. This is a transformational programme.  A significant aspect of transformation 

is about significantly extending the breadth and depth of services that can be 
delivered on-line, learning from Councils that have managed to do this well 
including the application of cutting- edge technology.  The other significant 
aspect of transformation is unique to Hammersmith and Fulham.  It is focused 
on ensuring equitable access for all residents and developing a new single 
front door operating model for delivering the Council’s ‘compassionate service 
offer’.  This will putting community-based solutions at the front and centre 
developing the assets that have been developed in responding to Covid-19.       

  
13. The programme has the following aims: 

 To provide a consistent approach and standard for resident access 
across all Council services. 

 To bring more Council services online so that residents can self-serve 
from initial contact to fulfilment and move towards digital service 
solutions. 

 To provide an assisted digital offer so that disabled residents and those 
who are digitally excluded can continue to access the services they 
need. 

Page 43



 
 

 Provide joined up, targeted and practical support for vulnerable 
residents that need our compassion and assistance.   

 To realise the expected savings and other benefits of the programme. 
 
14. The wider vision for the service is set out in pages 7 to 9 of Appendix 1.  
 
 

Case for Change 
 

15. An overview of the case for change is set out below. 

Strategic fit, 
building on 
progress so 

far 

 The Council’s strategic priorities and business plan set a clear 
direction of how the Council would like to interact with Residents 
including improving digital technology to make it quicker and easier 
for Residents to contact the Council. 

 Like many others, the Council us under pressure to be ‘ruthlessly 
financially efficient’. There is scope to drive financial savings by 
changing the way Residents access services because digital 
transactions are cheaper and there is scope to move more online. 

  

Variable 
Resident 

Experience 

 There is no overall approach to Resident Access across the Council 
and current performance varies. 

 It is difficult for Residents to navigate the Council’s ‘front ‘door’. There 
are multiple telephone numbers, email addresses and postal 
addresses. 

 Website content is often unclear or difficult to navigate, resulting in 
high volumes of calls into the Council 

 There is limited or no ability to ‘track’ the progress of a service 
request, leading to high volumes of calls from Residents who are 
often highly stressed or frustrated. 

  

Residents’ 
needs have 

changed 

 Expectations of the way Residents access the Council’s services is 
changing. 

 Residents are more willing and able to transact digitally. 

 Resident choice for accessing the Council’s services is restricted as 
the Council’s digital offer is limited beyond viewing My Account, 
reporting issues, completing payment transactions and come simple 
applications. 

  

Limited 
digital offer 

 Many services still rely on e-forms, downloadable PDF forms or 
emails. 

 Email or face-to-face channels are heavily relied on for processing 
evidence. 

 Non-digital payment channels are regularly offered (e.g. cheques or 
card payments over the phone). Many services still rely on paper or 
physical infrastructure to deliver services which other Councils no 
longer use and generate additional cost and process (e.g. paper 
billing, paper permits, pay and display machines). 

  

Fragmented, 
high cost 
Enterprise 

 Resident Access is fragmented and costly to the Council. There are 
multiple forms packages in place across the Council which generate 

Page 44



 
 

Architecture additional cost and inconsistency in the Resident Experience. 

 The Council has recently migrated to Firmstep but is not currently 
maximising the rich functionality it provides, leading to duplication in 
workload and cost. 

 Limited or no integration with Line of Business systems leading to 
substantial manual re-keying by staff. 

 Lack of innovation such as use of online web-chat facility to support 
demand management. 

 
16. The Council’s strategic priorities and business plan set a clear direction of 

how the Council would like to interact with residents, including improving 
digital technology to make it quicker and easier for residents to contact the 
Council. 
 

17. Like many others, the Council is under pressure to be ‘ruthlessly financially 
efficient’. There is scope to drive financial savings by changing the way 
residents access services because digital transactions are cheaper and there 
is scope to move more online.  
 

18. There is no overall approach to or standard for resident access across the 
Council and current performance varies leading to variable and sometimes 
confusing resident experience. It is difficult for residents to navigate the 
Council’s ‘front door’ and there are multiple telephone numbers, emails and 
postal addresses. Website content is often unclear, out-of-date or difficult to 
navigate, resulting in high volumes of calls into the Council. There is limited or 
no ability to ‘track’ the progress of a service request, leading to high volumes 
of calls from residents who are often highly stressed or frustrated. 
 

19. Expectations of the way residents access the Council’s services is changing. 
Residents are keen to transact digitally but they are restricted by the Council’s 
digital offer which is limited beyond viewing My Account, which allows 
residents to report certain issues, make some payments and complete some 
simple applications. 
 

20. The Council’s digital offer is limited and behind many others in the sector. 
Many services still rely on paper or physical infrastructure to deliver services 
which other councils no longer use and generate additional cost and 
processes (e.g. paper permits).  
 

21. Resident access is fragmented and its enterprise architecture costly to the 
Council. There are multiple form packages which generate additional cost and 
inconsistency in the resident experience. The Council has recently migrated to 
Firm-Step but is not currently maximising the rich functionality it provides, 
leading to duplication in workload and cost. 
 
Proposed operating model 

 
22. The new operating model is underpinned by a standard framework for 

handling and managing all future resident contacts so that there is a more 
consistent resident experience across services.  

Page 45



 
 

 
23. Although every service within the Council is different, resident journey types 

are largely consistent and fall into a handful of categories: Information, Advice 
& Signposting; Report it; Apply for it; Pay for it; Book it; Updates and 
Changes; and Track.  
 

24. The proposed operating model is based on a standard framework for these 
categories that the Council can use to increase resident satisfaction, create a 
more consistent experience, reduce cost and create change at pace within the 
organisation.  

25. In practical terms what this means for residents is: 
 
Each resident will have their own account, accessible at any time from their 
laptop, tablet or smartphone. Upon securely logging into their account, they 
will see information pertinent to them such as: 

 Their next waste collection date and their next street cleansing date 

 Their council tax bill and an option to make an immediate online 
payment 

 Any planning applications within their vicinity and the opportunity to 
provide feedback or raise an objection 

 
If a resident wants to report an issue such as a fly tip or a planning 
enforcement issue, they can do so on a smart Web Form, which will display 
any existing incidents that have already been reported on a map view. If the 
incident: 

 Has already been reported, the resident can sign up for an e-mail or 
SMS alert when the Council have cleared the incident 

 Has not been previously reported, the resident can complete a Web 
Form and attach a photograph of the incident. The resident will 
immediately receive a reference number and timeframe by which the 
incident will be resolved.  They will subsequently receive e-mails or 
SMS alerts providing status updates until the incident is cleared.  

 
If a resident wants to make an application, such as for Housing Benefit, they 
can do so online by using smart Web Forms that will: 

 Validate the information they have entered 

 Save progress so they can complete the form later 

 Track the progress of their application from start to finish 

 Allow evidence and documents to be uploaded to support the 
application 

 
If a resident has difficulty completing the online form or finding the information 
they require on our website, they can speak to us through webchat. Simple 
enquiries through webchat will be answered with artificial intelligence but 
more complex will be dealt with by a resident advisor. 

 

Page 46



 
 

If the resident needs help to complete the application, they can call or visit, 
and resident advisors will be able to see the progress made by the resident 
and help them complete the form. Once a benefit application has been 
approved, the resident will be automatically alerted by e-mail or SMS. 

 
Residents will also be able to sign up to, in accordance with data protection 
legislation, Council communications that they may have an interest in or 
notifications from Council partners such as the Police. 

 
If a resident contacts the Council by telephone or face to face they will speak 
to one of our generic resident advisors who will have access to the 
information and knowledge to be able to answer the enquiry at the first point 
of contact. This will be for multiple services and the advisor will identify all the 
services that the resident needs e.g. on moving into the borough. Where this 
is not possible, they will hand over to the relevant specialists, but this will be 
by exception and as agreed with the service. 

 
26. For local businesses, this means that they will have their own account 

tailored to business needs. This can present pertinent information on logging 
on such as details of their business rates account and details about business 
seminars.  
 

27. For Council partners, this means that they can have their own account 
enabling them to log service requests on behalf of their clients. 
 

28. For resident advisors this means that staff dealing with customer contact 
will: 

 Have one system where they can manage and see all interactions with 
the resident. This will reduce the time it takes for a resident advisor to 
become multi-skilled across services 

 No longer double or triple handle information. They will use the same 
forms as the customer to report an issue raised via telephone / face-to-
face. These forms will integrate straight into the service area back 
office systems 

 Have access to status updates and therefore give the customer up to 
date information as to the progress of their request 

 Become data rich allowing analysis of customer reports to inform 
service improvement. 

 
29. For service areas this means services will: 

 Receive validated and complete information into their back-office 
system from the resident or resident services. This means they can 
deliver the requested service without the need to contact the customer 
for more information  

 Receive consistent and structured information across all contact 
channels (telephony, face-to-face and online will effectively use the 
same Web Forms)  

Page 47



 
 

 No longer need to field follow up or progress chasing calls. Residents 
will be given service levels at the point of contact and automatic status 
updates. If a resident still calls, resident services will be able to handle 
the request 

 Receive less duplicated requests through better information available 
on maps at the point of contact 

 Remove the need to double handle information or data as a result of 
integration. 

 
30. For Councillors this means: 

 Councillors will have their own Councillor Account that will allow them 
to raise requests on behalf of residents in their ward, view when the 
request is due to be completed (i.e. the service level) and its current 
status  

 Be able to see all reported incidents, in line with data protection 
legislation, in their ward 

 As per the Resident Account, requests raised from the Councillor 
Account will be integrated and sent to the right service team and the 
right system. Councillors will therefore know their requests are queued 
and ready to be reviewed by the services. Councillors will pro-actively 
receive e-mail notifications or can log into their account to see an 
update, meaning they no longer need to ‘chase’ for an update  

 By being able to view all reported incidents within their ward, 
Councillors will be able to hold more meaningful, evidential based 
engagement with residents, businesses and the Council itself. 

 
Benefits  

 
31. A new operating model for Resident Access will deliver the following benefits: 

 Resident choice. 

 A better quality, more consistent, joined up and efficient service for 
residents. 

 The ability to deliver more value and shape services by predicting and 
anticipating needs through improved analytics. 

 Lower delivery costs. 

 Reductions in failure demand. 

 Process improvements and standards. 

 Better use of resources and significant savings. 
 
32. Once an enhanced digital solution is available online, pro-active channel shift 

initiatives can commence. As residents increasingly self-serve online, the 
volume of contacts coming into the Council that require a staff response will 
reduce enabling a channel shift saving. 
 

Page 48



 
 

33. As residents’ online activity is integrated with Line of Business systems, it is 
possible to generate efficiencies in the middle office processing team, for 
example removing re-keying applications into Line of Business systems, or 
validation by exception, thereby achieving a middle office processing saving. 
 

34. As services reach greater levels of digital delivery, it is possible to reduce 
non-FTE costs such as printing, postage or other non-digital infrastructure 
such as pay and display machines. The impact of this is quantified as non-
FTE saving. 
 
Key details  

 
35. The following details from Appendix 1 are highlighted and support this 

proposal. 
 

36. The overarching vision for the future service offer is set out on page 5. 
 

37. Current and future planned contact volumes are set out on pages 17 and 18.   
A summary is set out in table 2 below. 

 
                             Table 2: Modelled and Validated Channel Shift Targets 

Service 

Current Channel Mix Target Channel Mix 

Digital 
Non-

Digital 
Digital 

Non-
Digital 

Council tax 53% 47% 80% 20% 

Benefits 24% 76% 60% 40% 

Business rates 5% 95% 40% 60% 

Parking 41% 59% 70% 30% 

Permits 31% 69% 80% 20% 

Cleaner greener 28% 72% 80% 20% 

Accessible transport 0% 100% 70% 30% 

Total  40% 60% 73% 27% 

 
 

38. The detailed benefits breakdown in terms of each aspect of change that will 
deliver savings for the first phase of the programme is set out on 41.  These 
savings are supported by detailed plans that fully involved environment 
services, IT and finance.   

 

Page 49



 
 

39. An overview of the programme’s investment plan is on page 44 and an 
overview of the and the planned phasing of the programme is set out on page 
52.   
 
 
Options 

 
Option A 

 
40. Approve investment of £3.352m to mobilise the delivery plan, enabling a full 

technical change specification leading to construction and build, piloting and 
bedding down of the new operating model. 

 
 

 
41. This option is expected to deliver an estimated cumulative net saving of 

£9.281m by the end of 2024/25 (including a full annual reoccurring saving of 
£3.414m from April 2022) along with substantially improved resident 
experience and access. 

 
 

Option B 
 
42. Close the programme, mandate business as usual to manage improvements 

to resident experience and access. 
 

43. This approach is not recommended as it will lead to a fragmented response 
by services with no strategic oversight or corporate standard and limited 
efficiency savings. 
 
Recommendation 

 
44. Option A, to approve investment of £3.352m to move to the delivery phase of 

the programme. This will be subject to the governance, checks and balances 
set out in this report.   

 
Reasons for Decision 

 
45. The reason for the recommendation is to deliver the very substantial more for 

less agenda set out in this report including a cumulative net saving of 
£9.281m by the end of 2024/25.  This incorporates an expected annual 
reoccurring saving of £3.414m from April 2022 (subject to validation of all 
costs and the second phase of savings).  The programme will deliver very 
substantial improvements in the level and range and accessibility of Council 
services that are available online that is now expected by residents as the 
norm and an improvement in wider customer services that will delight our 
residents.   Further  the programme is committed to ensuring that as a result 
of the change that is delivered council services are easier, not harder, for 
disabled residents to access.    

 

Page 50



 
 

Equality Implications  
 
46. The key equalities considerations for the programme are assuring 

accessibility and channel choice for all the Council’s services. Details are set 
out in the programmes initial Equality Impact Assessment in Appendix 3.    

 
47. This consideration will be reviewed and updated at key stages of the 

programme.  Assuring an equitable resident experience is a key focal point for 
a dedicated residents’ implementation group that is part of the programme’s 
delivery structure. Overall, the programme aims to deliver improved resident 
experience and access for all residents of the borough.   
 
Implications verified/completed by: Fawad Bhatti, Social Inclusion and Policy 
Manager, Tel: 07500103617, email: Fawad.Bhatti@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
 
 
Risk Management Implications 

 
48. There are major risks associated with both the technical development and 

wider change management required by a programme of this breadth and 
scale.  Risks to delivering financial and service quality benefits and ensuring 
programme resources are used effectively also require careful management.   
 

49. A range of arrangements have been put into place for this programme to 
assure effective risk management including: 

 A governance and delivery programme structure that is a partnership 
between Environment, Finance, Digital services and Corporate 
Services.  

 IT system specification, development and procurement that will be led 
by Corporate Digital services to ensure it is fully aligned to corporate 
requirements and plans.  

 Formation of a dedicated residents’ implementation group to assure 
change is co-produced and accessibility and choice for all residents is 
at the forefront of the programme.   

 Roll out in a phased approach using a robust and consistent change 
journey methodology and taking a service by service approach to 
assure safe touchdown of the change.   

 Finance led evaluation, approval, monitoring and reporting of the 
programme’s budget tied to wider evaluation of delivery at key gates of 
the programme.   

 Compliance with IT category management and corporate procurement 
requirements for all commissioned services.   

 Monthly oversight and review at the Council’s Strategic Leadership 
Team Programme Board and associated lead member(s) review and 
call in where required.  A review of past quarter and approval of the 
next quarter spend will require Finance and Lead Member sign off.   

Page 51



 
 

 
Implications verified/completed by: Mike Sloniowski: 07500103617, email: 
michael.sloniowski@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Digital Services Implications 

 
50. IT implications: implementing the Resident Experience and Access 

Programme will have extensive and wide-ranging implications for multiple 
systems in use around the council and Digital services involvement in the 
programme has been outlined in the Risk management implications above. 
Digital services fully support the vision of the programme as well as the need 
for significant investment in both systems configuration, and procurement if 
necessary, in order to fully unlock our investment in this area.  This needs to 
take place alongside robust programme resourcing, cultural change 
management and training to ensure that the benefits of this investment are 
not lost. 
 

51. The programme will enable far-reaching automation and digitisation of 
services which will deliver a more consumer-based experience that many 
people are used to and expect from their interaction with private 
organisations. Where people need more supported interaction this will also be 
possible by blending technology and human delivery to create a joined-up 
experience for residents, businesses, visitors, and Councillors. 
 

52. IM implications: (a) Privacy Impact Assessment(s) should be carried out to 
ensure that all the potential data protection risks around implementing this 
programme are properly assessed with mitigating actions agreed and 
implemented. Mitigations could include contract data protection and 
processing schedules or information sharing agreements. Supplier Security 
Questionnaires (SSQs) must be completed to ensure the systems used by the 
any third parties comply with H&F’s regulatory and information security 
requirements. 
 

53. Any suppliers appointed as a result of this report will be expected to have a 
Data Protection policy in place and all staff will be expected to have received 
Data Protection training. 
 

54. Any contracts arising from this report will need to include H&F’s data 
protection and processing schedule. This is compliant with Data Protection 
law (the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 2016; and the Data 
Protection Act (DPA) 2018).  
 
Implications verified by: Veronica Barella, Chief Digital Officer, Tel 020 8753 
2927 

 
Other Implications  

 
55. The programme will oversee a significant level of procurement for the goods 

and services that are required and its governance arrangements will ensure 

Page 52



 
 

that there is full compliance with the Council’s procurement framework and 
that the use of existing resources is maximised.  

 
56. All major changes to front line services that the programme specifies for 

delivery will be subject to the Council’s reporting and decision-making 
requirements including, where appropriate, reporting to Cabinet.    
 
Consultation 

 
57. Details any consultation which has taken place with appropriate external 

bodies, the local community, unions, staff, partners, etc. Do not include 
reference to internal consultation. 

 
  

Page 53



 
 

List of Appendices: 
 

Appendix 1 -  Resident Experience and Access Programme - Full Business 
Case and Delivery Plan 2021-2025 

Appendix 2 -  Resident Experience and Access Programme – Phase 2 High 
Level Design Prospect 

Appendix 3 -  Resident Experience and Access Programme – Initial Equalities 
Impact Assessment  

Page 54



Appendix 1 
Resident Access and Experience  Programme

Business Case and Delivery Plan 

January 2020 

1

P
age 55



2

Section/Contents Page Number(s)

Executive Summary   3-9

Section 1: Introduction

Approach, scope and key findings 13-18

Section 2: Case for Change and Vision

Case for change 19-22

Vision for Resident Access 22-31

Future IT Enterprise Architecture 32-35

Section 3: Costs and Benefits

Summary benefits and investments 37

Benefit opportunities, quantification approach and findings 38-43

Investment quantification approach and findings 44-48

Return on Investment profile 49

Section 4: Programme Plan

Implementation approach and programme plan on a page 51-53

Implementation plan for tranche 1 A services 54-55

Workstream descriptors  56-59

Risks and Mitigation 60-61

Key next steps 62

Contents

P
age 56



Executive Summary

3

P
age 57



Our aims 
1. To provide a consistent approach and standard for Resident Access across all 

Council services.
2. To bring more Council services online so that Residents can self-serve from initial 

contact to fulfilment & move towards digital solutions.
3. To provide an Assisted Digital offer along-side consolidated telephone and face to 

face services where needed - so that disabled residents and those who are 
digitally excluded can access the services they need in a way that works best for 
them.

4. Providing joined up, targeted and practical support for vulnerable residents that 
need our compassion and assistance.  

5. To deliver the forecasted benefits for the programme.

This will involve:
• Implementing largest programme of digital work H&F has ever delivered
• Delivering cultural change in how we interact with our residents/our customers
• Offering modern services on-line
• Automating to improve convenience for residents
• Offering telephone and tailored face-to-face services for those who need it
• Focusing existing resources and significant additional one- off investment. 
• Cumulative savings of £8.5m over 5 years

4

Introduction
Executive Summary

Key benefits
• We will provide more services online so that 

Residents can self-serve and track from initial 
contact to fulfilment and at a cheaper cost to 
the Council.

• Deliver a common customer experience across 
the Council. 

• Get service delivery right first time and provide 
support where it is needed at the right time

• Integrate systems with our ‘front door’ to 
reduce inconvenience for customers and 
improve efficiency for our staff 

• Release staff to support better demand 
management and income generation

• Introduce new digital models such as e-billing 
and 

• Reduce production, maintenance and postal 
costs 

Resident Access is the way Residents access and engage with all services that the Council provides. It involves all the ways Residents 
can contact the Council: Digital; Telephone; Mail; and Face-to-Face. The Resident Access Programme (RAP) aims to transform all the 
experience residents have of contacting us through these channels. 

P
age 58



5

Executive Summary

The Resident Access Programme will be the biggest transformation and digital development programme that the 
Council has ever delivered. It will ensure that the Council provides high quality services that its residents and 
businesses can rely on.  The programme will put Hammersmith and Fulham at the forefront of what Council’s are 
providing on-line.

The programme will play a vital role in continuing to deliver the Council’s vision and priorities . The Council’s commitment to being 
Ruthlessly Financially Efficient will be met through digital development and bringing together our telephone and face to face 
services.   This will remove the current siloed approach that is unable to deliver savings or the smooth and reliable experience that is 
needed for all the Council’s customers.  The programme will also ensure we deliver on a range of both immediate and longer term 
imperatives including a successful return to in- house delivery of our corporate contact centre this year and making the best use of the 
new Civic Campus when it opens..  

The programme will deliver on the Council’s commitment to doing things with residents not to them.   It will establish a dedicated 
residents implementation group that will ensure we achieve the very highest standards of digital access for disabled residents and get 
the pace of change right around channel shift and continuity of channel choice.   The programme will be led by the resident and 
customer experience and what matters most to them including continued improvement around complaints, enquiries and customer 
care.  Access to the Council will become a much more individualised, simpler and smoother experience with customers having their
own accounts which are accessible from laptops, tablets and mobiles.  We will also develop  interactive reporting and web application 
forms.   

In order to achieve our vision it is essential we invest significantly in our IT – infrastructure, web development and service systems –
and co-ordinate this work. We must also ensure that we have a well organised and resourced programme that can manage the wider 
change that is needed including staff management, co-production, communications and culture change.

The first phase of the programme is the transformation of our large scale universal and transactional services that are mainly 
delivered by the Environment Department. These services are crucial ones to both residents and businesses.

The second phase will turn attention to delivery of more complex services, including access to housing, social care, planning
services and adult education and employment services. The new digital capability and consolidated services secured in the first 
phase will be essential to the development of those services in the second phase. This second phase of the programme will be 
essential to the evolution of what we provide as a compassionate Council, tackling unfairness and promoting prosperity.

Vision

P
age 59



Resident Access is the way Residents access and engage with all services that the Council provides. It involves all the ways 
Residents can contact the Council: Digital; Telephone; Mail; and Face-to-Face.

In February 2019, an outline business case (OBC) was approved by SLT which set out a vision for improving the way Residents 
access services. A second phase of work began in September 2019 in which the following activities were complete:
• Re-validation of costs and contact volumes for Resident Access.
• Design of Resident Journeys for Resident Services and Environment accounting for around 1m contacts (called Tranche 1A 

services).
• Engagement with other services with significant volumes: Environment (remaining services), Housing, Adult Social Care, 

Economy and Children’s Services – accounting for 0.7m contacts (Tranches 1B, 2 & 3).
• Design of future operating model for Resident Access (including a new digital channel and a consolidated contact centre).
• Quantification of benefits and investment costs to deliver the changes (including ROI analysis).
• An overall implementation plan to secure the benefits identified in this phase.

6

The story so far

Telephone 
channel

Digital 
channel

Face-to-face 
channel

Email/letter 
channel

My 
Account Payments Revs & 

Bens CC
Rochdale

CC
Other CC 

x16
145 King 

Street

Housing 
area 

offices

Multiple 
email 

addresses

Multiple 
postal 

addresses

Multiples 
Eforms

487,351 contacts

29%
774,164 contacts

46%
160,368 contacts

9%
265,282 contacts

16%

Registrars

Executive Summary

The Council is currently contacted over 1.7m times a year through the following channels.

P
age 60



7

Key findings from the review of Resident Access
• There is very little consistency in the way 

Resident contact is managed across the Council. 
• There are multiple contact centres which deliver 

different levels of service and experience to 
Residents.

• Currently there is a very limited digital offer -
many services still rely on e-forms, downloadable 
PDFs and emails to process service requests.

• Digital fulfilment is limited - in many cases 
requests for service are not integrated into Line of 
Business systems leading to wide-spread re-
keying.

• Many services rely on paper and/or physical 
infrastructure which many other Councils do not 
use (for example, paper permits, paper billing, 
drop off desks etc.).

• Residents normally can't track requests for 
services digitally resulting in many unnecessary 
calls into the Council.

• There is an over reliance on non-digital channels 
for chasing and processing evidence.

• The IT arrangements supporting resident access 
are complex, fragmented and high cost to deliver.

Front-office 
consolidation

(£119k) 

Middle office 
processing

(£462k)

T1A

Channel shift
(£474k)

Non-FTE 
reduction
(£630k)

c. 1m contacts

£1.7m benefits

T1B, 2 & 3

c. 700k contacts 
(+mail and other e-forms)

Up to £2.35m forecasted 
benefits

(dependent on alignment of 
existing savings 

programmes)

Programme resources (£1.9m-£2.3m)

IT investment (£800k) IT investment (c. £500k)

Contingency @ 20%

Summary benefits and investments 

Key findings
Executive Summary

The box on the right summarises the findings from the Resident Journey workshops around the current position for Resident 
Access. The diagram on the right hand side shows the breakdown of benefits that can be achieved and investments required if the 
Resident Access programme is delivered. . 

P
age 61



Forecast benefits
• We have identified benefits of £1.7m 

per annum for Tranche 1A and we 
continue to forecast benefits of up to 
£2.35m per annum in Tranches 1B, 
2 and 3.

• Engagement work with Tranches 1B, 
2 and 3 services suggests there are 
significant opportunities for 
digitization and consolidation of 
resident contact. Care needs to be 
taken to ensure a consistent 
approach to benefit realisation.

• One-off investment of £3.4m to 
realise the benefits.

• Over a five-year period the 
cumulative saving is £9.3m using 
the top (most expensive) investment 
range.

8

Full Business Case Benefits

Annual 
recurring 
benefits 

Up to 
£4m £3.4m

One off 
investment 

Net Savings 
Generating by 

end of 

Year 3 £9.3m

Cumulative 
5yr saving

Benefits and investments summary – from 2020/1

Executive Summary

P
age 62



Standard Framework for understanding 
resident contact
• Most Council processes associated with Resident Access fall under one of five Resident Journeys
• We have a standard framework for how each of these Resident Journeys could be delivered through the digital channel
• This is to drive consistency in the Resident’s experience of all Council services
• The standard framework will help to design all future Resident Journeys

9

Report it – Where a Resident wants to report an issue (e.g. 
missed bin)

Apply for it – Where a Resident want to apply or re-apply 
for a service (e.g. Blue Badge)

Pay for it – Where a Resident wants to pay for something 
(e.g. Council Tax or Penalty Charge Notice)

Book it – Where a Resident wants to book something (e.g. 
sports hall venue hire)

Updates and changes – Where a Resident wants to report 
a change of circumstances or update their details (e.g. 
changing address, change in income affecting a benefits 
claim)

Executive Summary

Key benefits of this 
framework 

• Allows the Council to 
understand and measure its 
contact in a consistent way 

• Able to manage customer 
experience in a consistent 
way across multiple complex 
service areas 

• Online forms and customer 
journey’s can be scaled 
across the organisation 
quickly 

• Changes can be easily 
managed and maintained 

• Staff can work more flexibly 
across different service areas 

P
age 63



Key outcomes from the 
programme

10

Executive Summary

The Resident Access 
programme will deliver:

 A new operating model 
for Resident contact 
including a consolidated 
contact centre to support 
telephony and face-to-
face.

 A significantly enhanced 
digital offer for Residents.

 New high quality Assisted 
Digital services focused 
on vulnerable groups.

 A new, enhanced and 
consistent Enterprise 
Architecture across the 
Council.

Digital

Our 
residents

Face-to-faceTelephone & Mail

Resident Account & Portal

Report it

Information, advice & signposting

Apply for 
it Pay for it Book it

Track & Intelligent Outbound

Collaborative platforms, automation and case management

Updates & 
Changes

Service Delivery

Our 
Customers

Self-serve Assisted Digital

New Resident Access operating model for Hammersmith and Fulham Council

P
age 64



This work has validated that a programme of transformational change is required to deliver the anticipated benefits. At this key
milestone, the Council faces a number of key risks:
• Maintaining momentum is now key - there is a real enthusiasm from services for this programme, at the same time many 

teams are skeptical that the Council can deliver cross cutting programmes of change - this is an important test. 
• Timelines - programme timelines are achievable but challenging. Benefits delivery is dependent upon the Council progressing 

delivery.
• Programme resources - the programme is complex to deliver and requires a range of policy, behavioural, process, technology 

changes to deliver - it is vital resources are put into place to support programme delivery.
• Benefits & costs - many of the benefits outlined in this document are not deliverable without upfront investment.  Benefit 

targets have been agreed with services (and reflect the experience of other authorities) however there is a risk that benefits 
realisation will require careful management to drive through the required channel shift.

• Double counting  - there are a number of potentially 'competing' change programmes running in the Council - care will need to 
ensure that the programmes run consistently without duplication of investment or benefits to mitigate this risk.

11

Key risks and next steps

This report therefore recommends that the council proceeds with the following key next steps:
• Ensure the right programme resources are in place to support the implementation of the programme
• Commence implementation of Tranche 1A
• Roll out design of Tranches 1B, 2 and 3
• Complete an IT roadmap to ensure access to and availability of IT software and resources to meet programme requirements

Executive Summary

P
age 65



Introduction

12

P
age 66



About this document

Resident Access is the way Residents access and engage with all services that the Council provides. It involves all the ways 
Residents can contact the Council: Digital; Phone; Mail; and Face-to-Face.

An outline business case (OBC) was initially prepared and approved by Senior Leadership Team (SLT) in February 2019 which set
out a vision for improving the way Residents access services. The OBC identified:
• 1.5 million Resident contacts were handled by the Council in 17/18.
• 32% of which were handled digitally.
• 60%+ of contacts could be handled digitally in the future.
• Estimated benefits of between £2m-£4m could be delivered.
• Estimated investments of between £3m-£4m would be required to deliver the benefits.

13

Purpose of this document
Section 1: 

Introduction
Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Following approval of the OBC, a second phase of work began in September 2019 focusing on more detailed analysis and design of 
the first tranche of services in scope (Tranche 1A) and further analysis and engagement with services across the Council (in 
Tranches 1B, 2 and 3).

This work has validated that a programme of transformational and organisational change is required to deliver the anticipated
benefits initially highlighted in the OBC. 

It is vital that the programme maintains momentum into 2020 onwards to secure the benefits identified. This report therefore 
recommends that the Council proceeds with mobilising the required resources to:
• Begin implementation for Tranche 1A services. 
• Complete the required design work for services within Tranches 1B, 2 and 3 to quantify benefits opportunities and investment 

requirements.
• Develop an IT roadmap for sourcing and purchasing the IT investments required to deliver the benefits opportunities.

P
age 67



Approach
This second phase of work took place over a 16-week period and involved the following activities:
• Re-validation of Resident Access costs and contact volumes.
• Design of Resident Journeys for Resident Services and Environment (Tranche 1A).
• Strategic engagement with all other major services: Environment (remaining services), Housing, Adult Social Care, Economy 

and Children’s Services (Tranches 1B, 2 and 3).
• Validation and refinement of the future operating model for Resident Access.
• Quantification of benefits opportunities and investment requirements to deliver the changes (including ROI analysis).
• An overall implementation plan to secure the benefits opportunities identified in this phase.

The below diagrams list out the key outcomes from this phase:

14

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

 Target Resident Journeys to transition 
into implementation.

 Agreed target channel profile for 
services.

 Agreed benefits opportunities and 
investment requirements which have 
been signed off with services, IT and 
Finance.

 Resourcing profile for a future 
programme team to deliver the 
implementation.

 Tested design approach for use in the 
next phase with T1B, 2 and 3 services.

 Services engagement and 
aligned to the programme.

 RAG assessment for each 
service of the benefits 
opportunity identified in OBC. 
This will required further 
validation in the design phase.

 Lead officer identified for each 
service to take the design work 
forward with in the next phase.

 Validated vision for Resident 
Access.

 Future Enterprise Architecture 
requirements with key next 
steps identified for developing 
an IT roadmap for procuring 
and purchasing new 
capability.

Tranche 1A Design Tranches 1B, 2 and 3 Engagement Future Operating Model

P
age 68



Services by Tranche
The table below lists Council services by Tranche. 

As Tranche 1 services were successfully mobilised during the OBC, it was agreed that these services would be prioritised for design 
in this second phase. These services were further split in Tranche 1A and 1B, with the design process for the former being 
completed by December 2019 and the latter following in Q4 19/20. 

Services within Tranches 2 and 3 would require further engagement to bring them into the programme and mobilise them for the 
design process during the next financial year. 

15

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Tranche 1A Tranche 1B Tranche 2 Tranche 3

Services • Council Tax 
Business Rates

• Benefits
• Parking
• Permits
• Cleaner Greener 
• Accessible 

Transport

• Regulatory Services
• Environmental Health
• Community Safety
• Highways
• Registrars
• In Touch
• Planning & Building 

Control 
• Mail Room

• Adult Social Care
• Housing

• Children’s
• Early Help
• Adult Education
• Any additional 

service activity

Total contact 
volumes (18/19) 1,002,343 164,928 459,473 60,421

P
age 69



16

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Through this phase of work a number of key assumptions were made in relation to contact volumes, benefits opportunities and 
investment costs. The box below details how these have been updated during this this phase of work.

Updated assumptions from this phase

• The overall contact volume and channel mix has remained broadly consistent across 17/18 and 18/19 with increases in some 
areas. 

• Deeper engagement with Tranches 1A services through the workshop process has revealed more activity than originally 
anticipated. We identified a significant increase in mail volumes as these are not all collected centrally. 

• As a result, contact volumes for Tranches 1A are higher than expected (9%). We expect a similar trend for Tranches 1B, 2 
and 3 when they go through the design phase.

• Digital fulfilment is low across Tranches 1A services. Even if a contact is handled digitally in the front-office, it regularly 
returns to a manual process in the service. We have therefore incorporated middle office processing efficiencies into our 
benefits calculations. This approach has further developed the methodology originally begun during the OBC.

• We have also expanded the scope of benefits further to include non-FTE cost avoidance and reduction. As services achieve 
greater levels of digital delivery, it is possible to reduce non-FTE costs such as printing, postage or other physical 
infrastructure such as pay and display machines. Productivity gains can also be re-invested into services to support income 
generation and focus on demand management and mis-use in order to reduce the cost of annual subsidies.

• Additional work on investments has been carried out, particularly with Residents Services and IT. Further work is required 
through implementation. Where uncertainties remain (e.g. precise costs of systems), we have used approximate figures and 
represented investments as a range.

• Both benefits (+5%) and investments (-5%) are broadly at the expected levels that were set out in the OBC.

Update on OBC assumptions

P
age 70



The Council is currently contacted over 1.7m times a year through the following channels.

The key points about Resident Access through these channels 
are:

Digital
• The Council's digital channel is comparatively underdeveloped.
• The website is not fully integrated and digital fulfilment is low, 

resulting in a comparatively low take up of this channel at 29%, 
of which approximately half are basic online payments.

Telephone
• There are ~200 contact telephone numbers published on the 

website.
• Calls are received in 18 ‘contact centres’ across the Council. 

Only 2 of these take calls from a range of services and a 
number of telephone numbers are answered directly by service 
departments.

• Service standards across the ‘contact centres’ 
vary. Call abandonment rates range from 1% to 39% 
and average wait times from 7 seconds to 397 seconds.

• 46% of contacts are through the telephone.
Face-to-face
• The face-to-face locations have been consolidated into 

a single location at 145 King Street that deals with 80% 
of face-to-face contacts. Appointments are held here 
and there is a payment desk and a drop-off document 
desk. Where a query can not be answered, Residents 
are directed to telephone lines into the relevant service.

Mail
• Email and letters are sent direct to services using 

multiple addresses.

17

Current Resident Access
Section 1: 

Introduction
Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Telephone 
channel

Digital 
channel

Face-to-face 
channel

Email/letter 
channel

My 
Account Payments Revs & 

Bens CC
Rochdale

CC
Other CC 

x16
145 King 

Street

Housing 
area 

offices

Multiple 
email 

addresses

Multiple 
postal 

addresses

Multiples 
Eforms

487,351 contacts

29%
774,164 contacts

46%
160,368 contacts

9%
265,282 contacts

16%

RegistrarsP
age 71



Channel mix
The OBC set a target of 60%+ of Resident contacts to 
be handled through the digital channel in the future. 

Tranche 1A comprised of services which have high 
volumes of rules-based transactional volumes. Based 
on benchmarking with other similar local authorities, we 
believe that these types of services can target a model 
where 80-90%+ of their transactions are handled 
digitally. 

Through the workshop process with Tranches 1A 
services, we identified opportunities to increase channel 
shift through the digital channel both from the initial 
contact with the service to end-to-end digital fulfilment. 

The diagram and table to the right show the target 
channel mix profile that was agreed for these services 
following the workshop process. In the future, we 
propose that telephone, face-to-face and mail channels 
will all fall under the ‘Assisted digital’ banner. This is 
because the aim is to have a consistent approach and 
use of systems for Resident Access, whether a 
Resident is self-serving online, or an officer is helping to 
do so through any of the other channels. 

For Tranches 1B, 2 and 3, the channel mix profile will 
be revised when they go through the next level of 
design. 

18

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

40% 26% 26%8%

73% Assisted digital
27%

Channel mix for 
T1A based on 
18/19 volumes

Agreed target 
channel mix 

profile for T1A 
following service 

workshops

Service
Current Channel Mix Target Channel Mix

Digital Non-
Digital Digital Non-

Digital

Council Tax 53% 47% 80% 20%

Benefits 24% 76% 60% 40%

Business rates 5% 95% 40% 60%

Parking 41% 59% 70% 30%

Permits 31% 69% 80% 20%

Cleaner greener 28% 72% 80% 20%

Accessible transport 0% 100% 70% 30%

P
age 72



Case for change

19

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

P
age 73



Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Case for Change 
The Resident Access programme continues to have a strong, strategic case for change. The below lists out the key drivers for 
change that have been validated during this phase.

P
age 74



Vision for Resident Access

21

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

P
age 75



22

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Aims of Resident Access
The aims of the Resident Access programme are shown in the box on the right. Delivering these 
aims will significantly change the way Residents interact with the Council. This is a journey that 
many other Councils in the sector have followed in recent years which has delivered significant 
value, with tangible improvements in the quality of Resident Access and a significant reduction in 
delivery costs.
The programme has co-developed a future operating model with key stakeholders from across 
the Council which aims to provide a consistent approach and standard for Resident Access 
across all Council services. 

The new operating model is underpinned by a standard framework for handling and managing all 
future Resident contact so that there is a more consistent Resident experience across services. 
Indeed, although every service within the Council is different, Resident Journey types are largely 
consistent and fall into a handful of categories: Information, Advice & Signposting; Report it; Apply 
for it; Pay for it; Book it; Updates and Changes; and Track. 

During this phase, we developed a standard framework for these categories that the Council can 
use reduce the cost to deliver services, increase Resident satisfaction and create a more 
consistent experience, and create change at pace within the organisation. The standard 
framework is provided in Appendix A.

A new operating model for Resident Access will deliver the following benefits:
 Resident choice.
 A better quality, more consistent and efficient service for Residents.
 The ability to deliver more value by predicting and anticipating needs.
 Lower delivery costs.
 Reductions in failure demand.
 Better use of resources.
 Process improvements.

Aims of the Resident 
Access Programme

1. To provide a consistent 
approach and standard 
for Resident Access 
across all Council 
services.

2. To bring more Council 
services online so that 
Residents can self-serve 
from initial contact to 
fulfilment & move towards 
digital service solutions.

3. To provide an Assisted 
Digital offer so that 
vulnerable Residents and 
those who are digitally 
excluded can still access 
the services they need.

4. To deliver the forecasted 
benefits for the 
programme.

P
age 76



The vision for a better, more consistent, high quality experience for our Residents requires a new Resident Access operating 
model that defines which channels will be available to Residents and what infrastructure underpins it.  The proposed model below 
has been refined from the OBC through testing and validation with services through multiple engagement forums. More detail about 
the model is provided over the next few slides.

23

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Vision for Resident Access

Digital

Residents

Face-to-faceTelephone & Mail

Resident Account & Portal

Report it

Information, advice & signposting

Apply for it Pay for it Book it

Track & Intelligent Outbound

Collaborative platform, automation and case management

Updates & 
Changes

Service Delivery

Customers

Self-serve Assisted Digital

1 2 3

1

P
age 77



What is it?
• The digital channel includes all the Council’s online services, mobile services & apps and social media channels. These are each

considered in more detail on the following pages.

1

24

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

The new digital channel (1/3)

Website content & online services
• Website content will be re-structured and continually managed so that it provides better information, advice and signposting to 

help Residents go online and self-serve with a great digital experience. The Council will use simple to understand language and 
will provide accessibility to a diverse range of needs (for example, languages and other needs). 

• The Council will invest into new capability to manage content, form design, training, Resident insight and look to continually 
improve and manage Resident experience. 

• Resident Access is not consistent. In the future, the Council will adopt and roll out a standard service framework – Information, 
Advice & Signposting; Report it; Apply for it; Pay for it; Book it; Updates & Changes; and Track – to ensure all Resident Access is 
delivered to consistent, high quality standards. 

• Portals and online 'forms' will be procured and designed with similar design and format. For example, common fields such as 
Resident name and address should be pre-populated making further forms easier to produce and for Residents to navigate. They 
will also be more dynamic, prompting Residents or suggesting answers to upcoming questions. This will make them more 
efficient and easier to complete.

• Where appropriate, online forms will be integrated with other Line of Business systems to avoid re-keying and improve service 
responsiveness.

P
age 78



Website content & online services
• The Council will expand the use of My Account to enable Residents to complete and track all reports, applications, payments, 

bookings. This will include developing better and more consistent approaches to identity management (which is currently 
completed independently by most services) and the management of key life events (moving in and out of the Borough, key 
changes in circumstances such as deaths) which is not currently managed consistently across the Council.

• The Council will actively seek to reduce avoidable contact through the use of an ‘intelligent outbound’ function that analyses 
incoming demand and seeks to avoid future contact by communicating and marketing events and services in line with Residents' 
interests.

• Information will be provided to Residents through automatic updates or acknowledgements following an application or service 
request, for example an email giving confirmation of a venue booking.

• Automatic emails or texts can also be used to signpost Residents to relevant information, for example an email would confirm a 
birth registration appointment and also remind them which documents they need to bring with them. 

• Outbound emails and text would be integrated to line of business systems, as required.

• Where required, Residents will be able to upload supporting documents and these will be identified at the beginning of the form.

• All activities with charges will automatically link to online payment, to ensure it is received before the activity (for example, a 
booking) is confirmed.

• Residents will be able to view the current status of a report, application or service request and provide relevant information on 
each service request, for example confirmation that an application has been received and next steps.

25

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

1 The new digital channel (2/3)

P
age 79



Website content & online services
• The Council will provide ‘end-to-end’ digital service fulfilment and to co-design each service with Residents so that they follow a 

Resident-centric approach and model.

• The Council will invest into Resident insight and data analytics to better understand patterns of need and demand. This will better 
enable the Council to predict, support, manage and prevent future demand.

• All these activities will be supported by on-line web-chat and/or AI robotic solutions to offer support to Residents using these
services. 

26

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

1 The new digital channel (3/3)

Mobile services & apps
• Online services will be designed so that they can be accessed using mobile phone technology for Residents that prefer to use 

smart phones on the go.

• The Council will continue to use Mobile Apps to enable Residents to continue to report street-scene issues and will also explore
the use of other apps to help to improve services to Residents.

Social media
• The Council will continue to actively use social media channels – Twitter, Facebook - to ‘listen’ to Residents and so that they can 

report neighbourhood issues – like fly-tipping, graffiti, missed bins etc.

Collaborative platforms
• The Council will explore the introduction of collaborative platforms to support Residents to connect with communities and service 

'market-places' (for example, connecting Residents in need of care with relevant partner agencies, charities and care providers). 

P
age 80



27

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

2 Assisted Digital
What is it?
• To ensure that sections of the population are not digitally excluded, the Council will deploy an ‘Assisted Digital’ service to support 

vulnerable Residents and those who are unable to access online services. Support will be provided to Residents to access our 
services digitally when they interact with us on the telephone or face-to-face through either remote assistance (over the telephone) 
or ‘floor walkers’ in face-to-face access locations.

• The aim of this approach is to demonstrate how Residents can interact with the Council digitally, supporting Residents to learn the 
skills they need to get online and self-serve in future and to promote a faster and more efficient interactions.

• Services will use the same online processes that will be implemented for Residents to self-serve and Council staff will support 
Residents to access these online processes.

• The Council will adopt a digital inclusion strategy which will underpin our approach to Assisted Digital. The strategy will seek to 
support Residents to develop digital skills so they can take advantage of digital technology in all aspects of their lives, whether 
managing their household finances, doing online shopping, or staying in touch with family and friends.

• The next few pages give some more detail about the unique components of the Assisted Digital channels.

3

P
age 81



28

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

2 The new telephone and mail channels (1/2)

Telephone
• The Council will provide a consistent, reliable and high quality experience to Residents contacting the Council by developing a full 

range of service standards. Residents will be encouraged and supported on the telephone to use digital channels to access 
services.

• The contact centre will be organised effectively with appropriately trained staff, supporting technology and clear hand-off 
arrangements to services. Workload will be shared more effectively to maintain higher levels of responsiveness.

• Contact centre arrangements will be developed and expanded from the current Revenues and Benefits contact centre and will 
initially incorporate Tranche 1A services and the in-sourcing of the current Agilisys Rochdale contract.

• The ‘depth’ of service fulfilment will be agreed with each service in the implementation phase. It is intended that the contact centre 
channels (and face-to-face) will manage a similar level of capabilities and whilst this will vary from service to service it is expected 
to support all basic, rules-based, first line Resident service access enquiries including tracking service requests, supporting 
applications, providing basic service information, advice and signposting, making bookings and taking payments etc. 

• The Council will consolidate and simplify arrangements with the aim is to move towards a limited number of contact centres 
(including drop off desks for face-to-face channels) and single access telephone number and new telephony arrangements. 

P
age 82



29

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

2 The new telephone and mail channels (2/2)

Mail (Post)
• The Council will consolidate existing postal and mail functions into a single, common postal and mail function with a common 

corporate mail address. This function would provide a central scanning function to record all incoming mail and distribute to 
services. 

• This would enable the Council to provide a more efficient and consistent service that is easier for our Residents to understand.

• The use of technology and machine learning will continue to be explored to automate this process.

• The mail room is currently piloting a digitisation scheme with the approach that is set out above. We recommend that the mail
room is re-engaged in the next phase as part of Tranche 1B to make sure that it is aligned to the programme.

P
age 83



30

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

3 The new face-to-face channel 

Face-to-face
• The Council will maintain face-to-face contact at 145, moving to the re-developed Town Hall site once complete.

• This will include a new resident scanning service and digital access stations which will enable Residents to self serve and scan
documents (with the support of ‘floor walkers’ to support Resident Access transactions). 

• The Council will explore the development of ‘digital drop in’ centres to support Residents to interact digitally with the Council. 
Exact locations will need to be confirmed but could include existing library facilities or social infrastructure. Each location will be 
supported with common technology to enable digital access to services and Residents will be able to use the available technology
to learn how to self-serve. The Council will co-design these environments with Residents and partners so that the new face-to-
face facilities are designed to meet incoming needs and demands.

• The face-to-face channel will look to mirror the telephone channel in the ‘depth’ of service fulfilment that it manages so that there is 
a consistent approach to managing Resident contact in the front-office.

P
age 84



Vision for IT Enterprise 
Architecture

31

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

P
age 85



32

www.lbhf.gov.uk AI / Web Chat Bot Platform

Single MyAccount Portal & eForms Solution 

Data Analytics 
and Master Data 

Management
Confirm and 
Powersuite

eForms integrated 
into all strategic 
applications & 

platform back office 
system functionality 
deployed to various 

services 

Academy Conduent/Spurs

Integration Hub

Customer Authentication & Single Sign On

Public Access portal Revs and Bens and other service portals

1

3

2

4

5

7

6

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Future Enterprise Architecture
During this phase, a high level assessment of the Enterprise Architecture was carried out including the front-office platform; Line of 
Business systems in Tranche 1 service areas; and the Integration layer that joins these two areas.
In order to deliver the future Resident Access operating model, investment will be required to improve the supporting Enterprise 
Architecture across the Council so that it can deliver the requirements of the Resident Access programme. 
Further engagement was carried out with IT to agree the high level requirements of the future Enterprise Architecture shown the 
diagram below. Further detail is provided on the slides that follow, with each component costed in the ‘Costs and benefits’ section of 
this report, and the full assessment is shown in Appendix B.

P
age 86



Upgrade to 
Drupal 9

• To benefit from the latest functionality of its CMS platform, the Council will need to upgrade from Drupal 7 to 
Drupal 9 by November 2021. 

• The Council already has in-house Drupal resource within the Communications team which may have the 
skills required to complete the upgrade without external agency support. However, an investment cost has 
been budgeted should the Council need to bring in external agency support.

AI/Web-Chat 
Bot Platform

• The Council can enhance the capacity of its front-door contact centre by setting up an AI/Web-Chat Bot on 
the council website.

• The Council could purchase an off-the-shelf solution with pre-existing knowledge built in from deployment in 
other Councils. 

• The chat bot will be able to support both attended and unattended queries.
• For out of hours enquiries that the bot is unable to resolve, a case will be created in Firmstep for an officer to 

resolve the next working day.

Single My 
Account and 

e-forms 
solution

• All online services will be driven or captured in My Account in order to move to a Single View of the Resident 
and a more consistent approach to identity and access management.

• This would also support the Council to have a more consistent approach to the management of key life 
events or key changes in circumstances which is not currently managed consistently across the Council. 

• The Council will use Firmstep as the principal form building solution, consolidating the multiple e-form 
packages currently in place across services. This will reduce costs and speed up deployment.

Service 
Portals

• However, for some services it may be more appropriate to deploy service portals rather than Firmstep.
• For example, for services such as Revenues and Benefits, it may be more cost effective to deploy off-the-

shelf service portals which provide all online forms and ready-made integrations into Line of Business 
systems. The cost of upkeeping and managing online forms and integrations outside of these portals are 
often high, particularly if they need to be regularly updated as a result of changes in legislation.

• However, single sign-on functionality will need to be built between My Account and the service portal(s) so 
that Residents do not need to sign-on to multiple portals.

1

2

3

4

A number of technology components have been identified to support the future Enterprise Architecture for Resident Access:

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Future Enterprise Architecture (1/2)

P
age 87



Deploy 
Firmstep

back office 
functionality

• For some services, the Council can deploy the ‘Service’ module in Firmstep to complete back-office 
processing activities such as verifying applications. 

• By adopting this approach, the Council has the opportunity to achieve further savings by consolidating or 
even reducing Line of Business systems which are currently used for back-office fulfilment (e.g. Conduent 
for Accessible Transport).    

Integration 
Hub

• The Council has the option to set up an ‘Integration Hub’ which sits between all online forms provided by 
services and their Line of Business systems. This is rather than each service separately building ‘point to 
point’ integrations between their own online forms and Line of Business systems. 

• This will reduce the costs of developing ‘point to point’ integrations for each of the services. 

Data 
Analytics

• The Council has the opportunity to build on its strong data capability that currently sits in the in-house BI 
team.

• This would involve setting up a data lake, data factory and transaction feeds from Line of Business systems 
to support better decision making, modelling and risk management.

5

6

7

A number of technology components have been identified to support the future Enterprise Architecture for the council:

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Future Enterprise Architecture (1/2)

P
age 88



Costs and benefits

35

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

P
age 89



Forecast benefits
• We have identified benefits of £1.7m 

per annum for Tranche 1A and we 
continue to forecast benefits of up to 
£2.35m per annum in Tranches 1B, 
2 and 3.

• Engagement work with Tranches 1B, 
2 and 3 services suggests there are 
significant opportunities for 
digitization and consolidation of 
resident contact. Care needs to be 
taken to ensure a consistent 
approach to benefit realisation.

• One-off investment of £3.4m to 
realise the benefits.

• Over a five-year period the 
cumulative saving is £9.3m using 
the top (most expensive) investment 
range.

36

Full Business Case Benefits

Annual 
recurring 
benefits 

Up to 
£4m £3.4m

One off 
investment 

Net Savings 
Generating by 

end of 

Year 3 £9.3m

Cumulative 
5yr saving

Benefits and investments summary – from 2020/1

Executive Summary

P
age 90



37

Validation Resident 
Journeys

Assumptions 
confirmation Quantification Review and 

agreement

• Refreshed contact 
volumes for 18/19 
and budgeted costs 
for 19/20.

• Confirmed FTE 
budget numbers with 
Finance.

• Identified non FTE 
budgeted spend that 
relates to Resident 
Access (e.g. 
postage).

• Assessed supporting 
systems and 
Enterprise 
Architecture.

• Completed 
workshops to 
co-produce 
future Resident 
Journeys with 
service 
officers.

• Identified IT 
investments 
and other 
enablers 
required (e.g. 
policy 
changes) to 
deliver the 
future Resident 
Journeys.

• Identified 
benefits 
opportunities 
resulting from 
future Resident 
Journeys.

Follow-up 
sessions with 
services to 
confirm:
• Target 

channel mix. 
• Front & Middle 

Office 
functions of 
services.

• Consolidation 
assumptions.

• Current 
processing 
volumes and 
turnaround 
times.

• Any other 
supporting 
evidence.

• Quantification 
of total 
benefits.

• Quantification 
of IT 
investments. 

• Sizing of 
contact centre.

• Channel shift 
timelines. 

• Review and 
challenge with 
Assistant 
Director(s) and 
Heads of 
Service.

• Review and 
challenge of 
investment 
with IT.

• Review and 
challenge with 
Finance.

During this phase of work, we have carried out the following activities for T1A services in order to quantify the costs and benefits of 
improving Resident Access:

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Service 
sign off 

FTE and 
total saving 

(£)

Approach to quantifying costs and benefits 
(Tranche 1A)

P
age 91



Through our workshops with Tranche 1A services, we have identified five consistent themes that will drive benefits opportunities
below. The full summary of the Tranche 1A workshops are shown in Appendix C.

38

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Benefits opportunities

Providing more services online so that Residents can self-serve and track from initial contact to fulfilment and at a 
cheaper cost to the Council.

Shifting effort dealing with general enquiries from service areas to a consolidated contact centre environment. 

Introducing integrations with Line of Business systems to streamline verification, reduce re-keying and manual 
processing.

Releasing staff capacity to support income generation and better demand management. For example, 
management of concessionary fare subsidies for Accessible Transport to tackle fraud and misuse in order to 
reduce the cost to serve. 

Introducing new digital delivery models such as e-billing and virtual parking permits, thereby reducing production, 
maintenance and postal costs. 

1

2

3

4

5

P
age 92



Front office (£)

Middle office
(£)

Front office (£)

Middle office
(£)

Service Efficiency – including 
non FTE costs

Corporate Contact Centre

Service Efficiency Consolidation

Front office (£)
Corporate Contact Centre

Resident self-service

B C

D

Current Consolidation Channel shift

A

The diagram below outlines the multi-step approach to benefits realisation for this programme and therefore how we have 
quantified benefits for Tranche 1A services. 

Go live

E

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Benefits quantification approach (1/2)

Within service teams, existing FTE have been split into: ‘Front office’ or ‘Middle office’ staff. In some services, this split has already 
been created by an existing contact centre, but in other cases we worked with services to agree an estimation of the staff time 
spent on these activities. 

A

The current staff effort within each service handling ‘Front office’ tasks can be transferred to a central, consolidated contact centre. 
A consolidation saving can then achieved within the contact centre by reducing the overall effort required to handle ‘Front office’ 
queries across all services. The staff in the consolidated contact centre will be multi-skilled across services, handling a wider range 
of enquiries with clear hand-off arrangements to services. A centralised pool of staff will be more productive in managing peaks
and troughs in Resident contacts as well as having arrangements to cover sickness and holiday.

B

The explanation continues on the next page.

P
age 93



Benefits realisation plan – actual dates are specific to each service, excluding procurement activity.

40

The explanation of each step of the approach depicted on the previous page continues below:

Once an enhanced digital solution is available online, pro-active channel shift initiatives can commence. As esidents increasingly 
self-serve online, the volume of contacts coming into the Council that require a staff response will reduce enabling a channel shift 
saving.

C

As Residents’ online activity is integrated with Line of Business systems, it is possible to generate efficiencies in the middle office 
processing team, for example removing re-keying applications into Line of Business systems, or validation by exception, thereby 
achieving a middle office processing saving.

D

As services reach greater levels of digital delivery, it is possible to reduce non-FTE costs such as printing, postage or other non-
digital infrastructure such as pay and display machines. We have quantified the impact of this as a non-FTE saving.

E

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Benefits quantification approach (2/2)

For each service, the timeline for realising these benefits has been estimated over a 2.5 year period as shown below. The benefits 
have been profiled according to the transformation commencement and timings agreed with individual service leads as shown in 
Appendix D.

Between 2-6 months

Go liveDigital Transformation Channel shift timeline – gradual realization over the period

B C

D E

Typically 12-18 months

1st benefits release 2nd benefits release
0 months 6 months from go live

3rd benefits release
12 months from go live

4th benefits release
18 months from go live

P
age 94



Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Tranche 1A benefits breakdown

Total Savings Summary
Access. 
Trans

Permits Waste Council 
Tax

Benefits Business 
Rates

Parking Contact 
centre

Total 

Consolidation £ 6,207 55,696 20,150 0 11,420 2,734 22,589 0 118,795

FTE 0.2 1.4 0.5 0.0 0.3 0.1 0.6 0.0 3.0

Channel shift £ 17,380 121,542 125,535 0 36,742 8,723 24,272 139,774 473,968

FTE 0.4 3.1 3.1 0.0 0.8 0.2 0.6 3.1 11.4

Middle office 
processing £ 27,704 141,641 0 142,816 127,899 21,872 0 0 461,932

FTE 0.7 3.7 0.0 3.2 2.8 0.5 0.0 0.0 10.8

Non FTE £ 300,000 70,000 0 61,928 31,580 0 165,800 0 629,308

Total £ 351,291 388,880 145,685 204,744 207,640 33,329 212,661 139,774 1,684,003

FTE 1.2 8.2 3.6 3.2 3.9 0.7 1.2 3.1 25.3

*Refers to total benefit opportunity, of which approximately £65k in Waste and £66k in Parking relate to cost avoidance.

Further benefit opportunities were identified through the workshop process. These opportunities have not been quantified but do represent 
further opportunities to release more savings during implementation. A full description is available in Appendix F. 

Key assumptions underpinning benefits are as follows:
• All budgetary figures have been provided and validated by Finance.
• Staff costs quoted are the budgeted full establishment cost (including overspend in Revenues & Benefits).
• For the calculation of benefits, salaries have been averaged based on total establishment cost for the service.

*

The table below sets out the agreed benefits opportunities for Tranches 1A services. The estimate of potential benefits are £1.7m, 
equating to 25.3 FTE and £630k non-FTE costs. The full breakdown of these benefits are shown at Appendix E.

*

P
age 95



Tranche Services Contact 
Volumes*

Budget 
(staff 
costs)

FTE OBC 
Projected 
Saving £

Service 
engagement

Opportu
nity

Benefits 
achievement

Double 
counting 

risk

1B • Regulatory 
Services

• Environmental 
Health

• Community Safety
• Highways
• Registrars
• InTouch
• Planning & 

Building Control
• Mail Room

165,000 £4.9m 138

£2.35m2 • Careline
• Homebuy
• Housing advice
• Rent Income

460,000 £6.6m 145

3 • Adult Education
• Children’s 

Services
• Early Help
• Family Information 

Service
• Electoral services
• Miscellaneous

60,000 Not 
known

Not 
known

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

For Tranches 1B, 2 and 3 we have updated volumes and validated costs. We have engaged with high volume services to identify 
potential opportunities. We have used this analysis to provide a RAG rating to the benefits outlined in the OBC for later tranches. 
Further details of Tranches 1B, 2 and 3 is shown at Appendix G.  

*Contact volumes for tranches 1B, 2 and 3 are likely to increase once detailed work is undertaken with the 
service.

Tranches 1B, 2 and 3

P
age 96



43

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Investment quantification approach

IT 
Investments

• We have costed a range of opportunities to invest in the cross-council Enterprise Architecture in order to 
improve Resident Access.  These range from investing in online web-chat capability to support with demand 
management; increasing the capacity and capability of telephony to support a consolidated contact centre; 
and improved data analytics capability to support with demand and risk management. These costs are 
primarily associated with purchasing external licenses; maintenance; or set up and ongoing running costs 
associated with adding new capability or enhancing existing capability. 

• High-level indicative investment costs were provided in the OBC which have been defined in more detail on 
a service by service basis for Tranche 1A. The majority of IT investments relate to form building and 
integrations with Line of Business systems. However, the Council has indicated a preference for establishing 
in-house capabilities to deliver the changes outlined by this programme so these costs are accounted in the 
‘Programme Team’ section below

• For Tranche 1B, 2 and 3 costs have been included as an estimate only and further work will be done to 
validate them as these services go through the design phase.

Programme 
Team

• This team will include: programme or sprint management; form building capability; integrations capability 
and technical analysts; website content management; and training and change management. 

• The programme team has been costed on a two-year basis in order to complete the implementation for T1A 
and anticipated implementation for Tranches 1B, 2 and 3. 

• However, the Council will continue to need some external, interim support to deliver key roles whilst a full 
programme team is recruited. This is to ensure that the programme maintains pace and momentum into 
2020 onwards to deliver the benefits identified. Therefore, additional resource has been costed for the next 
3-6 months to allow for this. 

In order to deliver the benefits opportunities outlined previously, the Council will need to make significant investments to deliver 
a Council-wide transformation and develop new capability to enable end-to-end digital fulfilment across services. The diagram 
below sets out the approach undertaken in this phase to complete the investment costing for the programme.

P
age 97



44

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Investment costs overview 
Our work indicates that an investment in the region of £3.5m is required to deliver the programme, comprising programme 
resources, specialist advice and interim support, technology and contingency on all costs. The breakdown of the investment is
shown below. The range of costs relate to programme resources and the extent to which this can be sourced from existing 
resources. 

Year 1 
(2020/21)

£

Year 2 
(2021/22)

£

Year 3
(2022/23)

Year 4
(2023/24)

(assume end Oct)

Total

Programme Resources 109,601 198,700 202,700 103,400 614,404 

Resident Experience Lead 31,750 64,800 66,100 33,700 196,350

Technical Delivery Team 99,965 203,400 207,500 105,800 295,000    

Specialist Advice and Support 155,000    100,000    40,000 - 1,300,000 

IT Architecture Costs 825,000 500,000 - - 1,325,000

Contingency (10%) 304,715 

Total 1,525,761 1,066,900    516,300 242,900 3,351,861

A detailed breakdown of the programme resources and technology investment are shown on the next 2 pages. In addition, whilst the
in-house team is being recruited, additional interim support has also been costed for the next 3-6 months for:
1. Strategic and specialist technical advice for the whole programme.
2. Accelerating design work for Tranches 1B, 2 and 3.
3. Immediate capability for sprint delivery for the implementation of Tranche 1A.

P
age 98



45

 Base 
cost 

 Incl. 
oncosts 
@ 27% 

Programme 
Total

Start Date End Date £ £  FTE  £  FTE  £  FTE  £  FTE  £ £
Programme Support Officer Jul‐20 Oct‐23 38,400    48,768    1.0            36,576£          1.0            49,700£          1.0            50,700£      1.0            25,900£      162,876£      
Technical project manager Oct‐20 Oct‐23 50,000    63,500    1.0            31,750£          1.0            64,800£          1.0            66,100£      1.0            33,700£      196,350£      
Technical Implementation lead & Infrastructure Architect Oct‐20 Oct‐23 65,000    82,550    1.0            41,275£          1.0            84,200£          1.0            85,900£      1.0            43,800£      255,175£      
Total Service development and leadership 3.0            109,601£       3.0            198,700£       3.0            202,700£    3.0            103,400£    614,401£      
Security officer (probably need to get additional resource 
from a partner eg BT or Agilisys as can't employ 50% of a 
person)

Oct‐20 Oct‐23 50,000    63,500    1.0            31,750£          1.0            64,800£          1.0            66,100£      1.0            33,700£      196,350£      

Systems Integration lead (IT09) Oct‐20 Oct‐23 57,000    72,390    1.0            36,195£          1.0            73,800£          1.0            75,300£      1.0            38,400£      223,695£      
Firmstep Integration developer (IT08) Oct‐20 Oct‐23 50,000    63,500    1.0            31,750£          1.0            64,800£          1.0            66,100£      1.0            33,700£      196,350£      
Total Technical Delivery Team 3.0            99,695£         3.0            203,400£       3.0            207,500£    3.0            105,800£    616,395£      
Resident Experience Quality Assurance Officer  Oct‐20 Oct‐23 50,000    63,500    1.0            31,750£          1.0            64,800£          1.0            66,100£      1.0            33,700£      196,350£      
Total Service Delivery Team 1.0            31,750£         1.0            64,800£         1.0            66,100£      1.0            33,700£      196,350£      
Total Staffing Costs 7.0            241,046£       7.0            466,900£       7.0            476,300£    7.0            242,900£    1,427,146£   
Specialist and strategic advice ‐ validate 31Ten business case July Sept/Oct 95,000£          ‐£                ‐£            ‐£            95,000£         
Design and Delivery (tranches 1B, 2 & 3). Workshops, develop 
IT and technical spec, progress procurement 

60,000£          40,000£          ‐£            ‐£            100,000£      

Implementation acceleration ‐ ongoing advisory support ‐£                60,000£          40,000£      ‐£            100,000£      
Total Specialist advice and interim support  ‐           155,000£       ‐           100,000£       ‐           40,000£      ‐           ‐£            295,000£      
Drupal 9 upgrade 95,000£          95,000£         
Contact centre capability 125,000£       125,000£      
Robotics 60,000£          60,000£         
Data analytics 100,000£       100,000£      
Integration hub 50,000£          50,000£         
Revs & bens capital one portal 245,000£       245,000£      
Icasework upgrade 150,000£       150,000£      
Tranche 1B, 2 & 3 500,000£       500,000£      
Total Technology/Enterprise Architecture Costs 825,000£       500,000£       ‐£            ‐£            1,325,000£   
Total One Off Investment Excluding Contingency 7.0            1,221,046£    7.0            1,066,900£    7.00         516,300£    7.00         242,900£    3,047,146£   
Contingency @ 10% 304,715£       304,715£      

Total One Off Investment Including Contingency 7.0            1,525,761£    7.0            1,066,900£    7.00         516,300£    7.00         242,900£    3,351,861£   

ONE OFF COSTS
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

2023/24
(assume 01.10.23 end)

P
age 99



46

 Base 
cost 

 Incl. 
oncosts 
@ 27% 

Programme 
Total

Ongoing 
Annual Costs

Start Date End Date £ £  FTE  £  FTE  £  FTE  £  FTE  £ £ £
Programme Delivery and Support Manager  Jul‐20 Ongoing 57,400    72,898    1.0            54,700£          1.0            72,900£          1.0            72,900£      1.0            72,900£      273,400£       145,800£      
Total Service development and leadership 1.0            54,700£         1.0            72,900£         1.0            72,900£      1.0            72,900£      273,400£       145,800£      
Firmstep Systems Analyst Jul‐20 Ongoing 50,000    63,500    1.0            47,600£          1.0            63,500£          1.0            63,500£      1.0            63,500£      238,100£       127,000£      
Firmstep Systems Analyst Oct‐20 Ongoing 50,000    63,500    1.0            31,800£          1.0            63,500£          1.0            63,500£      1.0            63,500£      222,300£       127,000£      
Total Technical Delivery Team 2.0            79,400£         2.0            127,000£       2.0            127,000£    2.0            127,000£    460,400£       254,000£      
Resident Interface officer Oct‐20 Ongoing 50,000    63,500    1.0            31,800£          1.0            63,500£          1.0            63,500£      1.0            63,500£      222,300£       127,000£      
Training and change officer Oct‐20 Ongoing 50,000    63,500    1.0            31,800£          1.0            63,500£          1.0            63,500£      1.0            63,500£      222,300£       127,000£      
Total Service Delivery Team 2.0            63,600£         2.0            127,000£       2.0            127,000£    2.0            127,000£    444,600£       254,000£      
Total Staffing Costs 5.0            197,700£       5.0            326,900£       5.0            326,900£    5.0            326,900£    1,178,400£    653,800£      
None
Total Specialist advice and interim support  ‐           ‐£                ‐           ‐£                ‐           ‐£            ‐           ‐£            ‐£                ‐£               
Drupal 9 upgrade ‐£               
Contact centre capability 33,000£          33,000£      33,000£      99,000£         
Robotics 32,000£          32,000£      32,000£      96,000£         
Data analytics 37,000£          37,000£      37,000£      111,000£      
Integration hub 20,000£          20,000£      20,000£      60,000£         
Revs & bens capital one portal 23,000£          23,000£      23,000£      69,000£         
Icasework upgrade 20,000£          20,000£      20,000£      60,000£         
Tranche 1B, 2 & 3 100,000£       100,000£    100,000£    300,000£      
Less: decommissioned IT 150,000‐£       150,000‐£    150,000‐£    450,000‐£      
Total Technology/Enterprise Architecture Costs ‐£                115,000£       115,000£    115,000£    345,000£       ‐£               
Total Ongoing Investment 5.0            197,700£       5.0            441,900£       5.00         441,900£    5.00         441,900£    1,523,400£    653,800£      

ONGOING COSTS
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

2023/24
(assume 01.10.23 end)

P
age 100



47

Key
BAU Programme in house 

(additional cost)

Service development & 
leadership

Strategic programme and 
technical advice

Implementation 
(Technical, solution development, training & change)

Enabling Team External Tech Support 
from Product Owners

IT serviceAD Resident ServicesRecovery Programme 
& ZBB Team 

Programme Leadership Group

2.5 FTE

7 – 9 FTE (Additional and BAU input)

2.5 FTE (BAU)

3 FTE 

BAUBAU BAU

Accelerated design 
(T1B, 2 & 3)

0.5 FTE

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Programme Team Structure
Our modelling suggests that the in-house delivery team required is between 9.5 and 13 FTEs, with an estimated cost of £1.1m-
£1.47m, per annum (shown in the red boxes below). 

The Council has taken the decision to deliver the programme primarily through an in-house team.The proposed delivery team for 
implementation of Tranche 1A and design and implementation of Tranches 1B, 2 and 3 is shown in the diagram below. In some areas 
a range of FTEs is shown. These roles represent opportunities for the business to reprioritise or source some of the roles from 
business as usual (BAU).

The programme team would be 
required across a two year period. 

In addition, there are an ongoing  
resources to support the 
management and maintenance of 
the digital offer in both Resident 
Services and the IT service. 

Specialist advice and 
interim support

P
age 101



The programme will ‘payback’ the investment in 3 years, by the end of 2022/23 as shown in the table below.

48

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Return on investment
Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 5 Yr Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Savings - Tranche 1A (validated) * 238 940 1,492 1,684 1,684 6,039
Savings - Tranche 1B, 2 & 3 
(not yet validated) 97 1,372 2,364 2,364 2,364 8,560

Total ongoing savings 336 2,311 3,856 4,048 4,048 14,598

Ongoing costs** (not yet validated) 198 442 442 442 442 1,965

Estimated net ongoing savings 138 1,870 3,414 3,606 3,606 12,633

One-off Investment*** (not yet validated) 1,526 1,067 516 243 0 3,352

Ongoing savings net of one-off investment (1,388) 803 2,898 3,363 3,606 9,281

Cumulative savings/(cost) (1,388) (585) 2,313 5,675 9,281
*These figures include approximately £131k of non‐cashable savings (costs avoided from bringing services back in‐house)
**Net increase in annual IT costs (£0.115m) and new annual staffing costs (£0.327m). Ongoing IT costs assumed to start in Year 2. Year 1 
costs are part year costs.
***Programme Resources (£1.427m), Specialist advice and interim support (£0.295m), Technology (£1.325m), 10% Contingency (£0.304m)

P
age 102



Programme Plan

49

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

P
age 103



50

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Tranche 1A implementation

‘Go Live’Full service & technical specification

• The diagram below sets out the high level activities to deliver Tranche 1A .
• It is expected that this approach will be largely followed for Tranche 1B, Tranche 2 & 3 
• More  detailed plans for February to May 2020 and from June 2020 to September 2021 are in the Appendix to this document

Co-production

Communications 

Consolidation 

HR 

Digital readiness & IT procurement

Implementation

Council wide Enterprise 
architecture & road-map

Agreement of values, 
principles & behaviours

Finance 

P
age 104



Workstream Feb 20 March 20 April 20 May 20

Tranche 1A full service 
specification

Digital readiness

Co-production

Consolidation

Council wide 
communications 

HR and Finance Support

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Mobilise Validate Resident Access Strategy, values and desired behaviours with SLT to align to latest thinking

Plan on a Page (Feb – May)
The below sets out a plan on a page for the next key phase of implementation and design for the programme. 

Finalisation of strategy and plans

Equalities impact assessment

Consultation and restructure planning Programme 
consultation

Benefits realisation measurementBenefits realisation planning

Commence resident 
engagement 

Develop Channel shift strategy

Full service and technical specification

Council wide Enterprise Architecture and road map
Commence digital readiness 

and IT procurement 
(6 months)

Consolidation plan 
Rochdale exit plan

Review all phone numbers and 
IVR & scanning arrangements

Communications strategy and key messages

P
age 105



Workstream Apr – Jun 20 July - Sept 20 Oct – Dec 20 Jan – Mar 21 Apr – Jun 21 July – Sept 21

Digital 
readiness

Co-production

Implementation 

Consolidation

HR and Finance 
Support

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Plan on a Page – (April 20 – Sept 21)
The below sets out a plan on a page for the next key phase of implementation and design for the programme. 

Programme consultation (P&P)

Benefits realisation measurementPlanning

Parking and Permits
engagement

Parking and Permits
Implementation

16 weeks

Cleaner greener
12 weeks

Cleaner 
greener

engagement

Accessible Transport
12 weeks

New contact centre
12 months

Revenues, Benefits & Business Rates
6 months (effort)

AT
engagement

New contact centre
engagement

Programme consultation (CG)

Programme consultation (AT)

Programme consultation (NCC)

Programme consultation (R,B, BR)

Parking and Permits Cleaner 
greener AT

New contact centre 

Revenues, Benefits & Business 
Rates 

Digital readiness and IT procurement 
(6 months)

P
age 106



Implementation Plan for T1A 
services

53

The table below highlights the proposed implementation plans for each of the T1A services. These timetables are subject to the 
detailed design and planning work completed from February to May in 2020.

P
age 107



Benefits realisation by service

Qtr 1
20/21

Qtr 2
20/21

Qtr 3 
20/21

Qtr 4
20/21

Qtr 1
21/22

Qtr 2
21/22

Qtr 3 
21/22

Qtr 4
21/22

Qtr 1
22/23

Qtr 2
22/23

Qtr 3 
22/23

Qtr 4
22/23

Accessible Transport

Permits

Cleaner greener

Council Tax

Benefits

Business Rate

Parking

Contact Centre

54

Go-live – consolidation and middle office processing benefits are realised here (except for Council Tax 
where middle office processing benefits are realised 18 months) 

Completion – channel shift and non-FTE benefits are realised gradually in 6-monthly intervals until 
completion (except for permits and parking where non-FTE benefits are realised at go-live)

The assumptions made about the realisation of savings by each service in T1A are shown below.

P
age 108



55

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Workstream descriptions (1)
The following three pages set out the main enabling activities that will support the delivery of Tranche 1A services. 

Workstream Key Activities

Agreement of 
principles, values 
and behaviours

• Confirmation of resident access programme aims and principles
• Alignment of other Council programmes & activities
• Confirmation & alignment of language
• Core resident service standards, behaviours and values
• Channel shift & assisted digital strategies
• On-going governance & programme leadership approach

Tranche 1A full 
service & technical 

specification

Programme Management 
• Detailed project & resource plans 
• Benefits tracking
• Risk register/log
• Project governance arrangements/sponsorship
Service Specification
• Development of service catalogues 
• Define digital fulfillment plans and hand-off arrangements
• Service standards (response times, SLAs etc.)
• Service channel shift targets and strategy
• Confirmation of F2F/contact centre plans
• Assisted digital plans
• Policy change schedules & proposed decision-making processes
• Future Service Structures/organization charts 
IT requirements/Specification
• Business & functional requirements
• Number and nature of new forms & associated web-content
• Number and nature of proposed integrations
• Development of IT roadmap and a procurement plan (where necessary)

P
age 109



56

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Workstream descriptions (2)

Workstream Key activities 

Tranche 1A full 
service & technical 
specification (cont)

Change readiness
• Training plan
• Change management approach
• UAT & change readiness plan
• Stakeholder engagement and communications plan
• Go- live & decommissioning strategy
• Continuous improvement & further release plans 
• Agree service structure and HR implications

Council wide 
Enterprise 

Architecture & IT 
road map

• Confirmation of overall approach to Enterprise Architecture & strategic technology choices
• IT road map & resource plan 
• Procurement planning 
• New technology implementation and set-up

Digital readiness & 
IT procurement

• Sourcing of additional IT capabilities
• IT procurement – new infrastructure, development & mobilisation
• Deployment of implementation support & resources

Co-production

• Finalisation of co-production strategy and plans with residents, members and other stakeholders
• Resident engagement and consultation plans 
• Channel shift and assisted digital strategy & plans
• Completion of an equalities impact assessments.

P
age 110



57

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Workstream descriptions (3)
Workstream Key activities 

Consolidation of 
non-digital channels

• Governance arrangements
• Contact centre consolidation plan
• Rochdale exit plan
• Review of all phone numbers and IVR.
• Scanning arrangements
• Agreement of Service Level Agreements (SLAs) & Operating Level Agreements (OLAs) 
• Performance & KPI management 
• Continuous improvement plans

Implementation Plan 
& Go live

Service Delivery
• Agreement & delivery of policy changes
• Sign off of service standards and SLAs
• Deliver team restructures and moves
• Decant of channel shift strategy and F2F/contact centre decants
• Deliver service communications

IT delivery 
• Finalisation of IT procurement mobilization and deployment
• Delivery of form builds & associated  web content changes
• Delivery of integrations
• Set up of integrations hub

Change delivery 
• Delivery of training and change management 
• UAT 
• Go Live & de-commissioning arrangements 
• Bug fixes, continuous improvement and further release plans 

P
age 111



58

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Workstream descriptions (4)
Workstream Key activities

Council wide 
communications

• Development of Council wide communications strategy & key messages
• Stakeholder engagement plan
• Delivery of strategy and engagement plans

HR 

• HR consultation and restructure planning to support FTE re-deployments and reductions. 

Finance

• Funding Plan
• Development of benefits realisation plan and alignment to the Council’s Medium-Term Financial 

Plan (MTFP).

P
age 112



There are a range of risks that the Council will need to manage in delivering this change:

59

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Risks (1/3)

Risk Detail Mitigation

Momentum

It is important that the Council now maintains 
momentum in the delivery of this programme – there 
is a real enthusiasm from services to improve 
Resident experience and to also improve ways of 
working. 

At the same time many teams are skeptical that the 
Council can deliver cross-cutting programmes and 
fear that the programme could stall or become less 
coherent and purposeful.

Approval should be sought from Senior Leadership 
Team (SLT) to progress the planning and deployment 
of interim resources whilst the full programme team is 
recruited.  

Timing

Timescales for the delivery of the programme are 
achievable but challenging and depend upon 
resourcing and prioritising programme activities and 
making effective progress on further design and 
implementation activities. 

Approval should be sought from SLT to progress the 
planning and deployment of interim resources whilst 
the full programme team is recruited.  

Skills, 
resourcing & 

training

The programme involves delivering a range of 
behavioural, process and technology changes that 
will need appropriate skills and resources to deliver. 
Skills and resource gaps would undermine safe 
delivery and are at this stage a critical risk to 
delivering the next stages of work and progressing 
the programme.

A training and change management resource has 
been included in the programme team proposal to 
embed and mitigate the changes as a result of the 
technology implementation. 

P
age 113



There are a range of risks that the Council will need to manage in delivering this change:

60

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Risks (2/3)

Risk Detail Mitigation

Culture and 
change

This programme will require the delivery of major 
changes in the way certain activities of managed and 
delivered (for example, a new consolidated contact 
centre). This will require careful change management.

The next phase will need to prioritise the recruitment 
of Programme Management resource to oversee and 
coordinate the programme, ensuring that risks and 
interdependencies are carefully managed.

Costs 

Whilst significant efforts have gone into estimating 
costs and investment analysis has been completed 
for each service area (and enabling services 
including IT), there is a risk that implementation costs 
could vary due to unforeseen costs and/or risks that 
are not identifiable at this stage.

Early in the next phase, effort should be focused on 
developing an IT roadmap to specify and cost the 
investments required to support the implementation.

For programme resourcing, the Council should look to 
identify existing ‘funded’ posts that could be deployed 
onto the programme in order to reduce cost and 
rapidly carry out the JD evaluation process to recruit 
additional resources.

Benefits

All savings have been estimated based on changing 
Resident contact volumes and channels and have 
been signed off with services. However, there 
remains a risk that the timing and quantum of benefits 
may be different than forecast. 

The next phase should focus on developing benefits 
realisation plans for each service with ownership 
within the Programme team to ensure that each stage 
of the programme is carefully managed.

Channel shift

Elements of the benefits are based on changing 
Resident behaviours and in particular Residents 
accessing digital channels. Whilst the channel shift 
targets have been agreed with services and 
benchmarked against other authorities benefits still 
rely on changing behaviours. 

This can be mitigated by the Council’s approach to 
behavioural change, incentives to change and the 
marketing of preferred channels. 

The next phase should focus on developing a 
channel shift marketing, promotion and measurement 
plan.

P
age 114



There are a range of risks that the Council will need to manage in delivering this change:

61

Section 1: 
Introduction

Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Risks (3/3)

Risk Detail Mitigation

Double counting

In most services there are existing and planned 
programmes of work to transform and/or reduce 
service costs. There are risks that costs and savings 
identified in this programme are also reflected in other 
programmes of work. 

Care needs to be taken in benefits planning process 
to mitigate this risk and ensure that costs and savings 
aligned to the Council’s MTFP.

P
age 115



It is now vital that the programme maintains pace and momentum into 2020 onwards to deliver the benefits identified in this report 
and progress design work on the further service tranches. This report therefore recommends that the Council proceeds with the
following key next steps:

62

Next steps
Section 1: 

Introduction
Section 2: Case for 
Change & Vision

Section 3: Costs & 
Benefits

Section 4: 
Programme Plan

Ensure the right programme resources are in place to support the implementation of the whole programme.

Commence implementation of Tranche 1A.

Roll out design of Tranches 1B, 2 and 3.

Complete an IT roadmap to ensure access to and availability of IT software and resources to meet programme
requirements.

1

2

3

4

P
age 116



Appendix 2
Resident Access Programme – Phase 2 
One front door for residents in need

‐ high level design prospect 

Supporting Hammersmith and Fulham’s response 
to Covid‐19 and the continuing road to recovery

P
age 117



Our aims 

1. To provide a consistent approach and standard for Resident Access across all Council 
services.

2. To bring more Council services online so that Residents can self‐serve from initial contact 
to fulfilment & move towards digital solutions.

3. To provide an Assisted Digital offer along‐side consolidated telephone and face to face 
services where needed ‐ so that disabled residents and those who are digitally excluded 
can access the services they need in a way that works best for them.

4. Providing joined up, targeted and practical support for vulnerable residents that need our 
compassion and assistance.  

5. To deliver the forecasted benefits for the programme.

This will involve:

• Implementing largest programme of digital work H&F has ever delivered

• Delivering cultural change in how we interact with our residents/our customers

• Offering modern services on‐line

• Automating to improve convenience for residents

• Offering telephone and tailored face‐to‐face services for those who need it

• Focusing existing resources and significant additional one‐ off investment. 

• Cumulative savings of £8.5m over 5 years
2

Introduction and Context

Key benefits
• We will provide more services online so that 

Residents can self-serve and track from initial 
contact to fulfilment and at a cheaper cost to 
the Council.

• Deliver a common customer experience across 
the Council. 

• Get service delivery right first time and provide 
support where it is needed at the right time

• Integrate systems with our ‘front door’ to 
reduce inconvenience for customers and 
improve efficiency for our staff 

• Release staff to support better demand 
management and income generation

• Introduce new digital models such as e-billing 
and 

• Reduce production, maintenance and postal 
costs 

Resident Access is the way Residents access and engage with all services that the Council provides. It involves all the 
ways Residents can contact the Council: Digital; Telephone; Mail; and Face‐to‐Face. The Resident Access Programme 
(RAP) aims to transform all the experience residents have of contacting us through these channels. 

P
age 118



Programme Phases    

The first phase of the programme is the transformation of our large scale universal and transactional services that 
are mainly delivered by the Environment Department. These services are crucial ones to both residents and 
businesses.  This phase of the programme is now moving from design to delivery stage.  

The second phase will turn attention to delivery of more complex services, including access to housing, social care, 
planning services and adult education and employment services. The new digital capability and consolidated services 
secured in the first phase will be essential to the development of those services in the second phase. This second 
phase of the programme will be essential to the evolution of what we provide as a compassionate Council, tackling 
unfairness and promoting prosperity.   A strengths based and preventative approach will put community solutions at 
the front and centre of the service offer as we continued to develop and support our Community Action Network. 

Our Covid‐19 experience has increased the imperative for this programme and our appetite and confidence to move 
further and faster.  It has demonstrated;

• the criticality of digital delivery for both business continuity and the preferred access channel for the majority of 
resident’s.

• how much we can do through remote and digital working ‐ and how much of what we thought we needed we can 
deliver without. 

• the power of corporate working to deliver vital support services through a single front door, volunteering and 
community assets – with the Community Action network now a major asset for further support and development. 

The design phase of this programme has just started and we expect it will be completed by the end of October 2020 
with a significant level of initial delivery by April 2021

P
age 119



Programme scope and alignment    

Phase 1 of the Programme Phase 2 of the Programme 

Tranche 1A Tranche 1B Tranche 2 Tranche 3

Services • Council Tax 
Business Rates

• Benefits
• Parking
• Permits
• Cleaner Greener 
• Accessible 

Transport

• Regulatory Services
• Environmental Health
• Community Safety
• Highways
• Registrars
• In Touch
• Planning & Building 

Control 
• Mail Room

• Adult Social Care
• Housing

• Children’s
• Early Help
• Adult Education
• Any additional 

service activity

Total contact 
volumes (18/19) 1,002,343 164,928 459,473 60,421

Cross Programme Management:
• Design and delivery driven by analytics and co‐production 
• Use of phase 1 assets including; underpinning IT infrastructure, web development and 

corporate contact centre  
• Single view and account of residents and families
• Self service and community solutions first
• Phase 2 incorporates some transactional aspects (e.g. housing applications) and phase 

1 some services that are vital for supporting residents in need (e.g. Council Tax 
Support and accessible transport)

P
age 120



Indicative range and level of fulfilment of phase 2 
services from the single front door 

Range of services in scope  Indicative Depth of Delivery 
Homelessness & rough sleeping
Housing advice
Allocations (social lettings)
Allocations (temporary accommodation)

Low
Medium
High
Low

Neighbourhood services and sheltered housing
Repairs  

TBC
TBC

Adult Social Care (OP, MH, LD and DFG) High 
Access to Portfolio of Support and Prevention Services (in house and 
commissioned)

High (project will also include  
agile change work and major re‐
commission work)Access to Community Support and Solutions including MAGS, Estate 

Based Initiatives, TRAS etc 

Financial advice and support including benefits, debt and income High
SEND, LD and Autism Local Offer including transitions  Medium
Employment and Training  Medium 
Early Help for Families  High 
Antisocial Behaviour  Medium 
Complex Cases that fall between services  Medium 
Safeguarding and MASH’s Low 
Children at risk (ICAT Brief) and SEND Statutory Offer  Low 

P
age 121



Core Service Design Principles

Maximise Digital Access and Service Fulfilment  
 AI Solutions  
 Accessible to all  
 Direct access or referral  
 Channel Shift and Nudge Management  
 Channel Choice – understanding the need for 

conversations and some case work  
 Maximise use of web and corporate Contact Centre 

channels  
 End to end delivery at first point of contact where 

possible  
 No wrong door /High quality sign posting at all 

access points  
 Maximise use of corporate assets developed for 

phase 1 of the programme  

Person Centred and Strengths Based 
Approach  

 Resident led Co-production  
 Individual, Family and Community 

Solutions first -  
 Facilitate use of personal 

resources where available  
 One off direct payments/use of 

resources to provide solutions  
 Local neighbourhood  
 Circles of Support  
 System and Workforce Capability 

Development  
 
 

A Proactive and connected service offer that provides 
help up front and support to improve life 
quality/chances 

 Targeted support and prevention as the first focal 
point e.g. aids and adaptations, avoiding 
homelessness  

 Proactive Service – not just responsive – supported 
by intelligence and joined up data – single resident 
view to support continued design and commissioning 

 Front door design minimises the need for going 
deeper into service systems 

 Right Support, Right Time, Right Place 
 Home Visits where needed – including virtual  
 Commissioned, In-house and Community Based 

Support offer designed and delivered as a whole  
 Right Support, Right Time, Right Place  

 

Aligned to the wider local service 
system  
 
 
 

 Primary Care Networks aligned  
 Identifying and addressing 

isolation  
 Early Intervention and Diversion – 

crisis avoidance  
 
 

 

P
age 122



Design work underway 

• This phase of the Resident Access Programme will be sponsored by Lisa Redfern 

• Overview business case completed earlier this year has modelled indicative savings in the region of £2m from reduced 
delivery costs, re‐commissioning and improved preventative benefits for this phase of the programme.  The 
development is also key to supporting a wider range of change and savings ambitions across the Council. 

• A Cross Council Working Group of senior managers has been established and is being supported by the Council’s 
Recovery Programme.   It has set out this high level design prospect.  

• Intelligence and site visits being gathered from key Council’s that we can learn from (Islington, Waltham Forest, 
Barking and Dagenham, Buckinghamshire, Wigan)

• The voice and know how of residents, particularly those with lived experiences of being in need  must lead this phase 
of the programme. Initial members of a dedicated resident implementation group have been recruited and a plan is 
being put into place to build on this through the wide range of boards and residents groups that are in place including 
our commissions, tenants and residents associations and third sector boards.   

• A technical specification sets out the detailed mapping, design and modelling work required and an in house team to 
undertake it has been confirmed.  The team will work to the above noted resident implementation group.  

• Light touch advice and validation of the work will be provided by the consultancy partner being recruited to 
principally support delivery of phase 1 of the programme. 

P
age 123



32
1

STEP ONE: Self serve 
1. First choice contact 

method self serve online –
web based  information or 
online form

2. Then telephone
3. Plus drop in to any (?) of 

our buildings (single front 
door office or ‘children 
centres’ libraries leisure 
centres

STEP TWO: Triage and 
transactions

If not resolved through self 
serve and or direct contact is 
made contact centre/single 
front door team will endeavour 
to resolve and will hold the 
issue until solved.  Will draw 
on links across the council to 
find the solution and will 
actively use data to see if other 
issues need resolving at the 
same time. SAFEGUARDING/ICAT

Triage to refer 
safeguarding cases 
through to ICAT
immediately

STEP THREE: Staged solution 
focused  approach

1. First choice solution will be 
to facilitate access to 
services ‘ordinarily available’ 
in the community

2. Thereafter services provided 
by or on behalf of the 
council ‘commissioned’

3. If the service is not available 
the case will be escalated to 
senior management to 
identify a ‘bespoke solution’

MASH?

CAN/Front Door

Two way street ‐ Intelligence led 
outreach – learning, frequency of 
different demand, adapt to meet 
need and demand to the front 
door and to predict and prevent, 
repeat contacts etc

Same technology – one way in, all 
recorded in the same place

We remember the client – my 
account view, personal touch, 
they don’t have to repeat

Formative Operating Model Overview 

P
age 124



Provide easily accessible self service options, with intelligent forms to complete, signposting users to the right support services, 
promoting voluntary sector options and mutual aid groups. Contact  made through other channels will use the same triage service 
to identify the need and priority. First choice solution will be to facilitate access to services ‘ordinarily available’ in the community

One front door for multiple 
contacts 

ONE FRONT DOOR with a 
central record

STEP TWO: Triage and 
transactions

If not resolved through self 
serve and or direct contact is 
made contact centre/single 
front door team will 
endeavour to resolve and will 
hold the issue until solved.  
Will draw on links across the 
council to find the solution 
and will actively use data to 
see if other issues need 
resolving at the same time.

SAFEGUARDING/ICAT

Self serve;
Promote self service at 
first point of contact. All 
other channels will still 
remain available with no 
wrong front door and a 
joined up approach 

across multiple service 
areas 

Triage to refer 
safeguarding cases 
through to ICAT
immediately

With the 
professionals

Support needs with 
services provided by 

the council.
If the service is not 
available, escalations 
and management to 

find a bespoke 
solution 

Same technology 
with integration 
and self service 
updates – one way 
in, all recorded in 
the same place

Intelligent led outreach, use 
business intelligent led  data to 

adapt the service needs. Prediction 
and prevention with a high 

resolution rate at the first point of 
contact. 

Target Operating Model

P
age 125



Next steps

• SLT provide feedback and mandate to undertake detailed design and modelling 
work on the basis of this prospect. 

• Provide additional detail to for the October cabinet report to support key decision 
on full budget for the programme.  

• Agree internal lead and resources for undertaking the design work ensuring this 
plan assures delivery for end of October and is aligned to any consultancy capacity 
that may be needed. 

• Mobilise and agree aspects of this phase of the programme that will be led by and 
those that will be supported through co‐production with residents mandate.  

• Detailed mapping of all aspects of the ‘as is’ service system. 

• Agree and deliver quick win aspects of change that respond to the call for fast pace 
of change and application of the Covid‐19 4 Rs.  

P
age 126



Appendix 3 LBHF Equality Impact Analysis Tool   
 

 

Information  Details of Full Equality Impact Analysis  

Financial Year and 
Quarter  

 January 2020   

Name and details of 
policy, strategy, 
function, project, 
activity, or 
programme   

Title of EIA: Resident Access Programme: New  
Short summary:   
Current estimates for 2018 show H&F’s population is 185,004. Annually, the Council has over 1.7m interactions with its 
residents- see table below shows services contacted.  
The 1.7m contacts are through the following channels: 29% digital, 46% telephone, 9% face to face, 16% email / letter 
 

 
 
 
Although every service within the Council is different, Resident Journey types are largely consistent and fall into a handful of 
categories: Information, Advice & Signposting; Report it; Apply for it; Pay for it; Book it; Updates and Changes; and Track.  
 
In early 2019 an extensive review of the way residents access and engage with all services that the Council provides was 
undertaken across all channels, Digital; Telephone; Mail; and Face-to-Face. The review found that there is little consistency in 
the way resident contact is managed across the Council and IT arrangements supporting resident access are complex, 
fragmented and at a high cost to deliver. As a result, an operating model is being developed with the following aims:  

1. To provide a consistent approach and standard for Resident Access across all Council services. 
2. To bring more Council services online so that Residents can self-serve from initial contact to fulfilment & move towards 

digital solutions. 
3. To provide an Assisted Digital offer along-side consolidated telephone and face to face services where needed - so 

P
age 127



that disabled residents and those who are digitally excluded can access the services they need in a way that works 
best for them. 

4. Providing joined up, targeted and practical support for vulnerable residents that need our compassion and assistance.   
5. To deliver the forecasted benefits for the programme. 

 
Channel shift initiatives and integration with line of business systems is likely to result in efficiencies in terms of staff resourcing 
and non–digital infrastructure such as print and postage.  This is the first phase of the programme and is focused on 
environment services.   
 
The scope of the second phase of the programme are more complex services that reflect specific needs and more complex 
processes and decisions including planning, housing and social care services.  This aspect of the programme aims to better 
target and meet the needs of vulnerable residents.  The detailed work to design the future service offer for this aspect of the 
programme has yet to be undertaken.   
 
In many cases the programme will transform an existing digital offer (for instance an e-form that is delivered into an officer’s in-
box) into a fully transactional service (eg where data imports directly into a system). In these cases there should be a 
significant improvement in service quality and efficiency without channel shift or any expectation of new behaviour on the part 
of the customer. 
 
A full business case will be put forward to Cabinet in October 2020 requesting approval to proceed to the delivery stage for the 
first phase of the programme and undertake the detailed planning work for the second phase. Implementation will be phased in 
tranches – see grouping of the tranches (above). Focus will be on simpler services that are used by lots of residents first, such 
as Council Tax and environmental services.  At the same time the council will start looking at better ways for delivering more 
complex services for residents who need practical support including access to homelessness and social care services. 
Services within Tranches 1B, 2 and 3 will undergo the depth of design work that has happened for T1A. 
 
To ensure that sections of the population are not digitally excluded, the Council will deploy an ‘Assisted Digital’ service to 
support residents with particular support or access requirements and those who are unable to access online services. Support 
will be provided to residents to access our services digitally when they interact with us on the telephone or face-to-face through 
either remote assistance (over the telephone) or ‘floor walkers’ in face-to-face access locations. 
The Council will adopt a digital inclusion strategy which will underpin our approach to Assisted Digital. The strategy will seek   
to support Residents to develop digital skills so they can take advantage of digital technology in all aspects of their lives, 
whether managing their household finances, doing online shopping, or staying in touch with family and friends.  
Although we are committed to high levels of digital accessibility, the Council will maintain the option of face-to-face contact   
with qualified and capable staff in suitable offices and/or libraries. 
 
A campaign is currently actively seeking residents to become involved in co-producing positive changes to the way residents 
access and use council services 
This EIA considers the potential impact of the proposed option for change upon services users and groups of people with 

P
age 128



protected characteristics  
  
  
 

Lead Officer  Name:  Nicola Ellis  
Position:  AD, Resident Services  
Email:  nicola.ellis@lbhf.gov.uk 

Telephone No: 07776673095 
 

Date of completion of 
final EIA  

18 /02 / 20 

  
  

Section 02   Scoping of Full EIA  

Plan for completion   The full EIA for the Resident Access Programme will consist of 2 assessments completed at different stages of the 
programme  
 Timing: 
 
Part 1: Programme Proposal- analysis to provide a baseline and identify particular needs and preferences and ensure they are 
reflect in the design and testing work undertaken  
 
Part 2: Implementation – analysis of changes once implemented after first tranche to inform review and lessons learned  
 

Resources:  
Data held on line of business systems  

Analyse the impact of the 
policy, strategy, function, 
project, activity, or 
programme  

Analyse the impact of the policy on the protected characteristics (including where people / groups may appear in more than 
one protected characteristic). You should use this to determine whether the policy will have a positive, neutral or negative 
impact on equality, giving due regard to relevance and proportionality.  
  
 
 
 
 

P
age 129



Protected 
characteristic  

Analysis   
  

Impact: Positive, 
Negative, 
Neutral  

Age  In LBHF: Young adults aged 25-34 account for 23% , 0-17s account for 19% 
Some 15% of the population is aged between 50 and 64, while 10% of the population is 
in their retirement age (65+)  
The population is projected to continue rising but at a faster rate than between 2011 and 
2018. The increase is projected as 9.1% in the period 2018-2031.  
The largest percentage increases are projected to be in the population aged 75+ (40%), 
followed by the 65 to 74 group (24%), 55 to 64 (17%) and 16 to 24 (14%). 
 
The programme will not change eligibility criteria for the services or directly restrict 
accessibility based on age. 
 
However, a proportion of older residents are currently digitally excluded and the 
assisted digital offer is required to ensure they are not adversely impacted or fail to 
access improved, faster services.     The proportion of digitally excluded older people 
will reduce significantly as younger cohorts (eg 50 – 64 year olds) grow older. 
 
An assisted digital offer will assist to resolve any issues that may arise and affect this 
protected characteristic as a result of a channel shift.  
 
The developed service will be more accessible and better identify and meet the needs 
of residents from this group that need targeted support to maximise their health and well 
being and/or to address vulnerability.  

 Positive  

Disability   In the 2011 Census, 12.6% of H&F residents reported that they have a long-term health 
problem or disability that limits their day-to-day activities  
 
An assisted digital offer will assist to resolve any issues that may arise and affect this 
protected characteristic as a result of a channel shift 
 
 
The developed service will be more accessible and better identify and meet the needs 
of residents from this group that need targeted support to maximise their health and well 
being and/or to address vulnerability. 
 
 
 

Positive   

P
age 130



 

Gender 
reassignment  

 Data not currently available .  
 
 
The developed service will be more accessible and better identify and meet the needs 
of residents from this group that need targeted support to maximise their health and well 
being and/or to address vulnerability. 

Positive   

  

Marriage and Civil 
Partnership  

 According to the 2011 Census, an estimated 85,433 people (55.9%) aged 16 and over 
are single and have never been married in the borough 
29.6% of the borough residents aged 16 and over stated they were married at the time 
of the 2011 Census  
Proportionally more H&F residents are in a registered same-sex civil partnership (0.5%) 
compared to the regional and national averages (0.4% and 0.2% respectively).  
 
It is deemed unlikely that the programme will have a positive or negative impact 
specifically relating to this characteristic 
 

 
Neutral  

Pregnancy and 
maternity  

 No data available  
 
The developed service will be more accessible and better identify and meet the needs 
of residents from this group that need targeted support to maximise their health and well 
being and/or to address vulnerability. 

 
Positive  

Race   The 2011 Census found that 100,500 residents in LBHF are from an ethnic group other 
than White British, comprising some 55.1% of the total population. 31.9% of residents 
belonged to ethnic groups other than White,. The main ethnic minorities identified are 
Black African (5.8%), Mixed (5.5%), Other Asian (4%) and Black Caribbean (3.9%). 
Since 2001, the number of people of Mixed ethnicity had increased by 60% to just over 
10,000 in 2011. 
 
In 2019 in the UK , 90.8% of people aged 16 and over had used the internet in the 3 
months prior to being surveyed (making them ‘recent internet users’) 
the Indian and White ethnic groups had the lowest percentages of recent internet users 
(at 90.4% and 90.5%) and the Chinese ethnic group had the highest (98.6%) 
in London, recent internet use was broadly similar for Asian, White and Other ethnic 
groups, ranging from 93.3% to 94.7%, with a lower percentage of users in Black ethnic 
groups (88.9%) 

Across the UK, within every ethnic group, at least 98.5% of people aged 16 to 24 years 

 
 

Positive   

P
age 131



old were recent internet users. Amongst adults aged between 16 and 34, the 
percentage of recent internet users was broadly the same across ethnic groups. Asian 
people were less likely to be recent internet users than other ethnic groups in the 55 to 
64 age group (at 83.6%). Asian people were also less likely to be recent internet users 
than White ethnic groups in the 65 to 74 and 75+ age groups (at 64.8% and 29.9%) 

 
The programme would not change eligibility criteria for the service or restrict 
accessibility based on race  
 
The developed service will be more accessible and better identify and meet the needs 
of residents from this group that need targeted support to maximise their health and well 
being and/or to address vulnerability. 

Religion/belief 
(including non-
belief)  

 Among those who stated a religious affiliation, Christians remained the largest religious 
group in H&F representing 54.1% of residents. 13.5% of borough residents belong to 
non-Christian religions, the next largest being Muslim. 
Persons stating that they have no religion account for 24% of the total population 
 
The developed service should better targeted support to maximise health and well being 
and/or to address vulnerability based on religious belief. 
 

 
Neutral  

Sex   Not reported  
  
The developed service should better targeted support to maximise health and well being 
and/or to address vulnerability based on gender. 
 

Positive  

Sexual Orientation   No data available  
 
The developed service should better targeted support to maximise health and well being 
and/or to address vulnerability based on sexual orientation. 
 

 Positive  

  
Human Rights or Children’s Rights  
If your decision has the potential to affect Human Rights or Children’s Rights, please contact your Equality Lead for advice  
  
Will it affect Human Rights, as defined by the Human Rights Act 1998?   
No  
  

P
age 132



Will it affect Children’s Rights, as defined by the UNCRC (1992)?  
No  

  

  

 

Section 03  Analysis of relevant data   
Examples of data can range from census data to customer satisfaction surveys. Data should involve 
specialist data and information and where possible, be disaggregated by different equality strands.    

Documents and data 
reviewed  

 2018 Borough Profile  

 Ethnicity Facts and Figures- September 2019 . Gov.uk  

New research  If new research is required, please complete this section   

  

Section 04  Consultation  

Consultation  Details of consultation findings (if consultation is required. If not, please move to section 06). 
Internal consultation with Tara Flood, Strategic Lead, Co-Production and Fawad Bhatti, Social Inclusion 
& Policy Manager. 

Analysis of 
consultation outcomes   

 

  
  

Section 05  Analysis of impact and outcomes  

Analysis  71.8% of households in H&F contain people aged 16 and over who all speak English as a main language (74% in London and 
91.2% in England & Wales). Of the other 28.2% of households, 13.7% have at least one member who speaks English but in 
2.3% of households the only people who speak English as a main language are aged between three and fifteen.  
11,663 (14.5%) of households have no people that speak English as a main language; this is the thirteenth highest proportion 
in England & Wales. 

P
age 133



 
Although not a protected characteristic, the assisted digital offer will reflect the need to accommodate those residents who do 
not speak English nor have access to support. 

 
The analysis of the proposed changes against protected characteristics has identified that the overall programme should have 
a neutral impact on service users. Eligibility for services will remain the same and the service will be designed to increase ease 
of use, confidence in contacting the service and the ability of the council to respond effectively and track requests.  The 
assisted digital offer and the role of co-production will support the use of re-designed digital channels for the digitally excluded.  
The existing face-to-face and telephone channels will continue to be available.  
 
 
A full communication plan is being developed to ensure that all stakeholders are engaged and informed about the relevant 
changes. This includes establishment of a resident co-production group. A range of Internal and external communication 
channels will be used to keep staff, residents and partners informed of planned and delivered changes including; web, 
intranet, AV and written materials in reception spaces and face to face services. 
We will properly market and support the release of new on line services and changes to telephone and face to face services. 
It is planned that consultation throughout the implementation stage will continue to be informed by the wider communication 
and engagement strategy  

 
 
   

  
  

Section 06  Reducing any adverse impacts and recommendations  

Outcome of Analysis  Include any specific actions you have identified that will remove or mitigate the risk of adverse impacts 
and / or unlawful discrimination. This should provide the outcome for LBHF, and the overall outcome.   

  
  
 

Section 07  Action Plan  

Action Plan   Note: You will only need to use this section if you have identified actions as a result of your analysis  
  
  

P
age 134



Issue identified  Action (s) to be 
taken  

When  Lead officer and 
borough  

Expected 
outcome  

Date added to 
business/service 
plan  

            

  

  

Section 08  Agreement, publication and monitoring  

Chief Officers’ sign-off  Name:  Nicola Ellis 

Position:  Assistant Director Residents’ Services 

Email:  nicola.ellis@lbhf.gov.uk 

Telephone No: 07776 673 095 

Key Decision Report  
(if relevant)  

Date of report to Cabinet/Cabinet Member: 20/04/20   
Key equalities issues have been included: Yes 

Opportunities Manager 
(where involved)  
 
No longer applicable 
(meeting with Fawad 
Bhatti, 18 Feb 2020) 

Name:   
Position:   
Date advice / guidance given:  
Email:   
Telephone No:   

  
  
  

Reviewed in July 2018  
  

 

P
age 135



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
Report to: Cabinet  
 
Date: 12/10/2020 
 
Subject: APPROVE PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE COUNCIL’S HOUSING 

SCHEME OF ALLOCATIONS  
 
Report of: Councillor Lisa Homan, Cabinet Member for Housing 

Report author:    Gerry Crowley, Head of Housing Allocations & Lettings  

Responsible Director: Tony Clements, Strategic Director for the Economy  

 

 
Summary 

 
The Council is statutorily obliged to adopt and operate a Housing Allocation Scheme (also 
known as the ‘Scheme of Allocation’) which sets out the rules by which it allocates 
available affordable rented accommodation. The current Housing Allocation Scheme was 
last amended in 2018.  
 
The proposals include the introduction of an online housing allocations platform to enable 
residents to take an active part in the Council’s rehousing process, therefore creating more 
transparency and greater customer involvement in the process.  

 
We want to do more to ensure that those residents with the greatest need get the right 
housing solution.  We are committed to the key objectives of the Disabled People’s 
Housing Strategy 2020 and want to ensure that housing which has been adapted or is 
adaptable goes to those that need it most.  We also want to create a better and more 
secure future for young adults leaving care.   
 
The Cabinet previously gave its approval for officers to utilise its powers under the 
Localism Act to discharge its housing duty into the private rented sector (PRS). We are 
proposing a change to the policy to allow those households which are assisted into the 
private rented sector to remain on the Council’s housing register. 
 

 
Recommendations: 
 
To approve the following changes to the Housing Allocation Scheme: 
 

1. Change the way social housing is allocated by introducing an online digital housing 
platform. 
 

2. Allow qualifying households to remain or join the housing register when assisted 
into the Private Rented Sector via our Homelessness Service. 

 
3. Lower the community contribution threshold for Disabled people. 

Page 136

Agenda Item 6



 
4. Make an exception to the local residency qualification so that young people are not 

disadvantage by time spent outside the borough to access SEN services.  
 
5. Ring fence properties which have been adapted or are suitable for adaption for 

disabled households. 
 

6. Give additional priority for young people ready for move-on from Care by increasing 
their priority award to Band 1 and increase the annual quota for Children Leaving 
Care from 30 to 40 housing lets. 
 

7. That local Lettings Plans be put in place automatically to give local residents priority 
for all new social housing developments. 

 

 
Wards Affected: All 
 

 
 
H&F Priorities 
 
Please state how the outcome will contribute to our priorities  
 

Our Priorities Summary of how this report aligns to the 
H&F Priorities  

 Creating a compassionate 
council 

Compassion is about equipping people to live 
independent lives.  
 
The proposed changes aim to increase the 
number of opportunities for disabled people to 
access housing which is suitable and adapted 
for their specific requirements.  
 
We will also increase the number of young 
people leaving care and going into secure and 
affordable housing, thus providing the basis for 
a brighter and secure future.   
 

 Doing things with local 
residents, not to them 

The changes will give residents full visibility 
to the housing allocation process, the 
number of rehousing opportunities and the 
stock that becomes available for re-letting.  
 
The online platform will allow residents to 
play a more active role in their rehousing 
journey, as they will decide which homes 
they wish to apply for based on their 
housing requirements. The on-line platform 
will allow those supporting our most 
vulnerable residents to view and assist with 
choosing the correct rehousing pathway.  

 Being ruthlessly financially The change to allow homeless households 

Page 137



efficient to remain on the Council’s housing register 
will provide reassurance to applicants and 
ensure greater take up of PRS offers. In 
Summer 2018, Cabinet approved a one-off 
investment of £900,000 from the Temporary 
Accommodation reserve to secure 300 
additional private rented sector properties. 
This is expected to enable officers to reduce 
accommodation costs by c£2.1m over four 
years by avoiding expensive costs of short 
term leased properties. This will help 
mitigate the impact of reducing government 
grants (anticipated to reduce by approx. 
£3.5m over a four-year period).  
 
The on-line platform will allow the Council to 
advertise void properties to a much wider 
audience, which will speed up the re-letting 
process and reduce rental loss on voids.  
 

 
Financial Impact  
 
Should the proposals be approved by Cabinet, the expected financial impact includes: 
 

 Housing colleagues have advised that based on feedback from customers, the 
proposal to allow those households assisted into the PRS to remain on the housing 
register will provide reassurance to applicants and ensure greater take up of PRS 
offers, thereby supporting the delivery of the MTFS savings required in 2020/21 of 
£392,000 relating to the discharge of the main housing duty in the PRS.  
 

 The cost to procure an online digital housing platform is, based on similar platforms 
procured by Home Buy, expected to be less than £50,000 per annum. This cost 
would need to be funded from existing budgets across The Economy Department. 
These costs are expected to be partially offset by the reductions in rent loss from 
void properties as a result of faster re-let turnaround times. The detailed financial 
implications including implementation and annual costs will be set out in a future 
contract award report. 

 
Implications completed by: Danny Rochford, Head of Finance (The Economy Department), 
020 8753 4023. 
 
Implications verified by: Emily Hill, Director of Finance, 020 8753 3145 
 
Legal Implications 

 
The allocation of social housing by local housing authorities is regulated by Part VI of the 
Housing Act 1996.  The Council is required by Section 166A of the Act 1996 to have an 
allocation scheme for determining priorities and establishing procedure for the allocation of 
housing accommodation in the borough.   The Council can only allocate accommodation in 
accordance with its scheme.   

Page 138



 
The Council has powers granted under the Localism Act which allows it to set its own local 
priorities when allocating its social housing stock.  The Localism Act also enables the 
Council to discharge its housing duty into suitable accommodation in the private rented 
market.    

 
When making alterations to the allocation scheme reflecting a major change of policy the 
Council is required to consult with Registered Providers active within the borough and 
allow them the opportunity to comment on the alterations.  
 
Legal Implications completed by Janette Mullins, Chief Solicitor (litigation) 020 8753 2744 
 

 
Name: Danny Rochford  
Position: Head of Finance (The Economy Department) 
Telephone: 020 8753 4023 
Email:  Danny.Rochford@lbhf.gov.uk 
Verified by Emily Hill, Director of Finance.  
 
Name: Janette Mullins 
Position: Chief Solicitor (Litigation and Social Care) 
Telephone: 020 8753 2744 
Email: Janette.mullins@lbhf.gov.uk  
 

 
Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
 
Related documents such as the Housing Allocation Scheme, Housing Act 1996, The 
Localism Act 2011, Housing Suitability Order and the Homelessness Code of Guidance 
which govern how social housing is allocated and the power to discharge the duty into the 
private rented sector are readily available in the public domain – ALL PUBLISHED 
 

 
  

Page 139

mailto:%20Danny.Rochford@lbhf.gov.uk
mailto:Janette.mullins@lbhf.gov.uk


DETAILED ANALYSIS 
 
1. Proposals and Analysis of Options  
 
Allocating housing in a fair and transparent way: 
 
The Council currently operates an ‘assisted choice’ model when allocating its housing 
stock.  This simply means that successful housing applicants are awarded a priority band 
and placed on the Council’s housing register.  Housing is then allocated in order of band 
priority and time spent in the band, taking into account any known housing preferences or 
needs.  Households are then contacted when they appear on a shortlist for housing, 
which, depending on their assessed housing requirement could be some years after 
joining the register.   
 
The proposed introduction of an on-line platform will enable us to better serve our 
residents.  The change will bring transparency to the allocation process and allow the 
applicant to play an active role in their housing journey.  Properties will be advertised on 
the platform giving qualifying residents the visibility and opportunity to express an interest 
depending on their own individual housing preference and requirements. We will shortlist 
and carry out viewings as we do now.  The overall process will be managed where 
possible, in line with the terms of the current policy, but improved with the use of 
technology. 
 
A working group will be formed to draw up the full design specification for the platform and 
ensure it has the capacity to allow residents to easily access and manage their own 
housing application, maintain updated contact details and upload supporting 
documentation. We are committed to ensuing the design, production and implementation 
is finalised whilst involving disabled residents. 
 
At point of application, a full housing assessment is completed to identify the individual’s 
specific housing requirements. Applicants who may lack access to an IT or smart gadget, 
or have difficulties accessing the online housing allocation platform will have a number of 
options to assist them ‘bid’ for suitable properties.  The “assisted bidding options” will 
include the applicant receiving an alert by text or email when accommodation matching 
their requirement becomes available, the option to allow an officer or support worker to bid 
on their behalf or lastly, the option to be automatically considered for all eligible re-housing 
opportunities.  
 
To assist and support residents, a full comprehensive training programme will be 
developed and rolled out across the borough to colleagues located in all housing offices, 
libraries, jobcentres, legal, welfare and community advice centres. Support will be 
available to assist with those using the system which will allow residents to apply online, 
by email, text, telephone or in writing.    
 
There are currently five known main suppliers in the market when it comes to the provision 
of the required housing software solutions. We will engage with those suppliers to market 
test and evaluate the options available to the Council. 
 
 
 
 

Page 140



Improving access to housing for those with the greatest need: 
 
We want to do more to ensure that those residents with the most complex needs get 
access to the right housing solution.  Therefore, we are proposing that accommodation 
which has been adapted or is adaptable goes to those that require it most.  Much of the 
Council’s housing stock was built in an era which renders it unsuitable for disabled people 
which has resulted in fewer rehousing opportunities for those that require accessible 
housing.   We want to ensure that wherever possible, the supply of accessible housing is 
maximised and therefore those properties that have been adapted or are deemed suitable 
for adaptation are identified and ringfenced for those that need it most. 
 
We also want to create the opportunity for a better and more secure future for those 
children leaving care.  Much work has been done recently to expediate the move-on from 
care to independent living, due to closer working and effective protocols between Housing 
and Children’s Services.  We propose to amend the policy to award the highest priority - 
Band 1, to those ready for move-on from care.  We also propose to increase the annual 
Children Leaving Care quota from 30 to 40 social lets per year.    
 
The Council awards additional priority – Band 2, to applicants that satisfy the community 
contribution criteria. To qualify through employment, the household is required to work for 
a minimum of 16 hours in line with DWP working tax credit rules. Whilst many disabled 
people  work there may be circumstances in which a disability prevents this or the full 
criteria being met, in such cases we will review the individual circumstances and apply the 
principles of the policy.   
 
To qualify to join the Council’s housing register, applicants are required to have been 
resident in the borough for the last 5 years at point of application or 5 of the last 7 years. 
We recognise that young people that have resided outside the borough to access SEN 
services should not be disadvantaged or fall foul of the Council’s residency qualification. 
Therefore, we propose to change the policy to ensure that time spent outside the borough 
to access SEN services will not count when returning to the borough, this will ensure that 
young people with special education needs are not disadvantaged as they transition to 
adulthood. 
 
Local lettings policies are an important tool that can be used to respond to specific local 
circumstances and are one of the main vehicles for the local authority to use flexibility 
within the overall allocation scheme for social and affordable rented housing.  We propose 
that where social housing has been lost in a locality, we will automatically roll out a local 
lettings plan for all new housing developments consisting of 5 or more social housing units.  
The plan will prioritise those qualifying residents on the immediate estates or postal code 
before being offered to the remainder of the housing register across the borough. 
 
 
Assisting those into suitable accommodation whilst remaining on the Housing 
Register:  

 
The Council has seen an 127% increase in the number of households approaching for 
housing assistance (1,235 households in 2017/18 to 2,801 in 2018/19). Perhaps, more 
significantly, there was a dramatic increase in the number of homeless applications, up by 
162%. The average number homeless applications made over the past four years was 
511, compared to 1,011 in 2018/19.  The Council has a statutory duty to relieve 

Page 141



homelessness with a suitable offer of accommodation, which can be either temporary 
accommodation (TA) leased to the Council or accommodation in the private rented sector 
(PRS).  The latter must be an Assured Shorthold Tenancy (AST) for a minimum of 12 
months.  
 
Avoidance of TA and continuing to reduce the current levels will realise savings to the 
general fund and is estimated at £392,000 in real savings (as opposed to cost avoidance) 
at the end of 2020/21.   
 
The Cabinet previously expressed its support for officers to utilise the powers as granted 
under the Localism Act to discharge the Council’s housing duty into the private rented 
sector.  
 
The proposal is that those households where we would have accepted a full housing duty, 
accept an offer of an AST in the PRS will be allowed to remain on the Council’s Housing 
Register rather than in TA.  Any time spent outside the borough will not count against them 
in regards to retaining a local connection to the borough. In making this change, 
households are less likely to refuse the offer of an AST in the PRS.  Applications will 
continue to be verified on an annual basis to ensure assistance is required.   
The housing register currently has 2,700 households awaiting rehousing, on the current 
projections, this proposed change may directly result in an annual increase of 
approximately 200 households to the housing register every year. 

 
2. Reasons for Decision 

 
To include residents when seeking to meet the growing and changing demand for 
housing assistance in the borough and to ensure that our policies and procedures 
continue to evolve to meet the requirements of residents. 

 
3. Equality Implications  
 

As required under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the Council has considered 
its obligations regarding the Public-Sector Equality Duty and it is not anticipated that 
there will be any direct negative impact on groups with protected characteristics, as 
defined by the Equalities Act, from the proposed changes to the housing scheme.  
 
The completed Equalities Impact Assessment is attached as Annex 2 to this report. 
Overall, officers have considered the impact to be neutral with some positive 
aspects for certain groups with protected characteristics. 
 
The report was shared with the Strategic Lead Co-production (Kevin Caulfield & 
Tara Flood) who have acknowledged that the report proposes positive changes 
which will help deliver the key objectives of the Disabled People’s Housing strategy, 
particularly an increase to the supply of accessible and affordable housing to meet 
the needs of disabled residents. 
 
Although a public consultation was conducted and, in an effort to encourage 
engagement, 1200 households on the housing register were directly contacted, it is 
acknowledged that going forward, the principles of co-production will create further 
benefits.  A working task group will be created which will help to plan, design and 
implement the new housing digital platform.  Officers have committed to ensuring 

Page 142



membership of the group will be broadened to include residents, with an onus on 
representation from disabled residents.   

 
Implications completed by: Fawad Bhatti, Social Inclusion and Policy Manager, tel. 
07500 103617 and Gerry Crowley, Head of Allocations & Lettings, 02087536994 

 
4. Implications for Business  

 
No impact on local businesses.  This proposal is about giving residents an 
opportunity through consultation to comment on proposed changes to how social 
housing is allocated. The objectives here are about ensuring the needs of residents 
are best met with a restricted supply of social housing.  

 
Implications completed by: Albena Karameros, Economic Development Team, 
07739 316 957. 

 
 
 
 
5. Consultation 

 
In May 2020, the Council undertook a consultation on the proposed changes to the 
Council’s allocation scheme.  The proposed changes were publicised on our 
website whilst proactively seeking views from Registered Providers within the 
borough.  We also directly contacted a cross selection of those households on the 
Councils housing register. Overall, the responses expressed overwhelming support 
for the proposed changes. 

 
Summary table of responses to changes: 

 
Strongly Agree OR Agree 85% 

Do Not Mind 12.8 

Disagree 0% 

Strongly Disagree 1.2% 

 
 
List of Appendices: 
 
Annexe 1. Table of Proposed Changes to H&F Housing Allocation Scheme. 
Annexe 2.  H&F Equality Impact Analysis Tool  
Annexe 3.  Summary of Public Consultation on proposed changes 

Page 143



ANNEXE 1 
Table of Proposed Changes to H&F Housing Allocation Scheme 2020 (Oct 2020) 

 
 

Area & 
paragraph 

Proposed 
Change 

Reason for Amendment 

Qualification 
& 
Preference 
Groups 

Allow 
qualifying 
households to 
remain/join the 
housing 
register when 
assisted into 
the Private 
Rented Sector 
via our 
Homelessness 
Service 

In the face of increased demand for housing assistance and 
rising cost of Temporary Accommodation (TA) provision, the 
Council now fully utilises its powers under the Localism Act to 
discharge its homelessness duty via offers of suitable 
accommodation in the Private Rented Sector (PRS). 
Currently, if the household is rehoused into the PRS, they are 
removed or denied access to the housing register as they are 
considered suitably housed. This proposal is to allow those 
qualifying households where the Council would have 
accepted a full housing duty, to join or remain on the 
Council’s housing register where we discharge our 
homelessness duty into the PRS, awarding Priority Band 2. 
 
Feedback has shown that households resist the Council’s 
offer of accommodation in the PRS as it means they lose 
their place on the Council’s housing register. We believe this 
change will enable the Council to make more offers of 
accommodation in the PRS whilst providing reassurance to 
residents that they can retain their position on the Housing 
register.  
 

The 
Allocation 
Process 

Change to the 
way the 
Council 
allocates its 
social housing 
stock.   
 
Proposal to 
introduce an 
online digital 
housing 
platform.   

The Council currently employs an ‘assisted choice’ model to 
allocate its housing stock.  Essentially, successful households 
join the housing register and are contacted once they appear 
on a shortlist to view a suitable property. Applicants are 
currently unaware of which properties are available to let, or 
have been let, or their position on the housing register.  
 
The introduction of an on-line platform will allow those on the 
housing register to play a more active part in the rehousing 
process. The platform will allow applicants to see which 
properties are available for re-let and will allow them to 
express a preference for a particular property suitable for 
their specific needs. 
 
The platform will create more visibility and transparency to 
the housing allocation process will give sight of the bigger 
picture regarding housing demand in the borough.  
  

Community 
Contribution 

Lower the 
threshold for 
Disabled 
households.  

The Council awards additional priority to applicants making a 
positive contribution to the local community. To qualify 
through employment, the household is required to work for a 
minimum of 16 hours in line with DWP rules on working tax 
credits. Whilst many disabled people work there may be 
circumstances in which a disability prevents this or the full 
criteria being met, in such cases we will review the individual 
circumstances and apply the principles of the Community 
Contribution policy. 
 

Local Exception to To qualify to join the Council’s housing register, applicants 

Page 144



Residency 
Qualification 

the Council’s 
local residency 
qualification 
for disabled 
households 

are required to meet the local residency criteria - to be 
resident in the borough for the last 5 years or 5 of the last 7 
years. This proposal will ensure that time spent outside the 
borough to access SEN services will not count when 
returning to the borough, this will ensure that young people 
with special education needs are not disadvantaged as they 
transition to adulthood 

Allocation of 
Homes 

Ring fence 
adapted or 
suitable for 
adaption for 
disabled 
households   

Due to the age of the housing stock in the borough, adapted 
properties or properties suitable for adaptation are in short 
supply. This proposal will allow the Council to ringfence 
adapted properties or those properties identified as adaptable 
for disabled households assessed as either mobility 1,2 or 3.  

Move-on 
from Care 
Reasonable 
Preference 
category 
s167(2)(c) 

Additional 
priority for 
young people 
ready for 
move-on from 
Care 

We want to help young adults leaving care with the best 
possible start as they transform to adulthood.  We therefore 
propose to increase their priority award to Band 1 whilst 
increasing the annual quota for Children Leaving Care from 
30 to 40 housing lets.  
 

Local 
Lettings 
Plans 

Local Lettings 
Plans to be put 
in place 
automatically 
for all new 
social housing 
developments 

We will automatically roll out a local lettings plan for all new 
housing developments consisting of 5 or more social housing 
units which will give priority to qualifying local residents on the 
immediate estates or postal code before being offered to the 
remainder of the housing register across the borough.    

   

 
 

Page 145



 

 
 
 
ANNEXE 2  
 
             
 

H&F Equality Impact Analysis Tool  
  
Conducting an Equality Impact Analysis 
 
An EqIA is an improvement process which helps to determine whether our policies, practices, or new proposals will 
impact on, or affect different groups or communities. It enables officers to assess whether the impacts are positive, 
negative or unlikely to have a significant impact on each of the protected characteristic groups. 
 
The tool has been updated to reflect the new public sector equality duty (PSED). The Duty highlights three areas in 
which public bodies must show compliance. It states that a public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, 
have due regard to the need to: 
 
1. Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited under 
this Act; 
 
2. Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 

persons who do not share it; 
 
3. Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons 

who do not share it. 
 
Whilst working on your Equality Impact Assessment, you must analyse your proposal against the three tenets of 
the Equality Duty. 

P
age 146



 

General points 
 

1. In the case of matters such as service closures or reductions, considerable thought will need to be given to 
any potential equality impacts. Case law has established that due regard cannot be demonstrated after the 
decision has been taken. Your EIA should be considered at the outset and throughout the development of 
your proposal, it should demonstrably inform the decision, and be made available when the decision is 
recommended.  
 

2. Wherever appropriate, the outcome of the EIA should be summarised in the Cabinet/Cabinet Member report 
and equalities issues dealt with and cross referenced as appropriate within the report. 

 
3. Equalities duties are fertile ground for litigation and a failure to deal with them properly can result in 

considerable delay, expense and reputational damage. 
 

4. Where dealing with obvious equalities issues e.g. changing services to disabled people/children, take care 
not to lose sight of other less obvious issues for other protected groups. 

 
5. If you already know that your decision is likely to be of high relevance to equality and/or be of high public 

interest, you should contact the Strategy & Communities team for support.  
 

6. Further advice and guidance can be accessed from the separate guidance document (on the intranet) or 
ACAS - EIA. Or you can contact the relevant officer (see below). 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fawad Bhatti (Policy & Strategy Officer)  
Fawad.bhatti@lbhf.gov.uk  
07500 103617 
 

P
age 147

http://www.acas.org.uk/media/pdf/s/n/Acas_managers_guide_to_equality_assessments.pdf
mailto:Fawad.bhatti@lbhf.gov.uk


Overall 
Information 

Details of Full Equality Impact Analysis 

Financial Year 
and Quarter 

2020/21Q2 

Name and details 
of policy, 
strategy, 
function, project, 
activity, or 
programme  

Title of EIA:  Proposed changes to existing H&F Allocation Policy  
Short summary:  

The Council is statutorily obliged to adopt and operate a Housing Allocation Scheme which sets out the rules by 
which it allocates affordable rented accommodation. We propose to make some changes to the scheme which will 
help ensure that those residents with the greatest need are prioritised for the right housing solution.  
 
We are proposing some changes which will help prioritise children leaving care, homeless households and 
disabled people gain access to safe, secure and suitable housing.  We also want to create greater transparency 
with the introduction of an online housing platform to advertise our rehousing opportunities, this will enable 
residents to play a more active role in their rehousing journey.  
 
Proposed Changes 
 
1) We change the way we allocate our social housing with the introduction of an on-line housing platform to 

advertise and allocate the social housing stock within the borough. The change will bring transparency to the 
allocation process and allow the applicant to play an active role in their housing journey.  Properties will be 
advertised on the platform giving qualifying residents the visibility and opportunity to express an interest 
depending on their own individual housing preferences and requirements. We will manage the overall process 
in line with the terms of the current policy, whilst incorporating technology to bring about improvements.  

 
2) We want to do more to ensure that disabled people are prioritised for the right housing solution.  Therefore, we 

propose that accommodation which has been adapted or is deemed adaptable by our Occupational Therapy 
service is prioritised for those that need it most.   

 
3) We want to help more young adults leaving care with the best possible start as they transform to adulthood.  

We therefore propose to increase their priority award to Band 1 whilst increasing the annual quota for Children 
Leaving Care from 30 to 40 housing lets.  

 
4) The Cabinet has previously expressed its approval for officers to utilise its powers under the Localism Act to 

discharge its housing duty into the private rented sector. To avoid and reduce the number of households in 
expensive temporary accommodation. We recommend a change to the policy which will allow those homeless 
households that work with our housing prevention service and have their homelessness successfully 
prevented by accepting accommodation in the private rented sector, to remain on the housing register.   

P
age 148



 
  

  

 
5) To qualify to join the Council’s housing register, applicants are required to meet the local residency criteria, ie 

resident in the borough for 5 of the last 7 years. We recognise that some young people have had to reside 
outside the borough to access SEN services and these should not be disadvantaged or fall foul of the 
Council’s residency qualification. Therefore, we propose to change the policy to ensure that time spent outside 
the borough to access SEN services will be disregarded, this will ensure that young people with special 
education needs are not disadvantaged as they transition to adulthood. 

 
6) We propose that Local Lettings Plans are automatically implemented for all new housing developments across 

the borough consisting of five or more social housing units. The lettings plans will prioritise qualified local 
residents living on the effected estate or the immediate locality before opening up to the rest of the housing 
register.  

 
Note: If your proposed strategy will require you to assess impact on staff, please consult your HR Relationship 
Manager. 

Lead Officer  Name: Gerry Crowley 
Position: Head of Housing Allocations & Lettings  
Email: gerry,crowley@lbhf.gov.uk 
Telephone No: 020 8753 6994  
 

Date of 
completion of 
final EIA 

24 August 2020 

P
age 149



H&F Equality Impact Analysis Tool 
 
 
 

Section 02  Scoping of Full EIA 

Plan for 
completion 

Timing: October 2020 
Resources: Gerry Crowley, Head of Housing Allocations & Lettings & Mariana Stojanovic, Allocations and Voids 
Manager 
 
 

Analyse the 
impact of the 
policy, strategy, 
function, project, 
activity, or 
programme 

Analyse the impact of the policy on the protected characteristics (including where people / groups may appear in 
more than one protected characteristic). You should use this to determine whether the policy will have a positive, 
neutral or negative impact on equality, giving due regard to relevance and proportionality. 
 

Protected 
characteristic 

Borough Analysis  
 

Impact: 
Positive, 
Negative, 
Neutral 

Age 

 
 
 
 
 
Older people  
The eligibility and qualification rules on grounds of age remain unchanged, 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 150



therefore there is no direct impact. However, we are mindful that proposed 
changes to the process in which we advertise and allocate social housing with 
the introduction of an on-line platform will require access to IT, which may have 
a moderate negative impact on elderly residents as they may be less competent 
with the use of information technology. Applicants aged 75 or over account for 
3.5% of those registered on council’s housing register, rising to 8.5% to include 
all aged 65 or over. 
The Service has identified and mitigated for potential difficulties residents may 
encounter with using digital platform for purpose of rehousing by; 
1.Ensuring alternative processes and assistance is in place to ensure residents 
without IT access or user confidence continue to be actively considered for all 
suitable rehousing opportunities and therefore will not be disadvantaged.  
2.Borough wide awareness and training programme will be rolled out with 
information and assistance available to community and charitable groups in the 
borough.  
3. Introducing self help stations based in 145 Kings Road customer service area 
with the provision of floating support. 
4. At point of application, a full housing assessment is completed to identify the 
individual’s specific housing requirements. Applicants (young or old) who may 
lack IT access or have difficulties accessing the online housing allocation 
platform will have a number of options to help them ‘bid’ for suitable properties.  
The “assisted bidding options” include the applicant receiving an alert by text or 
email when accommodation matching their requirement becomes available, the 
option to allow an officer or support worker to bid on their behalf or to be 
automatically considered for all eligible re-housing opportunities. 
 
 
Younger People  
 
Changes to the way we calculate local residency, ensuring time that young 
people spent outside the borough in order to access SEN services, is counted in 
requirement of applicant being resident for a total of five out of the last seven 
years, will have positive impact on young people with education needs and their 
transition into adulthood and independent living. 

 
 
 
 
 

Neutral 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Positive 

P
age 151



 
Increasing the priority band award to Band 1 and annual housing quota for 
Children leaving care from 30 to 40, will have a positive impact on young adults 
leaving social care and enable more young people to live independently and 
achieving full potential. 
 

Disability Proposed change to ensure that accommodation which has been adapted or is 
deemed adaptable by our Occupational Therapy service is prioritised for those 
that need it most, will have a positive impact on disabled people, ensuring they 
have a range of accommodation available to suit their specific needs. 
26% of applicants currently on the council’s housing register require adaptations 
in order to meet their medical needs.  
 
At point of application, a full housing assessment is completed to identify the 
individual’s specific housing requirements. Applicants who may lack IT access or 
have difficulties accessing the online housing allocation platform will have a 
number of options to help them ‘bid’ for suitable properties.  The “assisted 
bidding options” include the applicant receiving an alert by text or email when 
accommodation matching their requirement becomes available, the option to 
allow an officer or support worker to bid on their behalf or to be automatically 
considered for all eligible re-housing opportunities. 
 
Online digital platform will adhere to the relevant guidance and statutory 
requirements regarding visual impairment. Service guidance will be provided in a 
range of language 
 

 
Positive 

Gender 
reassignment 

  
There are no identified impacts for gender re-assignment   
 
 

Neutral  

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

 
There are no identified impacts for marriage and civil partnership. 
 

Neutral 

Pregnancy and  Neutral 

P
age 152



maternity There are no identified impacts for pregnancy and maternity, which are 
considered a priority group if eligible for housing assistance, under the 1996 
Housing Act.   
 

Race  
Please see the current breakdown of ethnicity within the current active Housing 
Register applicants  

 
 
Proposed changes to the Allocation Policy will continue to ensure equality of 
access, treatment and assessment to all council residents irrespectively of their 
race.  

Positive  

Religion/belief 
(including non-
belief) 

The eligibility and qualification rules on grounds of religion/belief (including non-
belief) remain unchanged, therefore there is no direct impact. 
However, the proposed changes will deliver more choice and control to the 
applicant in the rehousing process, allowing them to reside closer to chosen 
place of worship should they wish.  

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 153



 

 

Positive 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

  

Sex There are no identified impacts on grounds of gender.  

 
 

 

Neutral 

Sexual 
Orientation 

There are no negative impacts for sexual orientation.  Neutral 

 
Human Rights or Children’s Rights 
If your decision has the potential to affect Human Rights or Children’s Rights, please contact your Equality Lead 
for advice 
 
Will it affect Human Rights, as defined by the Human Rights Act 1998?  

P
age 154



No 
 
Will it affect Children’s Rights, as defined by the UNCRC (1992)? 
No 
 

 
 

Section 03 Analysis of relevant data  
Examples of data can range from census data to customer satisfaction surveys. Data should involve specialist data 
and information and where possible, be disaggregated by different equality strands.   

Documents and 
data reviewed 

 
Council data it holds for the purpose of rehousing and monitoring the use and effectiveness of the services  
 
 

New research If new research is required, please complete this section  
 n/a  

 
 
 

Section 04 Consultation 

 Complete this section if you have decided to supplement existing data by carrying out additional consultation. 

Consultation in 
the  borough 

 

In May 2020, H&F conducted a public consultation on the proposed changes to the Housing Allocation Scheme.  

To facilitate this process officers utilised the Citizen Space consultation platform which can be accessed via the 

H&F website by any individual with no restriction.  

In addition to contacting all registered Housing Associations in the borough, the Council directly contacted  a cross 

selection of 1200 households on the housing register with an invitation to participate, to ensure those applicants 

whom the proposed changes impacted most were given an opportunity to have their say. 

H&F received a total of 13 responses during the consultation exercise.  

P
age 155



 

Analysis of 
consultation 
outcomes  

  
Overall, the responses expressed overwhelming support for the proposed changes to the Housing Allocation 
Scheme, with the following summary:  
 

Strongly Agree OR Agree 85% 

Do Not Mind 12.8 

Disagree 0% 

Strongly Disagree 1.2% 

 
  

 
 

Section 05 Analysis of impact and outcomes 

Analysis What has your consultation (if undertaken) and analysis of data shown? You will need to make an informed 
assessment about the actual or likely impact that the policy, proposal or service will have on each of the protected 
characteristic groups by using the information you have gathered. The weight given to each protected characteristic 
should be proportionate to the relevant policy (see guidance). 
 

The response to the consultation has indicated overwhelming support for the proposed changes. The consultation 
did allow for general comments which enabled respondents to raise some views on the allocation priorities and 
impacts of the location of temporary accommodation, however, none of the issues are considered to have an 
impact on protected characteristics. But will be addressed directly with the resident.   

 
 

Section 06 Reducing any adverse impacts and recommendations 

Outcome of 
Analysis 

Include any specific actions you have identified that will remove or mitigate the risk of adverse impacts and / or 
unlawful discrimination. This should provide the outcome for each borough, and the overall outcome. 
 
No adverse impacts are anticipated  

 
 

P
age 156



Section 07 Action Plan 

Action Plan  Note: You will only need to use this section if you have identified actions as a result of your analysis 
 
 

Issue identified Action (s) to be 
taken 

When Lead officer and 
borough 

Expected 
outcome 

Date added to 
business/service 
plan 

      
 

 

Section 08 Agreement, publication and monitoring 

Senior 
Managers’ sign-
off 

Name:  Glendine Shepherd 
Position: Assistant Director 
Email: Glendine.shepherd@lbhf.gov.uk 
Telephone No: 020 8753 5610  
 

 

Key Decision 
Report 
(if relevant) 

Date of report to Cabinet/Cabinet Member: October 2020 
Key equalities issues have been included: Yes 

 

Lead Equality 
Manager (where 
involved) 

Name:  
Position:  
Date advice / guidance given: 
Email:  
Telephone No:  

 

 
 
 

P
age 157

mailto:Glendine.shepherd@lbhf.gov.uk


 
ANNEXE 3  
 

Summary of Public Consultation on Proposed Changes to the Scheme of Allocations 

 
 

 On the 26th of May 2020, H&F went to public consultation on the proposed changes to 

the Housing Allocation Scheme over a two-week period and concluded on the 9th of 

June 2020.  

 

 To facilitate this process H&F utilised the Citizen Space consultation platform which 

can be accessed via the H&F website by any individual with no restriction.  

 

 A bulk email was then sent to approximately 1200 households on the housing register 

with an invitation to participate, to ensure those applicants whom the proposed 

changes impacted most were given an opportunity to have their say. 

 

 H&F received 13 responses over the consultation period. 

 

 Overall, the responses expressed overwhelming support for the proposed changes to 

the Housing Allocation Scheme. 

Consultation Questions 
 
Consultation consisted of 6 key questions that related to each of the proposed changes to 
the Housing Allocation Scheme, with a final additional question asking for general 
feedback and suggestions. 
1. Homeless households face significant barriers when attempting to access safe, secure 

and affordable housing. Do you agree with Council's proposal to support homeless 

households to access the Private Rented Market, whilst allowing them to remain on the 

Council’s housing register? 

 

2. Overall, to what extent do you support the Council’s proposal to change the way we 

allocate housing with the introduction of an online system which will allow you to see 

available properties and give you greater choice and control of your housing options? 

 

3. The Council awards additional priority to residents on the housing register that meet 

the Community Contribution threshold, for example working a minimum of 16 hours, to 

what extent do you support the Council’s proposal to lower the qualifying threshold for 

disabled residents unable to meet the full criteria? 

 

4. Overall, to what extent do you support the Council’s proposal to award higher priority to 

those young people on the Council's housing register that are leaving care? 

 

Page 158



5. Overall, to what extent do you support the Council’s proposal to prioritise 

adapted/adaptable homes for disabled residents on the Council's housing register? 

 

6. Overall, to what extent do you support the Council’s proposal to automatically introduce 

a Local Lettings Plan that gives qualifying local residents priority for homes on new 

developments on their estate/locality? 

 

7. Please tell us of any other changes you would like to see in how the Council allocates 

its housing stock. 

Analysis of Responses 
 

 H&F received 13 responses over the two-week consultation period. 

 

 Of the 13 respondents: 

o 9 are current council tenants on the housing register  

o 1 is currently living in Temporary Accommodation and on the housing register 

o 2 are Homeowners background unknown 

o 1 was on behalf of a Registered Provider 

 

Q1: Homeless households face significant barriers when attempting to access safe, 
secure and affordable housing. Do you agree with council's proposal to support homeless 
households to access the Private Rented Market, whilst allowing them to remain on the 
council’s housing register? 

 9 of 13 respondents agreed or strongly agreed with council's proposal to support 

homeless households to access the Private Rented Market, whilst allowing them to 

remain on the council’s housing register. 3 did not mind. 1 respondent strongly 

disagreed. 

 

 The respondent that strongly disagreed with the proposed change did not offer 

further comment as to why. 

 

Breakdown of responses to Question 1 

 
Option 

Total Percent 

Strongly Agree 4 30.77% 

Agree 5 38.46% 

Do not mind 3 23.08% 

Disagree 0 0% 

Strongly Disagree 1 7.69% 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 159



 
 
 
Q2: Overall, to what extent do you support the council’s proposal to change the way we 
allocate housing with the introduction of an online system which will allow you to see 
available properties and give you greater choice and control of your housing options? 

 12 of the 13 respondents agreed or strongly agreed with council’s proposal to 

change the way we allocate housing with the introduction of an online system. 1 did 

not mind. 

 

Breakdown of responses to Question 2 

 
Option 

Total Percent 

Strongly Agree 5 38.46% 

Agree 7 53.85% 

Do Not Mind 1 7.69% 

Disagree 0 0% 

Strongly Disagree 0 0% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Q3: The council awards additional priority to residents on the housing register that meet 
the Community Contribution threshold, for example working a minimum of 16 hours, to 
what extent do you support the council’s proposal to lower the qualifying threshold for 
Disabled residents unable to meet the full criteria? 

 All of the 13 respondents agreed or strongly agreed with the council’s proposal to 

lower the qualifying threshold for Disabled residents unable to meet the full criteria. 

 

Breakdown of responses to Question 3 

Option Total Percent 

Strongly Agree 6 46.15% 

Agree 7 53.85% 

Do Not Mind 0 0% 

Disagree 0 0% 

Strongly Disagree 0 0% 

 
  

Page 160



 
 
Q4: Overall, to what extent do you support the council’s proposal to award higher priority 
to those young people on the council's housing register that are leaving care? 

 10 of the 13 respondents agreed or strongly agreed with council’s proposal to 

award higher priority to those young people on the council's housing register that 

are leaving care. 3 did not mind. 

 

Breakdown of responses to Question 4 

 
Option 

Total Percent 

Strongly Agree 2 15.38% 

Agree 8 61.54% 

Do Not Mind 3 23.08% 

Disagree 0 0% 

Strongly Disagree 0 0% 

 
 
 
Q5: Overall, to what extent do you support the council’s proposal to prioritise 
adapted/adaptable homes for Disabled esidents on the council's housing register? 

 12 of the 13 respondents agreed or strongly agreed with council’s proposal to 

prioritise adapted/adaptable homes for Disabled residents on the council's housing 

register. 1 did not mind. 

 

Breakdown of responses to Question 5 

Option 
 

Total Percent 

Strongly Agree 7 53.85% 

Agree 5 38.46% 

Do Not Mind 1 7.69% 

Disagree 0 0% 

Strongly Disagree 0 0% 

 
  

Page 161



Q6: Overall, to what extent do you support the council’s proposal to automatically 
introduce a Local Lettings Plan that gives qualifying local residents priority for homes on 
new developments on their estate/locality? 

 11 of the 13 respondents agreed or strongly agreed with the council’s proposal to 

automatically introduce a Local Lettings Plan that gives qualifying local residents 

priority for homes on new developments on their estate or their locality. 2 did not 

mind. 

 

Breakdown of responses to Question 6 

Option 
 

Total Percent 

Strongly Agree 6 46.15% 

Agree 5 38.46% 

Do Not Mind 2 15.38% 

Disagree 0 0% 

Strongly Disagree 0 0% 

 
 
 
Q7: Please tell us of any other changes you would like to see in how the Council allocates 
its housing stock.  

 There were 8 responses to this open free text question. 

 

 5 of the 8 responses are related to the applicant’s personal circumstances or had 

general questions and therefore are not relevant to this report. Their details have 

been passed on to officers to follow up.  

 

 1 response has requested to see what the proposed changes “look like as they 

would be in the policy”. This request will be accommodated once the proposed 

changes to the Housing Allocation Scheme have been implemented and approved 

by Cabinet.  

 

 1 response has requested “more contact with rehousing officer and more accurate 

waiting times”. This request will be adequately met via the introduction of the 

proposed online platform, which will provide accurate waiting times and other 

functions that will allow the applicant to self-serve with regards to their application.  

 

The final comment provided several recommendations and warrant further review by H&F 
officers. 

 “Give houses on priority basis and not on first come first serve basis. Take into 

consideration, when prioritizing, children, school proximity, care work (including 

unpaid carers), work proximity, hospital and clinics proximity, family and support 

proximity (which gives much needed support and care).” 

 

Page 162



 “Priority should be given to carers who provide care to disabled parents or relatives 

and usually go under the radar.  They provide tremendous support to the 

community but are not recognized for their hard work and empathy.” 

 

 “Families with children being moved to other areas is also wrong as they have 

schools in the locality, and a move to another borough disrupts their education and 

momentum causing lifelong changes in trying to adjust.” 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 163



 
NOTICE OF CONSIDERATION OF A KEY DECISION  
In accordance with paragraph 9 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings 
and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the Authority hereby gives notice of 
Key Decisions which the Cabinet, Cabinet Members or Chief Officers intend to consider. The list 
may change from the date of publication as further items may be entered. 
 

NOTICE OF THE INTENTION TO CONDUCT BUSINESS IN 
PRIVATE  
The Authority also hereby gives notice in accordance with paragraph 5 of the above 
Regulations that it may meet in private to consider Key Decisions going to a Cabinet meeting 
which may contain confidential or exempt information.   
 
Reports relating to Cabinet key decisions which may be considered in private are indicated in 
the list of Cabinet Key Decisions below, with the reasons for the decision being made in 
private.  Any person is able to make representations to the Cabinet if he/she believes the 
Cabinet decision should instead be made in the public at the Cabinet meeting. If you want to 
make such representations, please e-mail Katia Neale on katia.neale@lbhf.gov.uk.  You will 
then be sent a response in reply to your representations. Both your representations and the 
Executive’s response will be published on the Council’s website at least 5 working days before 
the Cabinet meeting. 

 
KEY DECISIONS PROPOSED TO BE MADE BY THE AUTHORITY FROM 
OCTOBER 2020 UNTIL FEBRUARY 2021 
 

The following is a list of Key Decisions which the Authority proposes to take from 
September 2020. The list may change over the next few weeks.  
 
KEY DECISIONS are those which are likely to result in one or more of the following: 
 

 Any expenditure or savings which are significant (ie. in excess of £300,000) in 
relation to the Council’s budget for the service function to which the decision 
relates; 

 

 Anything affecting communities living or working in an area comprising two or 
more wards in the borough; 

 

 Anything affecting the budget and policy framework set by the Council. 
 
The Key Decisions List will be updated and published on the Council’s website at least 
on a monthly basis.  
 

NB: Key Decisions will generally be taken by the Executive at the Cabinet, by a Cabinet 
Member or by a Chief Officer.  

If you have any queries on this Key Decisions List, please contact 
Katia Neale on 07776 672 956 or by e-mail to katia.neale@lbhf.gov.uk 

Page 164

Agenda Item 7

mailto:katia.neale@lbhf.gov.uk


 
 

 
Access to Key Decision reports and other relevant documents 

 
Key Decision reports and documents relevant to matters to be considered at the Authority by 
Cabinet only, will be available on the Council’s website (www.lbhf.org.uk) a minimum of 5 
working days before the Cabinet meeting. Further information, and other relevant documents 
as they become available, can be obtained from the contact officer shown in column 4 of the 
list below.  

 
Decisions 

 
All Key Decisions will be subject to a 3-day call-in before they can be implemented, unless 
called in by Councillors. 
 

 
Making your Views Heard 

 
You can comment on any of the items in this list by contacting the officer shown in column 4. 
You can also submit a deputation to the Cabinet related to Cabinet Key Decisions only. Full 
details of how to do this (and the date by which a deputation must be submitted) will be shown 
in the Cabinet agenda. 
 

 
 
LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM CABINET  
 
Leader:            Councillor Stephen Cowan  
Deputy Leader:            Councillor Sue Fennimore   
Cabinet Member for the Environment:        Councillor Wesley Harcourt  
Cabinet Member for Housing:         Councillor Lisa Homan  
Cabinet Member for the Economy:         Councillor Andrew Jones  
Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care:      Councillor Ben Coleman 
Cabinet Member for Children and Education:       Councillor Larry Culhane 
Cabinet Member for Finance and Commercial Services:     Councillor Max Schmid  
Cabinet Member for Public Services Reform:       Councillor Adam Connell 
Cabinet Member for Strategy:         Councillor Sue Macmillan 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Key Decisions List No. 98 (published 28 September 2020) 

Page 165

http://www.lbhf.org.uk/


 

KEY DECISIONS LIST – FROM OCTOBER 2020 
The list also includes decisions proposed to be made by future Cabinet meetings 

 
Where column 3 shows a report as EXEMPT, the report for 

this proposed decision will be considered at the private Cabinet meeting. Anybody may make 
representations to the Cabinet to the effect that the report should be considered at the open 

Cabinet meeting (see above).  
 

* All these decisions may be called in by Councillors; If a decision is called in, it will not be capable of 
implementation until a final decision is made.  

 

Decision to 
be Made by  
 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

CABINET MEMBER AND OFFICER DECISIONS 

Finance 

Cabinet 
Member for 
the 
Environment 
 

October 
2020 
 

Annual Highways Maintenance 
Programme 
 
This report seeks approval of the 
annual highway maintenance work 
programme for 2020-2021. A key 
driver for this work is improving the 
quality of our street scene to give 
residents and businesses prise in 
the borough. This work is planned 
preventative maintenance, aimed 
at prolonging the life of the 
Highway infrastructure within the 
borough.  

Cabinet Member for the 
Environment 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Ian 
Hawthorn 
Tel: 020 8753 3058 
ian.hawthorn@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
the 
Environment 
 

October 
2020 
 

Highways Planned Maintenance 
Programme 2020-21 
 
Highways Maintenance 
programme to renew a number of 
carriageways and footways in the 
borough as part of the asset 
management of the boroughs 
highway network. To ensure safety 
requirements under the Highways 
Act 1980. 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Environment 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Ian 
Hawthorn 
Tel: 020 8753 3058 
ian.hawthorn@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
the 
Environment 
 

October 
2020 
 

Public Spaces Protection Order 
 
Decision whether to extend 
borough-wide PSPO related to 
consumption of alcohol under the 
ASB, Policing and Crime Act 2014. 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Environment 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Felicity Charles 
Tel: 02087534311 

Page 166



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

 
 
 

Felicity.Charles@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 

and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 

Cabinet 
Member for 
the 
Environment 
 

October 
2020 
 

Proposals for the Noise and 
Nuisance team’s revised service 
hours 
 
Review of the Hours of operation 
of the borough's Noise & Nuisance 
service 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Environment 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Valerie Simpson 
Tel: 020 8753 3905 

Valerie.Simpson@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Housing 
 

October 
2020 
 

Replacement of Spandrel 
Panels (Medium and Low Risk 
Properties) 
 
Replacement of Spandrel Panels 
at the identified properties 
covering the stripping out of 
existing panels and renewing 
panels including carrying out, as 
required, all associated works. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Dominic D Souza 
 

Dominic.DSouza@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 

Leader of 
the Council 
 

October 
2020 
 

PCC Recommendations 
 

The decision relates to 
approving the formal response 
to the recommendations made 
by the Policing and Crime 
Commission. 
 
Reasons for Urgency   
   
The resident-led Policing and 
Crime 
Commission (PCC) was create
d as part of H&F’s commitment 
to do things with residents, not 
to them. A huge amount of 
work has gone into the final 
report of the PCC and it comes 
at a time of substantial change. 

Deputy Leader 

 
A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Matthew Hooper 
Tel: 07450 964 681 

Matthew.Hooper@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 167



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

The response to these 
recommendations requires 
urgent approval to ensure 
that the work to deliver the 
commitments aligns with the 
Council’s wider organisational 
planning and transformation 
agenda.   
  

Strategic 
Director of 
the 
Economy 
Department 
 

22 Oct 2020 
 

DISPOSAL OF LAND 
ADJACENT TO JEPSON HOUSE 
TO A2DOMINION HOUSING 
GROUP 
 
The land adjacent to Jepson 
House, Pearscroft Road, SW6 
2BS ( the Site has a lapsed 
planning consent (reference 
2016/01960/FR3) for the 
demolition of the existing 
structures and redevelopment of 
the site to provide 33 affordable 
(social rent) residential units.  
 
A tender process using the 
Framework was carried out in 
December 2019 and this report 
sets out the recommendation to 
approve the disposal of the Site 
and appoint A2Dominion Housing 
Group to develop it .  

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Sands End 
 

Contact officer: 
Ayesha Ovaisi 
Tel: 020 8753 5584 
Ayesha.Ovaisi@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of 
the 
Economy 
Department 
 

Not before 
26th Oct 
2020 
 

Hartopp and Lannoy control 
team services 
 
Award of control team services 
appointment for the Hartopp and 
Lannoy site. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Munster 
 

Contact officer: Omar 
Villalba 
Tel: 07769288779 
Omar.Villalba@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 168



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Resources 

Director of 
Finance 
 

October 
2020 
 

Banking Services Procurement 
Strategy 
 
Re-tender for the provision of 
banking services, as the current 
contract is due to expire in March 
2020. Estimated value is £300k for 
a 10 year contract.  
 

 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and 
Commercial Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Andra 
Ulianov 
Tel: 02087532284 
Andra.Ulianov@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of 
Environment 
 

October 
2020 
 

Procurement strategy in relation 
to the procurement of books 
and audio materials for the 
libraries via a framework 
agreement 
 
For the Council to call off from the 
new two-year (plus two-year 
extension) framework agreement 
for the supply of library books and 
audio-visual materials at a total 
estimated cost for the initial two 
years of £200,000 (plus potentially 
a further £200,000). The award by 
WSCC will take place in mid-
December 2019 and the new 
framework agreement will begin 1 
April 2020. 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Sameena Ali 
Tel: 07824 407 247 
Sameena.Ali@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Health and 
Adult Social 
Care 
 

October 
2020 
 

Elmgrove extra care 
accommodation direct award 
report 
 
Request to continue the extra care 
contract at Elmgrove with Notting 
Hill Genesis beyond the current 
contract end date for a further one 
year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Christine Williams, 
Joanna Mccormick 
Tel: 0741207694 
Christine.Williams@lbhf.gov.
uk, 
Joanna.Mccormick@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 

Page 169



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Director 
Children's 
Services 
 

October 
2020 
 

Call-off Contract Extensions for 
Semi-Independent Living 
Support Providers 
 
Decision report recommending 
short-term extensions of up to six 
months from 12 April 2020 to 12 
September 2020 to 16 call-off 
contracts to secure continuation of 
existing provision of semi-
independent living (SIL) 
accommodation arrangements for 
Looked After Children and Young 
People leaving care to enable 
continuity of these valuable 
services during the current Covid-
19 outbreak. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Will 
Parsons 
Tel: 0776 848 6764 
Will.Parsons@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children 
and 
Education 
 

October 
2020 
 

Centrepoint Contract for Care 
Leavers Accommodation 
 
Decision report recommending the 
extension and modification of an 
existing supported housing 
contract delivered by Centrepoint 
Soho for the provision of 
accommodation-based support for 
young people leaving care. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Will 
Parsons 
Tel: 0776 848 6764 
Will.Parsons@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
the 
Environment 
 

October 
2020 
 

Procurement Strategy for Land 
and Property System 
 
The IDOX Group currently 
provides the Council’s land and 
property-based IT case 
management system (Uniform) for 
multiple regulatory services across 
the authority.  
 
The software is highly embedded 
within the organisation and 
underpins a large number of 
business processes and casework 
management. Its contract has 
expired and needs to be 
reprocured. 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Environment 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Josh 
Hadley 
Tel: 020 8753 1980 
Josh.Hadley@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 170



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Strategic 
Director of 
Environment 
 

October 
2020 
 

Procurement Strategy and 
Contract Award Approval – 
GULCS Electric Vehicle Charge 
Points 
 
To agree to use the GULCS (TfL) 
Framework for funding EV charge 
points (The Council has already 
signed the s159 agreement to 
access the £233,000 funding from 
GULCS). Award call-off contract 
for the supply and operation of 
charge points. 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Environment 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Richard Hearle 
 
Richard.Hearle@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Health and 
Adult Social 
Care 
 

October 
2020 
 

Emlyn Gardens - Adults with 
disabilities supported living 
procurement strategy 
 
Report seeks pre-tender approval 
for the procurement strategy which 
sets out the intention to tender for 
the specialist care and support 
service which will be provided at 
Emlyn Gardens 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Askew 
 

Contact officer: 
Michele Roberts 
Tel: 020 8834 4734 

Michele.Roberts@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Housing 
 

October 
2020 
 

Contract Award Report – LED 
Lighting Replacement Project 
(Lot 1 – Estate Lighting) and 
(Lot 2 – Block Communal 
Lighting) 
 
The LED programme proposal has 
two (2) main parts - Estate 
Lighting and Communal Lighting. 
The proposal is to replace the 
existing residential block and 
estate lighting with LED 
equivalent, which is consistent 
with the Council’s aim of being the 
greenest borough in the country. 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £100K 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Dominic D Souza 
 

Dominic.DSouza@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of 
the 
Economy 
Department 
 

Before 30 
Oct 2020 
 

Rough Sleeping Services 
Contract Awards 
 
Five rough sleeping service 
contracts expired on 31.10.20. 
Report will include 
recommendations about future 
contracts. 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Julia 
Copeland 
Tel: 0208 753 1203 
julia.copeland@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 171



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

  
 
 

 papers to be 
considered. 

Director 
Children's 
Services 
 

October 
2020 
 

Approval to agree contract with 
Family support Service (FSS) 
 

To enable to enter in to a 
contract with Family Support 
Service (FSS). 
 
Reasons for urgency: 
Further to Early Help, Children’s 

Centre and Youth Services Budget 
Spend Increase paper approved at 
Cabinet on 6th July it agreed that 
savings should be agreed to 
mitigate overspend associated 
with the wider early help budget. 
This has now been agreed and 
therefore a contract can be agreed 
with FSS. The urgency for this due 
to FSS currently operating without 
an agreed contract with the local 
authority.  
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
 
 

Contact officer: Lesley 
Bell 
 
Lesley.Bell@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children 
and 
Education 
 

October 
2020 
 

Contract Extensions on Family 
Support (FS) Framework 
 

To extend a series of contracts on 
the Family Support Service (FSS) 
framework and deliver savings 
required.  

Reasons for urgency: 
Further to Early Help, Children’s 
Centre and Youth Services Budget 
Spend Increase paper approved at 
Cabinet on 6th July it agreed that 
savings should be agreed with 
providers prior to extensions being 
given. Any delay in agreeing these 
contracts will delay and reduce 
savings being realised and may 
result in overspend and further 
pressure on the council’s general 
fund.  

 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Lesley 
Bell 
 
Lesley.Bell@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 172



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
the 
Economy, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Finance 
and 
Commercial 
Services 
 

October 
2020 
 

Egyptian House - new housing 
and community facilities 
 
A property transaction that will 
result in housing units including 
affordable housing and community 
facilities 
 
PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and 
Commercial Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Wormholt and White 
City 
 

Contact officer: Nigel 
Brown 
Tel: 020 8753 2835 
Nigel.Brown@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Housing 
 

2 Oct 2020 
 

Contract Award, Maystar Estate 
Refurbishment 
 
Award of contract to undertake 
major refurbishment works to 
Maystar Estate W14 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
North End 
 

Contact officer: Vince 
Conway, Richard 
Buckley 
Tel: 020 8753 1915, 
Vince.Conway@lbhf.gov.uk, 
richard.buckley@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of 
Environment 
 

9 Oct 2020 
 

VAWG Services Award Report 
 
Decision to direct award frontline 
VAWG Services for 12 months 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Environment 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Felicity Charles 
Tel: 02087534311 
Felicity.Charles@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Page 173



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Housing 
 

9 Oct 2020 
 

Contract Award, Maystar Estate 
Refurbishment 
 
This report seeks approval to let a 
contract for major refurbishment 
works to Maystar estate W14 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £100K 
 

Ward(s): 
North End 
 

Contact officer: 
Richard Buckley 
 
richard.buckley@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Housing 
 

31 Oct 2020 
 

Procurement Strategy for DLO 
Materials Supplier 
 
Using a 3rd party framework to 
select a supplier for Merchant 
Services (Plumbing, electrical and 
general building goods and 
material supplies and fire safety 
materials) and bespoke managed 
storage services. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Aldhun Levitt 
 
Aldhun.Levitt@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

CABINET - 12 OCTOBER 2020 

Finance 

Cabinet 
 

12 Oct 2020 
 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
MONITOR & BUDGET 
VARIATIONS, 2020/21 (FIRST 
QUARTER) 
 
This report provides a financial 
update on the council’s capital 
programme at the end of the first 
quarter and requests approval for 
any budget variations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and 
Commercial Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £100K 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Andrew Lord 
Tel: 020 8753 2531 
andrew.lord@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 174



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
 

12 Oct 2020 
 

Changes to Scheme of 
Allocation and Allocation 
process 
 
This report requests permission to 
implement the changes following 
consultation on proposed changes 
to the Council's Housing Allocation 
Scheme. 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Glendine Shepherd 
Tel: 020 8753 4148 
Glendine.Shepherd@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 
 

Resources 

Cabinet 
 

12 Oct 2020 
 

Resident Access and 
Experience Programme 
 
Digital transformation programme 
for how residents and businesses 
contact and access the Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Public Services Reform 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Budg/pol 
framework 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Thea 
Baillie, Nicola Ellis 
Tel: 07776673095 
Thea.Baillie@lbhf.gov.uk, 
nicola.ellis@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Cabinet 
 

12 Oct 2020 
 

Covid-19 response and recovery 
transparency report 
 
To update Cabinet of the work that 
has taken place throughout the 
Covid-19 pandemic, the plans for 
recovery and some of the 
challenges ahead.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Leader of the Council 

 
A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Linda 
Jackson 
Tel: 07776 673085 
Linda.Jackson@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 175



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

CABINET - 2 NOVEMBER 2020 

Finance 

Cabinet 
 

2 Nov 2020 
 

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle 
Last-Mile Freight Hub 
 
Provision of a 'Freight Hub' facility 
to serve Council departments and 
businesses and help to reduce 
traffic and congestion in 
Hammersmith. 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Environment 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Hinesh Mehta, 
Christopher Brown 
Tel: 07825342949 
Hinesh.Mehta@lbhf.gov.uk, 
Christopher.Brown@lbhf.gov
.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

2 Nov 2020 
 

Education City 
 
S203 Appropriation 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Budg/pol 
framework 
 

Ward(s): 
Wormholt and White 
City 
 

Contact officer: 
Jacquie Agyemang-
Johnson 
Tel: 07787 152733 
Jacquie.Agyemang-
Johnson@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

2 Nov 2020 
 

Education City budget approval 
 
Seeking further budget approval 
 
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £100K 
 

Ward(s): 
Wormholt and White 
City 
 

Contact officer: David 
Burns, Jacquie 
Agyemang-Johnson 
Tel: 07787 152733 
David.Burns@lbhf.gov.uk, 
Jacquie.Agyemang-
Johnson@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 176



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
 

2 Nov 2020 
 

Sands End Arts and Community 
Centre -Community Asset 
Transfer 
 
This report is requesting approval 
for the Council to grant a lease , of 
SEACC and a licence to operate 
the Seed Bank, to the proposed 
SEACC Trust, once established, 
for a term of up to 99 years at a 
peppercorn rent. 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy, Cabinet 
Member for Health and 
Adult Social Care 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/In
come over 
£5m & policies 
or new 
income, 
reserves use, 
overspend 
over £100K 
 

Ward(s): 
Sands End 
 

Contact officer: Steve 
Hollingworth 
Tel: 07823 534 934 
stephen.hollingworth@lbhf.g
ov.uk 

 
 
 

Cabinet 
 

2 Nov 2020 
 

Corporate Revenue Monitor 
Month 4 (July 2020) 
 
Update on forecast variance at 
end of July 2020. 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and 
Commercial Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Gary 
Ironmonger 
Tel: 020 8753 2109 
Gary.Ironmonger@lbhf.gov.
uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

2 Nov 2020 
 

Emergency Planning & 
Business Continuity Cabinet 
Report 
 
A yearly summary of the Councils 
Emergency Planning and 
Business Continuity Activities 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Environment 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Denise Prieto 
Tel: 0208 753 2286 
Denise.Prieto@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 

Resources 

Cabinet 
 

2 Nov 2020 
 

North End Road Good Growth 
Fund 
 
To approve entering into a grant 
funding agreement with Greater 
London Authority for Good Growth 
Fund and to approve match 
funding strategy. 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 

Ward(s): 
Fulham Broadway; 
North End 
 

Contact officer: 
Matthew Rumble, 

Page 177



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £100K 
 

 
 
 
 

Chris Patterson, 
Kamal Hanif 
Tel: 07557 295899, Tel: 
044777 1843 975 
matt.rumble@lbhf.gov.uk, 
chris.patterson@lbhf.gov.uk, 
Kamal.Hanif@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Cabinet 
 

2 Nov 2020 
 

Housing Strategy 2019 
 
Report on the Council's new 
Housing Strategy 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Labab 
Lubab 
Tel: 020 8753 4203 
Labab.Lubab@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 

Cabinet 
 

2 Nov 2020 
 

Business Case & Procurement 
Strategy for major 
refurbishment of three housing 
estates (Sulivan Court Phase 2, 
Becklow Gardens, Emlyn 
Gardens) 
 
This report seeks approval of the 
Business Case & Procurement 
Strategy for the major 
refurbishment of three housing 
estates: Sulivan Court SW6, 
Becklow Gardens W12, and Emlyn 
Gardens W12 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £100K 
 

Ward(s): 
Askew; Sands End 
 

Contact officer: Vince 
Conway 
Tel: 020 8753 1915 
Vince.Conway@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 

CABINET - 7 DECEMBER 2020 

Finance 

Cabinet 
 

7 Dec 2020 
 

Hartopp and Lannoy Point site 
development consultant 
services 
 
Report will request authority to 
fund the development for 
consultancy services up to the end 
of RIBA stage 3. 
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 

Ward(s): 
Munster 
 

Contact officer: Omar 
Villalba 
Tel: 07769288779 
Omar.Villalba@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 

Page 178



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

£5m 
 

financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

 
 

Cabinet 
 

7 Dec 2020 
 

Consultancy Services 
Framework 
 
Delivering the services carried out 
by the Economy, such as housing 
repairs and the capital 
programme, requires extensive 
support from specialist external 
consultants. The Economy would 
like to set up an ‘approved list’ of 
pre-vetted high-quality consultants 
offering competitive rates to assist 
it in delivering these projects over 
the next four years. Approved lists 
such as this are known as 
Frameworks and they would 
provide numerous advantages to 
the Council. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £100K 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Dominic D Souza 
 

Dominic.DSouza@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

CABINET - 4 JANUARY 2021 

Finance 

Cabinet 
 

4 Jan 2021 
 

Council Tax Support Scheme 
21/22 
 
This report is to agree the Council 
Tax Support Scheme for 21/22.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and 
Commercial Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £100K 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Kirsty 
Brooksmith 
Tel: 07785531091 
Kirsty.Brooksmith@lbhf.gov.
uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 179



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
 

4 Jan 2021 
 

Council Tax Base & Collection 
2021-22 & Delegation of the 
Business Rates Estimate 
 
This report is a Statutory 
requirement and contains an 
estimate of the Council Tax 
Collection rate and calculates the 
Council Tax Base for 2021/22 
 
The Council Tax base will be used 
in the calculation of the Band D 
Council Tax undertaken in the 
Revenue Budget Report for 
2021/22. 
 
The report also seeks to delegate 
authority to the Strategic Director 
of Finance and Governance to 
determine the business rates tax 
base for 2021/22.  

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and 
Commercial Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £100K 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Jamie 
Mullins 
Tel: 020 8753 1650 
Jamie.Mullins@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 

4 Jan 2021 
 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
MONITOR & BUDGET 
VARIATIONS, 2020/21 (SECOND 
QUARTER) 
 
This report provides a financial 
update on the council’s capital 
programme at the end of the 
second quarter and requests 
approval for any budget variations. 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and 
Commercial Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £100K 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Andrew Lord 
Tel: 020 8753 2531 
andrew.lord@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 

4 Jan 2021 
 

Corporate Revenue Monitor 
Month 6 (September 2020) 
 
To inform Cabinet of the forecast 
budget variance at end of 
September to ensure ruthless 
financial efficiency. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and 
Commercial Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Gary 
Ironmonger 
Tel: 020 8753 2109 
Gary.Ironmonger@lbhf.gov.
uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 180



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Resources 

Cabinet 
 

4 Jan 2021 
 

Travel Care Taxi Procurement 
Strategy 
 
Procurement strategy for the 
provision of taxi services for home 
to school and social care 
transport. 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £100K 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Joe 
Gunning 
Tel: 07769672031 
Joe.Gunning@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 

4 Jan 2021 
 

Procurement Strategy for 
School Meals 
 
Procurement strategy for School 
Meals in H&F. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £100K 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Joe 
Gunning 
Tel: 07769672031 
Joe.Gunning@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 

CABINET - 1 FEBRUARY 2021 

Finance 

Cabinet 
 

1 Feb 2021 
 

FOUR YEAR CAPITAL 
PROGRAMME 2021/22 AND 
CAPITAL STRATEGY 2021/22 
 
This report presents the Council’s 
four-year Capital Programme for 
the period 2021 - 2025. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and 
Commercial Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £100K 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Andrew Lord 
Tel: 020 8753 2531 
andrew.lord@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 181



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
 

1 Feb 2021 
 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
MONITOR & BUDGET 
VARIATIONS, 2020/21 (THIRD 
QUARTER) 
 
This report provides a financial 
update on the council’s capital 
programme (third quarter) and 
requests approval for budget 
variations to the capital 
programme. 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and 
Commercial Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £100K 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Andrew Lord 
Tel: 020 8753 2531 
andrew.lord@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 

Resources 

Cabinet 
 

1 Feb 2021 
 

Defend Council Homes Policy 
 
Policy to provide extra protection 
for residents of council homes, 
involving them from the start of 
any redevelopment proposals and 
ensuring the council is working to 
best practice. 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Fiona 
Darby, Daniel Miller 
Tel: 020 8753 6996 
Fiona.Darby@lbhf.gov.uk, 
daniel.miller@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 

Cabinet 
 

1 Feb 2021 
 

Procurement Strategy for 
Mental Health Supported 
Housing 
 
Procurement strategy for our 
mental health supported housing 
in borough contracts. 
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 

Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £100K 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Joanna Mccormick, 
Michele Roberts 
Tel: 0741207694, Tel: 
020 8834 4734 
Joanna.Mccormick@lbhf.gov
.uk, 
Michele.Roberts@lbhf.gov.u
k 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 182


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting held on 7 September 2020
	4 Capital Programme Monitor & Budget Variations, 2020/21 (First Quarter)
	5 Resident Experience and Access Programme (REAP) - proposed mandate to move to the delivery phase of the programme
	Appendix 1 Business Case and Delivery Plan
	Appendix 2 - REAP Phase 2
	Appendix 3 RAP EIA

	6 Approve Proposed Changes To The Council's Housing Scheme Of Allocations
	7 Forward Plan of Key Decisions

